AGENDA
BREVARD CITY COUNCIL – REGULAR MEETING
Tuesday, January 19, 2021 – 5:30 P.M.
City Council Chambers
A. Welcome and Call to Order
B. Invocation
C. Pledge of Allegiance
D. Certification of Quorum
E. Approval of Agenda
F. Approval of Minutes

1. December 7, 2020, Regular Meeting ................................................................................................ 4
2. December 22, 2020 Special Meeting .............................................................................................. 18

G. Certificates / Awards / Recognition

1. Swear in Deputy Police Chief Charles Thomas Jordan ........................................................... 20

H. Public Hearing(s)

1. Notice of Hearing to Consider Public Sale of Real Estate for Economic DevelopmentNorth Broad Street ............................................................................................................................... 22
2. Proposed Amendments to City of Brevard Code of Ordinances Chapters 42 Offenses
& Miscellaneous Provisions and Chapter 46 Peddlers and Solicitors ...........................24
3. Proposed Amendments to City of Brevard UDO Chapter 4-General Lot & Structure
Provisions.................................................................................................................................................. 40
4. Proposed Amendments to City of Brevard Code of Ordinances & UDO, Mainly UDO
Chapter 16-Administration (CANCELLED) ................................................................................. 52

I. Public Participation
J. Special Presentation(s)
1. Update on Covid-19 Vaccinations from Elaine Russell, Transylvania County
Health Director ........................................................................................................................56

2. City of Brevard Annual Independent Audit for Year Ending June 30, 2020 .................. 58
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K. Consent and Information

1. Staff Reports:
a. Financial Report for month ending December, 2020 ................................................. 172
2. Resolution Approving Property Tax Releases-December, 2020 ..................................... 195
3. Tax Settlement Report for month ending December, 2020 .............................................. 197
4. Resolution-Fixing a Date of Public Hearing on the Question of Annexation-George
Lenze ........................................................................................................................................................ 202
5. Resolution-Fixing a Date of Public Hearing on the Question of Annexation-Richard
Libby ......................................................................................................................................................... 205
6. Resolution-Supporting NCDEQ Rebate Grant Funding for Public EV Charging
Stations.................................................................................................................................................... 208
7. Council Downtown Master Plan Committee Minutes-November 19, 2020 ................ 228
8. Council Finance & Human Resources Committee Minutes-November 30, 2020 ..... 233
9. Council Downtown Master Plan Committee Minutes-December 3, 2020 ................... 236
10. Council Downtown Master Plan Committee Minutes-December 17, 2020 ................ 239
11. Correspondence (No Action. Offered as information only.)
a. Transylvania County Building Permit Activity Report-December, 2020 ........... 243

L. Unfinished Business
M. New Business
1. Ordinance-Sale of Real Estate for Economic Development ............................................... 258
2. Ordinance-Proposed Amendments to City of Brevard Code of Ordinances Chapters
42 & 46 .................................................................................................................................................... 260
3. Ordinance-Proposed Amendments to City of Brevard UDO Chapter 4 ........................ 261
4. Ordinance-Proposed Amendments to City of Brevard Code of Ordinances UDO,
Mainly UDO Chapter 15 (CANCELLED)...................................................................................... 263
5. Resolution-Grant Request for Police Department Safety Equipment ........................... 264
6. Board and Committee Appointment(s): ................................................................................... 266
 Housing Trust Fund Selection Committee

N. Remarks / Future Agenda Considerations
O. Closed Session(s)

1. Potential Litigation: GS § 143-318.11. (a)(3) .................................................................................
2. Personnel and/or Employment: GS § 143-318.11. (a)(3) (5)(6) ..........................................

P. Adjourn
Agenda Posted, Website, Sunshine List (January 12, 2021)
J. Murray, City Clerk

To review Agenda materials, go to the City’s website www.cityofbrevard.com. Select “Your Government” tab
followed by “Council Agenda Packet” tab. Agenda packet materials are posted on Thursday afternoon prior to
Council’s Monday meeting.
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MINUTES
BREVARD CITY COUNCIL
Regular Meeting
December 7, 2020 – 5:30 PM
The Brevard City Council met in regular session on Monday, December 7, 2020,
at 5:30 p.m. in the Multipurpose Chambers-County Administration Building with Mayor
Jimmy Harris presiding. The meeting was held at the County as they have the technical
equipment for us to stream our meeting live on their website, the City’s website and
Facebook. Due to COVID19 restrictions, we kept the amount of people at the meeting
according to the Governor’s orders.
Present – Mayor Jimmy Harris, Mayor Pro Tem Mac Morrow, Council Members
Maurice Jones, Maureen Copelof, Gary Daniel and Geraldine Dinkins.
Staff Present – City Attorney Michael Pratt, Finance Director and City Manager
Jim Fatland, City Clerk Jill Murray, Planning Director Paul Ray, Assistant Planning
Director Aaron Bland, Planner Kaitland Finkle, Human Resources Director Kelley Craig
and Police Chief Phil Harris.
Others Present: Jackson Wine, Page Lemel and Mike Hawkins
Press – None
A. Welcome and Call to Order – Mayor Harris called the meeting to order,
welcomed those present and introduced Council members, Attorney and City Clerk.
B. Invocation – Mayor Harris offered an invocation.
C. Pledge of Allegiance - Mayor Harris led the pledge of allegiance.
D. Certification of Quorum - The City Clerk certified a quorum present.
E. Approval of Agenda – Mr. Daniel asked about the motion made at the last
meeting about considering action on the same day of a public hearing and Mr. Pratt
explained that City Council has the right to waive formalities and said if something isn’t
going to change even after 30 days of consideration, Council can go ahead and be
approved by Council. Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by Mr. Jones that the agenda be
approved as presented. Motion carried unanimously.
F. Approval of Minutes – Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by Mr. Jones, the
October 19, 2020 Regular Meeting Minutes be approved as presented. Motion carried
unanimously.
G. Certificates/Awards/Recognition G-1. Resolution No. 2020-33 Resolution of Respect and Appreciation for
County Commissioner Mike Hawkins. Mayor Harris presented the proclamation to
Mike Hawkins.
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-33
A RESOLUTION OF RESPECT AND APPRECIATION FOR
COUNTY COMMISSIONER MIKE HAWKINS
WHEREAS, Mike Hawkins has served Transylvania County and its citizens for 12 years as a
County Commissioner, including eight years as chair; and
WHEREAS, as a Commissioner, Mike represented the Board of Commissioners by serving on
various boards and committees, including the Brevard/Transylvania Chamber of Commerce Board of
Directors, Land-of-Sky Regional Council Board member and chair, Land-of-Sky Rural Planning
Organization, French Broad Water Resources Study Committee, Gorges State Park Advisory Committee,
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and Transylvania County Tourism Development Authority; and at the State level he served on the
Executive Boards of the Economic Development Partnership of North Carolina and the North Carolina
Travel and Tourism Board, co-chaired the North Carolina Small Business Task Force, and served on the
North Carolina Task Force for Racial Equity in Criminal Justice; and
WHEREAS, Mike promoted economic development efforts in the community by seeking
designation as a Certified Entrepreneurial Community to make it possible for new and existing
businesses to grow and survive; an economic development visioning process that led to the creation of
the Transylvania Economic Alliance; signed onto the ACT Work Ready Communities initiative that
connects employers and job seekers, and that markets Transylvania County as a good fit for potential
employers; made investments to improve infrastructure, business incentives for job growth and capital
investment, as well as embarked upon a significant partnership with various agencies to construct the
Sylvan Valley Industrial Center to attract future employers and to retain an existing manufacturer,
thereby allowing the County to reinvest in itself and future projects; and
WHEREAS, Mike embraced considerable investments in parks and recreation amenities Connestee Falls Park, Rosman Community Park, Champion Park and Pool, Silvermont Mansion and Park,
the Transylvania County Activity Center, the purchase of property on Gallimore Road formerly owned by
Brevard College for a potential community park, accessible playground at Silvermont, Rosman youth
summer camps, Jameson’s Joy fitness park and pickleball courts; and adopted the Parks and Recreation
Master Plan to guide future plans; and
WHEREAS, Mike endorsed efforts to protect our natural resources by approving annual
allocations to remove log jams in the French Broad River to prevent streambank erosion and protect the
public recreating and traveling on our waterways; strengthening the Farmland Protection Ordinance;
creation of the Hemlock Restoration Program; and
WHEREAS, in 2011, Mike was honored as the recipient of the Duke Energy Citizenship Award
which recognizes the efforts of a person who demonstrates outstanding volunteerism and community
service; in 2018 he received the Shephard Award for WNC’s Most Outstanding Elected Official; and in
2019, the NC Rural Advocate of the Year Award; and
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Mayor and City Council of the City of Brevard,
North Carolina, express to you, Mike Hawkins, on behalf of our citizens and officials, our respect,
appreciation and gratitude for your unselfish, devoted and invaluable service and contributions rendered
to the citizens of Transylvania County and the City of Brevard.
Adopted and approved this the 7th day of December, 2020.

G-2. Resolution No. 2020-34 Resolution of Respect and Appreciation for
County Commissioner Page Ives Lemel. Mayor Harris presented the proclamation to
Page Lemel.
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-34
A RESOLUTION OF RESPECT AND APPRECIATION FOR
COUNTY COMMISSIONER PAGE IVES LEMEL
WHEREAS, Page Ives Lemel has served Transylvania County and its citizens for eight years as a
County Commissioner, including three years as vice-chair; and
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard City Council wishes to recognize Page’s service as a public official
during her term as a County Commissioner; and
WHEREAS, Page supported protecting the rich history of this County by supporting the
preservation of the County’s historic structures, most notably through repairs to the Courthouse and
restoration of the Silvermont Mansion, including signing onto the Silvermont Preservation Plan and
Master Plan in an effort to extend its longevity and preserve the mansion for many generations; and
facilitated an architectural and cultural survey of the African American communities in Transylvania
County; and
WHEREAS as Commissioner, Page represented the Board of Commissioners by serving citizens
on various boards and committees, including the Dupont State Recreational Forest Advisory Committee,
Smart Start Board of Directors, Joint Parks and Recreation Strategic Planning Task Force, Extension
Advisory Board, Social Services Board, North Carolina Association of County Commissioners Health and
Human Services Steering Committee Chair and Board of Directors, Legislative Voting Delegate to the
Legislative Goals Conference, Social Services Working Group, Vaya Health LME/MCO County
Commissioner Advisory Council, Early Childhood Initiative/GetSet Transylvania, Blue Ribbon
Commission on Local Financing Options for Early Childhood Development, Senior Services Task Force,
REACH Task Force, and Sexual Assault/Domestic Violence Task Force, and several other local, State and
national boards and groups; and
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WHEREAS, Page has received several awards for her work, including the National Association of
Counties Achievement Award for Best Childhood Program in the nation for the GetSet Transylvania Early
Childhood Collective model, the Duke Energy Citizen and Service Award which recognizes the efforts of a
person who demonstrates outstanding volunteerism and community service, and the Charles Duke
Award for Outstanding Volunteer Service to Duke University; and
WHEREAS, Page was especially passionate about serving and lifting up those most vulnerable in
our community; she spearheaded the Early Childhood Initiative/GetSet Transylvania utilizing the
collective impact model process that pulled together more than 22 entities including government
agencies, nonprofits and local businesses to focus on improving early childhood; she was inspired to
address the community concerns around a high rate of children not testing as ready for kindergarten and
concerns for families about affordable, quality child care; GetSet’s work resulted in being selected as a
partner community for Sesame Street in Communities, the fourth in the nation, which was launched at
HalloweenFest in 2018.
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Mayor and City Council of the City of Brevard,
North Carolina, express to you, Page Lemel on behalf of our citizens and officials, our respect,
appreciation and gratitude for your unselfish, devoted and invaluable service and contributions rendered
to the citizens of Transylvania County and the City of Brevard.
Adopted and approved this the 7th day of December, 2020.

H. Public Hearing(s) –
H-1. Proposed Voluntary Annexation-Jackson Wine.
Aaron Bland explained that we received an application for annexation back in
August from Jackson Wine for three parcels on Fisher Road. The properties are within
the City’s ETJ and in close proximity to parcels already receiving full City services. The
Planning Board unanimously recommended approval and staff recommends approval
of the proposed annexation as well.
Public Hearing Participation – None
Public Hearing Closed – There being no further questions or comments, Mayor
Harris closed the hearing at 5:56 p.m.
H-2. Proposed Amendments to City of Brevard Unified Development
Ordinance Chapter 2 – District Provisions-Condominiums.
Kaitland Finkle explained that this is a staff initiated text amendment, a language
cleanup, to remove condominium language. The Planning Board heard the request at
their October 20, 2020 meeting and unanimously recommended approval. Staff
recommends approval as well.
Public Hearing Participation – None
Public Hearing Closed – There being no further questions or comments, Mayor
Harris closed the hearing at 5:58 p.m.
H-3. Proposed Amendments to City of Brevard Code of Ordinances Chapter
18- Building Code Enforcement & Minimum Housing Codes.
Kaitland Finkle explained that this is a staff initiated text amendment, a language
cleanup and it needed to reflect the new language of 160D. There were no other
substantive changes.
Public Hearing Participation – None
Public Hearing Closed – There being no further questions or comments, Mayor
Harris closed the hearing at 6:03 p.m.
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Signs.

H-4. Proposed Amendments to City of Brevard UDO Chapters 11, 12 & 16-

Aaron Bland explained that these amendments will bring the City into
compliance with the ruling under Reed et al. v. Town of Gilbert, Arizona et al. The new
ordinance makes the legal necessary changes to resolve the free speech issues and staff
strongly recommends adoption of the ordinance as presented to avoid legal issues.
Public Hearing Participation – None
Public Hearing Closed – There being no further questions or comments, Mayor
Harris closed the hearing at 6:13 p.m.
H-5. Proposed Amendment to City of Brevard Code of Ordinances Chapter
77 – E-Bikes.
Paul Ray explained that staff has been asked to consider the use of electric
assisted bicycles (e-bikes) on the City’s multiuse trail and Bracken Preserve. The idea is
to enable people of all fitness levels and physical capabilities to enjoy cycling as a low
impact outdoor activity. The Parks, Trails & Recreation Committee unanimously
approved this text amendment and staff is asking for Council’s approval.
Public Hearing Participation – None
Public Hearing Closed – There being no further questions or comments, Mayor
Harris closed the hearing at 6:18 p.m.
I. Public Participation –None
J. Special Presentation(s) –
J-1. Silversteen Memorial Playground Project.
Mr. Fatland explained that about a year ago, December, 2019, we received a
donation from Bethel a Baptist Church of the Silversteen Memorial Playground. Then
in September, 2020, when we reviewed our budget, the Council approved spending
$120,000 on new playground equipment. In October, 2020, a contract was presented
and a check was cut for $119,618 for the playground equipment and that equipment
was delivered this morning and they will be installing it over the next few weeks. On
November 6, 2020, Council had a special meeting to look at selling about 2 1/2 acres on
Cashier’s Valley Road to the Housing Assistance Corporation which is a non-profit, to
build six new single family homes. When the meeting was about to adjourn, I asked the
Council if you were willing to apply that $125,000 to the Silversteen Memorial
Playground and the Council unanimously approved doing so. On November 18, the ABC
Board informed me that they had a pretty good year and they’re going to exceed their
revenue projections to the City by $50,000, $20,000 was earmarked for the Brevard
Skate Park and it is my recommendation that the $30,000 additional money be
earmarked for Silversteen Memorial Playground. On November 23rd, the contractor
that’s doing the playground wanted to do a site visit in advance of the delivery today
and the Bethel A Board of Trustees was present, as was Maureen Copelof, the Public
Works staff, Kelly Holbrook, the landscape architect for the site, and myself, were all
there to look at the site plan. After everyone left, I noticed a young man shooting hoops
at the basketball court and I walked over and introduced myself and talked to Bahtle
Griffin who is 17 years old, about the ideas we had for the playground. I said if you had
two choices of how to put the basketball court, either parallel to the street or off to an
angle away from the street and he quickly said, away from the street. Then I asked him
if he would be willing to look at boards and hoops and help me make a decision and he
said yes. I emailed him several basketball hoops and courts to look at. Showed
PowerPoint (Exhibit A). Thanks to the $125,000 agreed to by Council, we can fund
phase one and phase two. Phase one was originally going to be the playground only but
now it will include the basketball court. Bahtle picked the colors and the layout for the
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court. When I was out there that day with Bahtle, the concrete was sinking and
portions of it were covered in mud but he was still shooting hoops there. With the
stream restoration project, we have to have a 30 foot setbacks that gave us an
opportunity to break up all the existing concrete and repour it so what we’re
recommending is to put this entire synthetic surface on top of the concrete slab that’s
poured. Last week, the Transylvania Times interviewed Bahtle and asked him why he
picked this surface and he said he’s played on it before and if you fall, this is a better
surface to land on. I sent Bahtle about 70-80 hoops to look at and he recommended
one that was a full 72” acrylic backboard with a breakaway rim so when I called the
vendor, I asked him if they give a Government discount and he said we normally do not.
The vendor asked why we picked the one we did and I told him the story of Bahtle and
when I got the invoice, he had discounted it $305.00 My original budget was $7,000
and Bahtle’s pick came to $5,200 so it’s a pretty good savings. If Council approves this
tonight, it will be about 8 weeks to get it all so when Phase one is done, they will have
the new playground and the new basketball court. The fence will go up after everything
is done and Bahtle did suggest maybe having some interior benches to sit on. I
appreciate the Council’s support in moving this project up. Also, we had three pieces of
playground equipment that was approved back in October, and I got a quote for three
additional pieces that was recommended by the Mary C. Jenkins Task Force, and we can
fund those too if Council so approves. The recommendation is to approve the project
budget and this is a budget strictly in the Rosenwald Community. The delivery time
would be about 8 weeks but the hoops can be here pretty quick. Recommendation is
for Council to approve the Project Budget Ordinance
Ms. Dinkins asked if there is a timeframe for when we want to reach that goal or
what happens if we don’t reach that goal. Mr. Fatland said then we couldn’t move
forward on phase three. Phase I and II are fully funded. Phase III includes a picnic
shelter and a proposed splash pad as well so I’ve got an estimated cost of $120,000.
During the upcoming budget, I will be asking Council for $60,000 to go towards it and
the other $60,000 to be raised by the community. Public Works suggested that when
they pour the concrete for the basketball court, that we take advantage and pour the
concrete for the picnic shelter as well.
Maureen added that we have a community group that offered to build picnic
tables for the picnic shelter so we’d have the concrete and the tables and all we would
need is the overhead piece.
Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by Mr. Jones, that Council approve the Ordinance
Approving Establishing a Project Budget for Silversteen Playground, the playground
expenditures and the basketball court expenditures. Motion carried unanimously.
K. Consent and Information - Consent Agenda items are considered routine
and are enacted by one motion. Mayor Harris read aloud the items listed and asked if
Council desired to remove any other items for discussion.
Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by Ms. Dinkins, to waive formalities for items 1-5
under New Business and add them to the Consent Agenda. Motion carried
unanimously.
Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by Ms. Dinkins to add item 6 under New Business
to the Consent Agenda. Motion carried unanimously.
K-1. Resolution Approving Property Tax Releases-December, 2020.
K-2. Tax Settlement Report for month ending November 30, 2020.
K-3. Ordinance No. 2020-30 –Amending the FY2020-2021 Budget
Amendment No. Four.
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-30
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE FY2020-2021 BUDGET
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AMENDMENT NO. FOUR
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard previously approved the Annual Budget (Ordinance No.
2020-xx); Budget Ordinance No. 1 (Ordinance No. 14); Budget Ordinance No. 2 (Ordinance No. 19); Budget
Ordinance No. 3 (Budget Ordinance No. 28) and
WHEREAS, it is necessary to make amendments to the budgets to reflect additional revenue and
expenditures for Fiscal Year 2020-21.
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH
CAROLINA THAT:
SECTION 1) General Fund Revenue is hereby increased $175,000 from $10,044,729 to $10,219,729 as
shown as follows.
ABC Revenues
Fixed Assets – Sale of City Owned Property
TOTAL REVENUES

$50,000
$125,000
$175,000

SECTION 2) General Fund Expenditures are hereby increased $175,000 from $10,044,729 to
$10,219,729 as shown as follows.
Transfer to Multi-Use Path Fund
Transfer to Rosenwald Revitalization Fund
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

$20,000
$155,000
$175,000

SECTION 19) Heart of Brevard Municipal Service District Tax Fund Revenue is hereby increased
$1,499 from $157,000 to $158,499 as shown as follows.
Appropriation of Fund Balance

$1,499

TOTAL REVENUES

$1,499

SECTION 20) Heart of Brevard Municipal Service District Tax Fund Expenditures are hereby
increased $1,499 from $157,000 to $158,499 as shown as follows.
Contracted Services

$1,499

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

$1,499

SECTION 23) Multi-Use Path Fund Revenue is hereby increased $20,000 from $580,835 to $600,835 as
shown as follows.
Transfer from General Fund

$20,000

TOTAL REVENUES

$20,000

SECTION 24) Multi-Use Path Fund Expenditures are hereby increased $20,000 from $580,835 to
600,835 as shown as follows.
Brevard Skate Park

$20,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

$20,000

SECTION 29) Rosenwald Revitalization Fund Revenue is hereby increased $155,000 from $267,834 to
$422,834 as shown as follows.
Transfer from General Fund

$155,000

TOTAL REVENUES

$155,000

SECTION 30) Rosenwald Revitalization Fund Expenditures are hereby increased $155,000 from
$267,834 to $422,834 as shown as follows.
Silversteen Memorial Playground
$155,000
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TOTAL EXPENDITURES

$155,000

SECTION 33) That Revenues and Expenditures Section 1 through Section 32 of the Ordinance Amendment
have increased $351,499 from $23,656,446 to $24,007,945 as follows:
General Fund
Water & Sewer Utility Fund
Utility Capital Projects Fund
Capital Reserve Fund
Fire District Fund
Terrell L. Scruggs Scholarship Fund
Bjerg Fund
Other Post-Employment Benefits Fund
Health Insurance Fund
Heart of Brevard MSD Fund
Housing Trust Fund
Multi-use Paths Fund
911 Communications Fund
Narcotics Task Force Fund
Rosenwald Revitalization Fund
Downtown Master Plan Fund
Parking Fund
TOTAL BUDGET APPROPRIATIONS

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Budget
10,219,729
5,826,307
685,000
205,000
1,499,021
22,000
100
1,573,850
158,499
2,610
600,835
56,900
10,000
422,834
2,563,436
161,824
24,007,945

Adopted and approved this 7th day of December 2020.

K-4. Resolution No. 2020-36 Directing the City Clerk to Investigate the
Sufficiency of a Petition for an Annexation.
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-36
A RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE CITY CLERK TO INVESTIGATE
THE SUFFICIENCY OF A PETITION FOR AN ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO NCGS 160A-31, AS
AMENDED
WHEREAS, a petition was received on November 6, 2020, requesting the annexation of a contiguous
area described in said Petition as the George Lenze, West Probart Street property located in Brevard,
NC 28712, consisting of 5 (more or less) acres, be annexed into the City of Brevard. (Tax Property
Identification Number: 8586-231-1136);
Metes and Bounds Property Description:
Lying in Brevard Township, Transylvania County, N.C. on the south west side of the public road leading
from Brevard to Camp Transylvania and near the western corporate limits of the Town of Brevard, and
opposite the T. H. Hampton residence. BEGINNING on a small hickory on the east side of a small drain or
branch, a corner of the R.W. Norton tract, said tree standing about east of the Norton house, runs North
14 deg. East 156 feet to a small white oak on the east side of said branch or drain, corner of Norton land;
then North 26 deg. West, 123 feet to a stake in the center of the public road leading from Brevard to
Camp Transylvania; then with the center of said road North 61 deg. East 100 feet; then North 73 deg. East
100 feet; then South 84 deg. 30’ East 75 feet; then South 59 deg. East 200 feet to a stake; then South 58
deg. 30’ East 66 feet to a stake in center of said road; then leaving the road, running South 12 deg. 30’
West 373 feet with the Sadie North line, to a stake in a hollow; then South 80 deg. 30’ West 196 feet to a
stake in a low bog; then North 57 deg. West 148 1/2 feet to a stake; then South 44 deg. 15’ West 112 feet
to a stake, a corner of the Holmes tract; then North 49 deg. West 183 1/2 feet to a stake on west side of
the small drain or branch above mentioned, in the Norton line, then with the Norton line North 57
deg. 30’ East 174 feet to the Beginning. Containing five acres more or less.
WHEREAS, said Petition has been received by the City Council of the City of Brevard, North Carolina; and
WHEREAS, NCGS 160A-31, as amended, provides that the sufficiency of the Petition shall be investigated
by the City Clerk before further annexation proceedings may take place; and
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard deems it advisable to proceed in response to this
request for annexation.
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH
CAROLINA:
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Section 1. The City Clerk is hereby directed to investigate the sufficiency of the above described
Petition and to certify as soon as possible to the City Council the result of her investigation.
Section 2. This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption and approval. Adopted and
approved this the 7th day of December, 2020.

K-5. Resolution No. 2020-37 Directing the City Clerk to Investigate the
Sufficiency of a Petition for an Annexation.
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-37
A RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE CITY CLERK TO INVESTIGATE
THE SUFFICIENCY OF A PETITION FOR AN ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO NCGS
160A-31, AS AMENDED
WHEREAS, a petition was received on November 17, 2020, requesting the annexation of a contiguous
area described in said Petition as Richard Libby, 335 Forest Hill Road located in Brevard, NC 28712,
consisting of 0.672 acres, be annexed into the City of Brevard. (Tax Property Identification Number:
8585-35-1540-000);
Metes and Bounds Property Description:
BEING all of that 0.672 acre parcel of property as shown on a survey titled “Richard Libby
and wife, Leslie Libby” prepared and platted by Kevin D. Goldsmith, PLS and recorded in Plat
File 19, Slide 328, and Transylvania County Registry.
This conveyance is made subject to all roads rights-of-way of all roads which may presently
traverse the property, to all road rights of way which may presently appear of record, to the
rights-of-way of all utility lines which may presently traverse the property to all rights of way
for public utilities which may presently appear of record.
WHEREAS, said Petition has been received by the City Council of the City of Brevard, North
Carolina; and
WHEREAS, NCGS 160A-31, as amended, provides that the sufficiency of the Petition shall be
investigated by the City Clerk before further annexation proceedings may take place; and
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard deems it advisable to proceed in response
to this request for annexation.
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA:
Section 1. The City Clerk is hereby directed to investigate the sufficiency of the above
described Petition and to certify as soon as possible to the City Council the result of her investigation.
Section 2. This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption and approval. Adopted
and approved this the 7th day of December, 2020.

K-6. Resolution No. 2020-38 Amending the City of Brevard Personnel
Policy.
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-38
A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE CITY OF BREVARD PERSONNEL POLICY
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard is a governmental entity employing many persons for the
purpose of carrying out the operations of local government, AND
WHEREAS, the rules, regulations, mandates, court interpretations and laws governing personnel
administration of changed since the last amendment of the Personnel Policy on May 19, 2014; AND
WHEREAS, to keep the Personnel Policy current with the revised rules, regulations, laws, etc.,
those responsible for the maintenance of the policy recommend that the Personnel Policy dated May 19,
2014 be repealed and replaced with the updated Personnel Policy dated December 7, 2020.
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NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD,
NORTH CAROLINA THAT:
Section 1. The Personnel Policy dated May 19, 2014 is repealed and the updated Personnel
Policy dated December 7, 2020 is hereby adopted as the official policy governing the appointment,
classification, salary, benefits, and conditions of employment of the employees of the City of Brevard.
Section 2. This resolution shall become effective upon its adoption and approval.
Adopted and Approved this the 7th day of December 2020.

K-7. Downtown Master Plan Streetscape Consultant.
K-8. Council Finance & Human Resources Committee Minutes-July 24,
2020.
2020.
2020.

K-9. Mary C. Jenkins Community Center Task Force Minutes-September 22,
K-10. Council Parks, Trails & Recreation Committee Minutes-October 21,
K-11. Council Downtown Master Plan Committee Minutes-November 5,

2020.
K-12. Correspondence (No Action. Offered as information only.)
a. Transylvania County Building Permit Activity, November 2020.
K-13. (M-1) Ordinance No. 2020-31 - Voluntary Contiguous AnnexationJackson Wine.
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-31
AN ORDINANCE TO EXTEND THE CORPORATE LIMITS
OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
WHEREAS, the Brevard City Council has been petitioned under G.S. 160A-31, as amended, to
annex the contiguous area described herein, and,
WHEREAS, the City Council has by Resolution No. 2020-26 directed the City Clerk to investigate
the sufficiency of said petition; and,
WHEREAS, the Brevard Planning Board reviewed the Petition at their meeting held on October
20, 2020 and recommend approval of the voluntary contiguous annexation; and,
WHEREAS, the City Clerk has certified the sufficiency of said petition (relying on the opinion of
the City Attorney) and the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2020-31 fixing a date of public hearing.
By authority granted by G.S. 160A-31, a public hearing on the question of this annexation was held at the
Multipurpose Chambers at the County Administration Building at 5:30 P.M. on the 7 th day of December,
2020, after due notice by publication on the 23rd of November, 2020 and
WHEREAS, the City Council does hereby find as a fact that the petition meets the requirements of
G.S. 160A-31, as amended.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH
CAROLINA, THAT:
Section 1. By virtue of the authority granted by G.S. 160A-31, as amended, all of that property
lying in Transylvania County, owned by Jackson Wine, as shown and being a part of that property
described in the deed recorded in Document Book 925, Page 8, in the Transylvania County Registry and
that certain annexation plat provided by the Petitioners to be duly recorded upon annexation is hereby
annexed and made a part of the City of Brevard as of the 7th day of December, 2020.
Said property is more fully described as follows:
Location: Fisher Road, Brevard, NC 28712. Transylvania County Tax Property Identification
Numbers 8586-64-0931-000; 8586-64-0994; 8586-64-0857-000.
Metes and Bounds Property Description:
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BEGINNING at point of intersection of the westernmost boundary line of Lot 5 and the existing City Limits
of the City of Brevard, North Carolina, as shown on that certain Annexation Plat Prepared for Jackson C.
Wine by Carolina Mountain Surveying, labeled Drawing CMS20042-ANNEX, which is recorded in Plat File
20, Slide _____, in the Transylvania County Registry; thence North 42 deg. 12 min. 50 sec. East 8.49 feet, to
an iron pin in the line of Lot 5; thence with the said lot line North 40 deg. 54 min. 58 sec. East 16.78 feet,
to an iron pin; thence continuing with the said lot line and then with the lot line of Lot 6, North 35 deg. 59
min. 32 sec. East 63.39 feet to an iron pin in the northwestern corner of Lot 6; thence with the boundary
line of Lot 6 and then continuing into Fisher Road South 72 deg. 46 min. 55 sec. East 148.27 feet to a nail
in the center of the said road; thence with the center line of Fisher Road South 29 deg. 23 min. 07 sec.
West 68.57 feet to the point of intersection of the center of Fisher Road and the existing City Limits of the
City of Brevard, North Carolina; thence along with the City Limits, the arc, chord, radius, tangent,
circumference and distance shown on the above referenced plat, back to the point of Beginning.
Section 2. Upon and after the 7th day of December, 2020, the above described territory and its
citizens and property shall be subject to all debts, laws, ordinances and regulations in force in the City of
Brevard and shall be entitled to the same privileges and benefits as other parts of the City of Brevard.
Said territory shall be subject to the municipal taxes according to G.S. 160A-31.
Section 3. Pursuant to 160AA-29 it shall be the duty of the Mayor of the City of Brevard to cause
an accurate map of the annexed territory as described in Section 1 hereof, together with a duly certified
copy of this Ordinance, to be recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds of Transylvania County, North
Carolina, and in the office of the Secretary of State at Raleigh, North Carolina. Such a map shall also be
delivered to the Transylvania County Board of Elections as required by G.S. 163.288.1.
Section 4. Notice of adoption of this Ordinance shall be published once, following the effective
date of annexation, in a newspaper having general circulation in the City of Brevard.
Adopted and approved the 7th day of December, 2020.

K-14. (M-2) Ordinance No. 2020-32 – Amending the City of Brevard Unified
Development Ordinance Section 2.2.
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-32
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY OF BREVARD
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE SECTION 2.2
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard Planning Board and Planning Department Staff have
recommended that Brevard City Code, Unified Development Ordinance Section 2.2 ,
be amended to remove condominium language from the "Use categories and tables of
permitted uses"; and,
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard finds that the proposed amendment is
consistent with the City of Brevard Comprehensive Plan, specifically the following sections:
ELEMENT 2: ECONOMIC HEALTH
POLICY 2.1.A: Modify zoning regulations to encourage and allow greater density and intensities of
land use within its jurisdiction.
ELEMENT 4: LIVABLE COMMUNITIES
POLICY 4.1.A: Evaluate and amend development ordinances to facilitate infill development on vacant
and under-developed parcels, as well as revitalization of developed parcels.
POLICY 4.2.A: Modify zoning to increase allowable densities and the mixing of uses in appropriate
areas.
and,
WHEREAS, a legislative public hearing was conducted on Monday, December 7, 2020, by Brevard
City Council, and, after hearing all persons wishing to comment, and upon review and consideration of
the proposed amendments, it is the desire of the City Council of the City of Brevard that Brevard City
Code, UDO be amended as outlined below.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH
CAROLINA THAT:
SECTION 01. Brevard City Code, UDO Section 2.2 is hereby amended as depicted in Exhibit A,
which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.
SECTION 02. As to any conflict between this Ordinance and any parts of existing ordinances, the
provisions of this Ordinance shall control.
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SECTION 03. If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this
Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such
portion shall be deemed severable and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions
hereof.
SECTION 04. This Ordinance shall be in full force and in effect from and after the date of its
adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved upon first reading this the 7th day of December, 2020.

K-15. (M-3) Ordinance No. 2020-33 Amending the Brevard City Code
Chapter 18.
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-33
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE BREVARD CITY CODE
CHAPTER 18
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard Planning Board and Planning Department Staff have
recommended that Brevard City Code, Chapter 18, be amended to update language using language from
the new N.C.G.S. Chapter 160D; and,
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard finds that the proposed amendment is
consistent with the City of Brevard Comprehensive Plan, specifically the following sections:
ELEMENT 4: LIVABLE COMMUNITIES
POLICY 4.1.A: Evaluate and amend development ordinances to facilitate infill development on vacant
and under-developed parcels, as well as revitalization of developed parcels.
POLICY 4.1.C: Create a comprehensive inventory of dilapidated, distressed, underutilized, or
abandoned structures, and vacant parcels for targeted infill and adaptive reuse.
POLICY 4.2.F: Combat deteriorating property conditions through proactive code enforcement Efforts.
POLICY 4.2.G: Update the Minimum Housing Code to help ensure equity and quality of all housing
options in Brevard.
POLICY 4.2.H: Promote and encourage renovation of existing housing stock to reduce utility and
maintenance costs for owners and occupants, conserve energy, and reduce pollution.
and,
WHEREAS, a legislative public hearing was conducted on Monday, December 7, 2020, by Brevard
City Council, and, after hearing all persons wishing to comment, and upon review and consideration of
the proposed amendments, it is the desire of the City Council of the City of Brevard that Brevard City
Code, Unified Development Ordinance be amended as outlined below.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH
CAROLINA THAT:
SECTION 01. Brevard City Code, Chapter 18 is hereby amended as depicted in Exhibit A, which is
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.
SECTION 02. As to any conflict between this Ordinance and any parts of existing ordinances, the
provisions of this Ordinance shall control.
SECTION 03. If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this
Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such
portion shall be deemed severable and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions
hereof.
SECTION 04. This Ordinance shall be in full force and in effect from and after the date of its
adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved upon first reading this the 7th day of December, 2020.

K-16. (M-4) Ordinance No. 2020-34 Amending the Unified Development
Ordinance Chapters 11, 12 and 16 to Create a Content-Neutral Sign Ordinance In
Response to the US Supreme Court Case Reed et al v. Town of Gilbert et al.
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-34
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AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT
ORDINANCE CHAPTERS 11, 12, AND 16 TO CREATE A
CONTENT-NEUTRAL SIGN ORDINANCE IN RESPONSE TO THE
US SUPREME COURT CASE REED ET AL. V. TOWN OF GILBERT ET AL.
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard Planning Board and Planning Department Staff have
recommended that Brevard Unified Development Ordinance be amended to comply with United States
Supreme Court’s decision in the case of Reed et al. v. Town of Gilbert, Arizona et al.; and,
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard finds that the proposed amendment is
consistent with the following adopted plans and policies of the City of Brevard:
2015 Comprehensive Plan:
POLICY 1.4.B: Create flexibility within development ordinances to allow for murals and
other forms of public art.
POLICY 4.1.G: Modify development ordinances and regulations to incorporate design
standards and guidelines that respect existing community character while allowing
greater residential density and intensity of nonresidential development within mixed use
zoning areas.
OBJECTIVE 5.1: Increased safety and efficiency of vehicular traffic within and passing
through Brevard.
2002 Land Use Plan:
Goal 2.7: Replace large commercial billboards with smaller signs.
Goal 3.1: Preserve traditional, rural character along corridors.
Goal 3.9: A physically appealing location with a distinctive community
character and a respect for its heritage.
Focus 2020 Community Report:
Gateways, Corridors & Downtown Goal IV: A physically appealing location with a
distinctive community character and a respect for its heritage
Update sign ordinances, periodically, to maintain quality image
and,
WHEREAS, a legislative public hearing was conducted on Monday, December 7, 2020, by Brevard
City Council, and, after hearing all persons wishing to comment, and upon review and consideration of
the proposed amendments, it is the desire of the City Council of the City of Brevard that the Code of
Ordinances and Unified Development Ordinance be amended as outlined below.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH
CAROLINA THAT:
SECTION 01. The Brevard Unified Development Ordinance is hereby amended as depicted in
Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.
SECTION 02. As to any conflict between this Ordinance and any parts of existing ordinances, the
provisions of this Ordinance shall control.
SECTION 03. If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this
Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such
portion shall be deemed severable and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions
hereof.
SECTION 04. This Ordinance shall be in full force and in effect from and after the date of its
adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved upon first reading this the 7th day of December, 2020.

K-17. (M-5) Ordinance No. 2020-35 Amending the Code of Ordinance
Chapter 77.
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-35
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCE
CHAPTER 77
WHEREAS, the City Council Parks, Trails and Recreation Committee and Planning Department
Staff have recommended that Brevard City Code of Ordinance, Chapter 77, be amended to add Article III,
Electric Bicycles and Multiuse Path, to regulate the use of e-bikes on the City of Brevard’s multiuse path;
and,
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WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard finds that the proposed amendment is
generally consistent with the City of Brevard Comprehensive Plan; and,
WHEREAS, a legislative public hearing was conducted on Monday, December 7, 2020, by Brevard
City Council, and, after hearing all persons wishing to comment, and upon review and consideration of
the proposed amendments, it is the desire of the City Council of the City of Brevard that Brevard City
Code of Ordinance be amended as outlined below.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH
CAROLINA THAT:
SECTION 01. Brevard City Code of Ordinance, Chapter 77, is hereby amended to add Article III, as
depicted in Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.
SECTION 02. As to any conflict between this Ordinance and any parts of existing ordinances, the
provisions of this Ordinance shall control.
SECTION 03. If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this
Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such
portion shall be deemed severable and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions
hereof.
SECTION 04. This Ordinance shall be in full force and in effect from and after the date of its
adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved upon first reading this the 7th day of December, 2020.

K-18. (M-6) Board and Committee Appointment(s) – Brevard Housing
Authority.
L. Unfinished Business - None
M. New Business – Council waived formalities of all items 1-6 under New
Business and moved them to the Consent Agenda.
N. Remarks/Future Agenda Considerations –
Mayor Harris said that the Heart of Brevard and Transylvania County is not
having a parade this year. Instead we judged windows and I read “Twas the Night
Before Christmas”. Go to the Heart of Brevard webpage for more information.
Ms. Dinkins asked the City Manager what the status is for the bike path on
Railroad Avenue. Mr. Fatland said the last contract was awarded recently to Carolina
Specialties. Trying to get supplies and stuff has been hard because of COVID so I do not
have a date. The purchase order was signed but I don’t have a date yet. Hopefully in the
next two months.
Ms. Dinkins added that she would really like for anyone in the city and county to
take a moment to complete the community survey that lets us know what you want for
Brevard in the future. Go to the cityofbrevard.com. Also, we are looking for donations
for the dog park and the Silversteen playground. I think those would make great
presents to give to people if they like dogs and/or kids.
Mr. Jones said thank you to some workers at the City of Brevard, some of the jobs
are thankless. I’m on King Street with my son and there’s some men doing pipe
inspections and I don’t think the citizens realize the importance of their jobs, so thank
you for what you do. What you do is impactful. Happy Holidays to everyone here,
please be careful and safe. Happy New Year and we’ll see you next year.
Mr. Morrow said it’s hard to believe the holiday season is here. Tonight I
commend Jim and his staff and where we are with the Silversteen Park. Also the skate
park was crowded and the MCJCC and Dog Park and playground are all moving forward.
All the work going on and yes the City can dance and chew gum at the same time. Say
thank you when you see City staff or City Council and let them know what you think.
It’s all good things. I’m very grateful and happy holidays.
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Mr. Daniel said he would like to wish everyone at home and everyone here a
Merry Christmas and have a good one. I’m looking forward to next year.
Ms. Copelof said she echoes what Mac said and I compliment the City Manager
for the outstanding leadership he has brought in moving us forward. We are moving
forward with so many things. We are so fortunate that we have a staff that has a can-do
attitude and the same thing with the dog park. To all the members of the City of
Brevard, I really appreciate your efforts. A big thank you to everybody, a hard year but
we have an amazing staff. We have a new website for the dog park and you can go right
to the website and the donation button is there, as well as, donation forms and brick
forms. Check it out. Please fill out your comprehensive land use survey. Thank you to
everyone. I hope everyone has a safe and healthy holiday season.
Mayor Harris added that we lost Larry Landreth, one of our Public Works
employees that worked on the sanitation truck. He was always on the back of it. I want
to wish everyone a very Merry Christmas.
Mr. Fatland thanked the Finance and Human Resources Committee for getting
the personnel policy updated. I want to reflect on the 94 full time employees because
we normally provide a turkey or a ham and the luncheon and in exchange we’re giving
each employee $100 which it would have cost us anyway. Also, Emory Owen, our
superintendent at the Wastewater Treatment Plant has been with us for 40 years. Also,
it was Larry Landreth’s 5th anniversary with the City. He will be missed.
City Clerk Jill Murray wish everyone a Merry Christmas and a Happy New Year.
Mr. Pratt said that there is a closed session on the agenda but his advice is to
move it to the next meeting in January. We do not need to do it tonight.
O. Closed Session(s) – None
P. Adjourn – There being no further business, Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by
Mr. Jones, the meeting be adjourned. Motion carried unanimously. Meeting adjourned
at 7:00 p.m.

Jimmy Harris
Mayor

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk

Minutes Approved: January 19, 2021
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MINUTES
BREVARD CITY COUNCIL
Regular Meeting
December 22, 2020 – 10:00 AM
The Brevard City Council met in a special session on Tuesday, December 22,
2020, at 10:00 a.m. in the City Council Chambers with Mayor Jimmy Harris presiding.
Present – Mayor Jimmy Harris, Mayor Pro Tem Mac Morrow, Council Members
Maurice Jones, Maureen Copelof and Geraldine Dinkins.
Absent – Council Member Gary Daniel.
Staff Present – Finance Director and City Manager Jim Fatland and City Clerk Jill
Murray.
Other Guests: Alvin Fuller, Vice President - Summit Engineering Group
Press – None
A. Welcome and Call to Order – Mayor Harris called the meeting to order,
welcomed those present.
B. Certification of Quorum - The City Clerk certified a quorum present.
C. Approval of Agenda – Ms. Copelof moved, seconded by Mr. Morrow that
the agenda be approved as presented. Motion carried unanimously.
D. New Business – Mr. Fuller presented a PowerPoint presentation explaining
the process of the Norton Creek Stream Restoration Project (Exhibit A).
The activities will include:
o
o
o
o

Bank Stabilization
Relocation of Channel Structures, Waterfalls & Pools in Streambed
Riparian Buffer Zones
Walking Trail & Access Points with Educational Signage

The City of Brevard is seeking a grant from the NC DWR Water Resources Development
Grant Program. The program is a 50% match up to $200,000. The estimated total cost
is $206,810.00. Estimated completion is May, 2022.
Mr. Fatland presented a Resolution for Brevard Streambank Restoration and
Educational Greenway-Norton Creek to Council for their approval.
Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by Mr. Jones, to accept the resolution as
presented. Motion carried unanimously.
E. Adjourn – There being no further business, Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by
Mr. Jones, the meeting be adjourned. Motion carried unanimously. Meeting adjourned
at 10:23 a.m.

Jimmy Harris
Mayor

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk

Minutes Approved: January 19, 2021
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STAFF REPORT
January 19, 2021

TITLE: Notice of Hearing to Consider Public Sale of Real Estate for Economic Development
DATE: January 19, 2021
TO:

Mayor and City Council Members

PREPARED BY: Jim Fatland, CPFO, NCCLGFO, City Manager
PRESENTERS: Michael Pratt, City Attorney
Jim Fatland, City Manager
Paul Ray, Planning Director
BACKGROUND: The City Council approved the purchase of the North Broad Street Property
on June 29, 2020. The 3-acre parcel is bounded by East Probart, North Broad and East
Appletree Streets. The purchase price was $1,877,500. The City obtained a $1.3 million loan
from United Community Bank for fifteen (15) years at an excellent interest rate of 1.86%.
Repayment of the loan is from the newly established Parking Fund to account for paid parking
revenue and expenditures.
The City Council approved the purchase of the North Broad Street Property due to its strategic
location in Downtown Brevard. No specific purpose had been identified. However, the City
Council identified the site as a potential courthouse and/or parking deck. Transylvania County
Board of Commissioners have not made a final decision on courthouse location and a decision
is not expected anytime soon.
DISCUSSION:
The City of Brevard has received an offer to purchase the North Broad Street Property. The
City was offered $1,877,500. The City Attorney and City Manager were directed to present
counter offer. Buyer accepted counter offer of $2,450,000.
It was mutually agreed that prior to the conveyance of land the buyer would enter into a
Development Agreement with the seller under the provisions codified in North Carolina
General Statutes. Additionally, a Conditional Zoning District must be created to provide an
effective means for the City to manage the impacts of this type of development, and to ensure
quality urban design and compatibility with the surrounding land uses and neighborhood
character. Lastly, annexation into the Heart of Brevard Municipal Service District was
mutually agreed, but this may occur after closing as a condition of the development
agreement.
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The Downtown Master Plan Committee met on January 7, 2021 and unanimously approved
recommendation to the City Council to sell the North Broad Street Property for the
development of an 80 plus room boutique hotel.
The Courthouse Citizen Committee, a group formed to keep the Courthouse functions in
Downtown Brevard, held a zoom call on January 14, 2021. The group agreed to provide a
letter to the City Council in support of the hotel project. In addition they agreed to stay
committed to support keeping the courthouse functions downtown when the Transylvania
County Board of Commissioners are ready to discuss.
RECOMMENDATION:
1) Close public hearing within 24 hours of January 19, 2021 City Council Meeting for
public comment
2) Continue City Council Meeting to Monday January 25, 2021 at 5:30PM to consider
purchase and sale agreement of North Broad Street Property
3) Authorize staff to develop off street paid parking plan for Downtown Brevard
FISCAL IMPACT:
Sources of Funds
Sale of Property
Total Sources of Funds

$2,450,000
$2,450,000

Uses of Funds
Estimated Payoff UCB loan
Repayment to General Fund (Down Payment)
Proceeds to Parking Fund
Total Uses of Funds
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STAFF REPORT
City Council, Tuesday, January 19, 2021
Title:

Speaker:
Prepared by:
Approved by:

Text Amendment – Code Sections 42-3, 46-1, 46-6, 46-7, and 4631 through 46-38; and Fee Schedule Amendment
The City Council will hear a presentation from Staff regarding a text
amendment that would regulate the usage of sidewalks for sidewalk
dining areas, display of merchandise, and placement of permanent
and semipermanent obstructions.

Leigh Huffman, AICP Candidate, Planner & Asst. Zoning Administrator
Leigh Huffman, AICP Candidate, Planner & Asst. Zoning Administrator
Jim Fatland, CFPO, City Manager

Background
This is a staff-initiated text amendment based on two events.

(1) The COVID-19 Use Permit process allowed Staff to recognize that many of the ongoing
uses of the sidewalks by merchants are not in accordance with the Brevard City Code.
This amendment will bring many of these uses into conformance with the Code.
(2) The Sidewalk Dining Agreement between the City and NCDOT, signed on August 19,
2020, allows the City to permit sidewalk dining areas on NCDOT rights-of-ways. One of
the provisions of the agreement is that the City must adopt a new sidewalk dining
ordinance that aligns with the agreement.

The Downtown Master Plan Committee discussed this proposed amendment at its
meetings on October 15 and November 5, 2020.

Discussion
This amendment cleans up the language in Section 46-1. – Selling on streets and sidewalks
regarding the sale and display of merchandise on public sidewalks. It adds language to allow
merchants to use the brick area if at least five feet of unobstructed space is kept open for
pedestrians. The Code does not currently allow any usage of the brick area by merchants.

Based on discussions with the Committee, Staff added Section 46-6. – Placement of permanent
and semipermanent obstructions and a definition of “Obstruction (Permanent or
Semipermanent)” to Section 46-7. – Definitions. These additions add language to create a
permitting process for permanent and semipermanent objects placed on city sidewalks.

The proposed language for Chapter 46 Article II. – Sidewalk Dining Areas incorporates NCDOT’s
requirements and considers the current layout of the City sidewalks, the implementation of a
new permitting process, and the feasibility of enforcement for the new requirements. This
language was drawn from research of other cities’ sidewalk dining ordinances. NCDOT reviewed
the draft language and had no comments.

The amendment cleans up the language of Section 42-3. – Consumption or possession of alcoholic
beverages in a public space to differentiate between sidewalk dining and a special event and to
reference Chapter 46 Article II. The draft amendment is included as Attachment A.
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Attachment B proposes changes to the fee schedule in order to charge a reasonable application
processing fee for the two new permits.

Policy Analysis
The Livable Communities Element of the 2015 Comprehensive Plan emphasizes that the City
should modify ordinances to maintain “the character and charm of which contribute greatly to
Brevard’s quality of place”:
POLICY 4.1.G: Modify development ordinances and regulations to incorporate design
standards and guidelines that respect existing community character while allowing greater
residential density and intensity of nonresidential development within mixed use zoning
areas.

Recommendation
The Committee unanimously recommended approval to send the text as written and the
additions to the fee schedule to City Council.
Staff recommends approving the text amendment and the corresponding changes to the fee
schedule.

Council has the following options:

(1) Adoption of the amendment as written;
(2) Adoption of the amendment as revised by Council;
(3) Rejection of the amendment;
(4) Send the amendment back to the Planning Board for further study; or
(5) Table the amendment for further study.

Attachments
A. Proposed Code Language
B. Proposed Fee Schedule
C. Adopting Ordinance
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1

Chapter 42 - OFFENSES AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

2

Sec. 42-3. - Consumption or possession of alcoholic beverages in public place.

3
4
5
6
7
8

It shall be unlawful for any person to consume, sell, serve or drink alcoholic beverages of any kind,
or to publicly display alcoholic beverages if the container has been opened or the seal broken, on any
property owned, leased or controlled by the City, and any public street, alley, sidewalk or parking lot
within the city limits, whether the area is open to vehicular traffic or has been closed to vehicular traffic in
connection with a parade or other special event, unless a valid permit is obtained, pursuant to subsection
(1) and (2), below:

9
10
11
12
13

(1)

14
15
16

(2) The city manager or the administrator is hereby authorized to issue a sidewalk dining permit that
would allow the sale and consumption of alcohol on public sidewalks pursuant to Chapter 46
Article II of the Brevard City Code.

17

(3)

18
19
20
21

(4)

For special events, the sales and consumption of malt beverages and unfortified wine, but no
other alcoholic beverages, shall be as authorized on the permit; provided, however, that no
such sales shall be allowed earlier or later than during the city permitted timeframe of the
festival.

22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29

(5)

The permit holder shall be solely responsible for assuring compliance with all applicable laws of
the City of Brevard and the State of North Carolina pertaining to the sales and consumption of
alcoholic beverages. Permit holders who demonstrate failure to assure compliance with such
laws shall be subject to immediate permit revocation, and may be subject to such civil and
criminal penalties as are set forth in Brevard City Code and the North Carolina General
Statutes. The administrator shall have the discretion to withhold approval of permits for the
sales and consumption of alcohol associated with future special events, when the permit holder
has failed to demonstrate compliance with such law in the operation of previous events.

30
31
32
33
34

(6)

Special event permit holders shall submit an operational plan demonstrating the procedures
and practices that will be employed to assure such compliance with all applicable regulations as
set forth in Brevard City Code and the North Carolina General Statutes. Such plan shall
specifically address the prevention of the sales of alcohol to minors, and the methods that will
be employed to contain the consumption of alcohol within the designated area.

35
36

(7)

In the issuance of a permit, the administrator shall have the authority to impose reasonable
conditions to protect the public health, safety welfare.

37
38
39
40
41
42

(8)

Chief of police, police department event commander on-duty, and the administrator shall have
authority to immediately cause alcohol sales and consumption activities to cease and desist
upon a determination that the permit holder has failed to maintain compliance with the terms
and conditions of the permit or the requirements of Brevard City Code, or that continuation of
alcohol sales and consumption at the event would pose an immediate threat to the public
health, safety and welfare.

The city manager (or designee thereof, hereafter, "the administrator") is hereby authorized to
issue a special permit that would allow to permit the sale and consumption of alcoholic
beverages during special events, which have been permitted pursuant to Chapter 66 of Brevard
City Code, and City of Brevard Unified Development Ordinance Chapter 3, Additional Use
Standards.

This permit shall only be valid for a designated area.

43
44

(Code 1980, § 10-13; Ord. No. 6-08, § 1, 4-7-08; Ord. No. 2012-04, § 1, 2-20-2012; Ord. No.
2017-16, § 2, 8-22-2017)

45

Cross reference— Sale of intoxicating beverages by taxicab drivers, § 78-37.
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46

State Law reference— Similar provisions, G.S. 18B-300(c).

47
48

Chapter 46 - PEDDLERS AND SOLICITORS[1]

49

Footnotes:

50

--- (1) ---

51

Cross reference— Businesses, ch. 22; streets, sidewalks and other public ways, ch. 62.

52

State Law reference— Regulation of solicitation campaigns and itinerant merchants, G.S. 160A-178.

53

ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL

54

Sec. 46-1. - Selling on streets and sidewalks.

55
56
57
58
59
60

(a)

61

(b)

Permission for sidewalk merchandise. Merchants lawfully conducting and operating a business from
permanent physical business facilities which front on and abut a city sidewalk may display and sell
goods, wares and merchandise from the sidewalk without need of application and approval from the
City Council; provided, however, that such merchandise, along with all racks, display cases and
other accessories thereto, shall be removed from all public sidewalks at the end of every business
day during which the same may have been displayed.
Setback.

62
63
64

(1) On sidewalks at least 12 feet in width, excluding the curb, the maximum distance that the goods,
wares or merchandise may be placed from the wall or front of the place of business shall be 36
inches.

65
66

(2) On sidewalks at least seven feet in width, excluding the curb, the maximum distance shall be 24
inches.

67
68

(3) On sidewalks less than seven feet in width, excluding the curb, no goods, wares or merchandise
shall be placed on the sidewalks or streets.

69
70
71
72

(4) On sidewalks that include a brick section adjacent to the curb, goods, wares and merchandise
may be placed in the brick area as long as at least five feet of unobstructed concrete paved
space, measured from any permanent or semi-permanent object, remains on the sidewalk or
pedestrian way for the passage of pedestrians.

73
74
75
76

(c)

Additional restrictions. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this section, authority for merchants
to sell from city sidewalks does not extend to city streets, and is limited to those sidewalk areas
immediately abutting their own property. Further, the setback requirements of subsection (b) of this
section shall apply to all obstructions of every description.

77
78
79

(d)

Special events. The city manager may waive the setback requirements for special events
recognized by the City, such as the Brevard/Transylvania Festival of the Arts, but in no event shall
any merchant be permitted to fully obstruct a city sidewalk.

80
81
82

(e)

Selling from streets and vehicles. It shall be unlawful for any vendor or for any person whatsoever,
to sell, barter, exchange or attempt to sell, barter, or exchange any goods, wares or merchandise
from any city street or from any vehicle except:

83
84

(1)

As may be authorized with respect to vending carts in chapter 3 of the City of Brevard Unified
Development Ordinance; or
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85
86
87

(2)

As the prohibition may be waived by the approving authority for special events recognized by
the City provided that the applicant satisfies all permit requirements of section 66-13 and
complies with article I of chapter 66 and other applicable provisions of this Code.

88

(Code 1980, § 12-1; Ord. No. 16-97, § 1, 7-7-97; Ord. No. 24-2011, § 1(Exh. A), 9-19-2011)

89

46-6. – Placement of permanent and semipermanent obstructions.

90
91
92
93
94

Except as authorized herein, it shall be unlawful to place permanent and semipermanent displays,
fixtures, inventory racks, display cases, planters, vending machines and other obstructions of a
permanent or semipermanent nature on city-maintained sidewalks, streets, or alleyways without first
obtaining a permit from the city manager in accordance with the requirements of this article. As used in
this section, the term city manager includes his or her authorized designee.

95
96

(a) Application. Any business owner desiring to install a permanent or semipermanent obstruction shall
prepare and file an application with the city manager which shall contain the following information:

97

(1) The name, addresses, and telephone number of the business desiring to install the obstruction.

98

(2) The name, address, and telephone number of the business owner.

99
100
101

(3) A drawing or site plan showing the section of sidewalk or pedestrian way to be used for the
object, and the section to be kept clear for pedestrian and fire lane use, and depicting the
proposed dimensions and placement on the sidewalk or pedestrian way.

102
103

(4) A description and images, drawings or other illustrative graphics of the semipermanent or
permanent obstruction(s) to be installed.

104
105
106
107
108
109
110

(5) Proof of an insurance policy, issued by an insurance company licensed to do business in the
state, protecting the permittee, the City, and NCDOT, if applicable, from all claims for damages
to the property and bodily injury, including death, which may arise from placement of the object
under or in connection with the permit. Such insurance shall name the City and, if applicable,
NCDOT as additional insured and shall provide that the policy shall not terminate or be
canceled prior to the expiration date without advance written notice to the City. Such insurance
shall afford minimum limits of $2,000,000.00 aggregate annually.

111
112
113

(6) The business operator shall provide an agreement to indemnify and hold harmless the City
and, if applicable, NCDOT from any claim resulting from placement of the permanent or
semipermanent obstruction.

114
115

(7) Additional information may be requested by the city manager or his designee in order to
determine compliance with this section.

116
117

(8) At the time the application is filed, the applicant shall pay the City a fee as set forth in the
Schedule of Taxes, Fees and Charges.

118

(b) Standards for placement of permanent and semipermanent obstructions.

119
120

No permit for the placement of permanent and semipermanent obstructions may be issued unless
the application is complete and the following standards are met:

121
122

(1) The business seeking to place or install a semipermanent or permanent obstruction must abut
and front on the sidewalk or pedestrian way.

123
124
125
126
127

(2) The placement of the obstruction(s) as shown in the drawing submitted with the site plan must
be done in such a manner that at least five feet of unobstructed space, excluding the curb,
measured from any permanent or semi-permanent object, remains on the sidewalk or
pedestrian way for the passage of pedestrians. In accordance with North Carolina Fire Code,
no fire exits or lanes may be blocked and must remain clear at all times.
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128
129
130

(3) The objects shall not obstruct any driveway, alleyway, building entrance or exit, emergency
entrance or exit, fire hydrant or standpipe, utility access, ventilation areas, or ramps necessary
to meet accessibility requirements under the Americans with Disabilities Act.

131
132
133
134

(4) The obstructions shall be allowed to remain in place until such time as the business
establishment vacates the premises or until such time as replacement is warranted due to a
deterioration of physical condition or appearance, whichever might first occur. At such time the
business will reapply.

135

(c) Administrative review procedure.

136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149

(1) The administrator shall review and comment on the application and supporting materials.
(2) If deemed necessary by the administrator, the application and supporting materials may be
circulated to the Downtown Master Plan Committee and any other relevant city, county, and
state agencies, committees, and officials for comment(s) as to the proposed obstruction’s
conformance to all applicable standards and requirements and whether approval is
recommended.
(3) The administrator shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application.
(d) Permit denial. A permit may be denied if it is found that the application does not demonstrate
compliance with this section and/or that the granting of the permit would not be in the public interest
or would jeopardize public safety. Any applicant denied a permit to place a semipermanent or
permanent object shall receive a written statement outlining the grounds on which the denial is
based. The applicant may appeal the denial of the permit to the Board of Adjustment (BOA) within
15 days after the certified receipt of the written denial, and the BOA may take such action as it shall
find necessary.

150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157

(e) Permit revocation. In the event the city manager, or his or her designee, determines good grounds
exist for the revocation of a permit issued under this section, he or she shall provide the business
owner written notice stating the violation; provided, that if, in the opinion of the administrator, Police
Department, or Fire Department, the unlawful condition is such that is of imminent danger or peril to
the public, the public services department may, without notice, proceed to abate the same, and the
cost thereof shall be charged against the property. The city manager, or his or her designee, shall
give written notice to the business owner regarding a permit issued pursuant to this section if he or
she finds that the business owner has:

158

(1) Deliberately misrepresented or provide false information in the permit application.

159
160

(2) Placed or moved the object in such a manner as to create a public nuisance or to constitute a
hazard to the public health, safety, or welfare.

161

(3) Placed or moved the object in violation of any city, county or state law, ordinance, or regulation.

162
163
164
165
166
167

Such notice shall direct that all violations existing thereupon be resolved within 15 days from the
certified receipt of the such written notice. If the violation is not resolved within 15 days of receipt of the
written warning, the city manager shall revoke the permit. The business operator may appeal any such
order by filing a written notice of appeal with the city clerk within 15 days of receipt thereof. The Board of
Adjustment (BOA) shall conduct a hearing on the appeal and render its decision thereon. Such notice of
appeal shall stay the revocation of the permit by the City until a final determination by the BOA.

168
169

(f) Permit Exemptions. The following types of semipermanent and permanent obstructions shall not
require a permit.

170
171
172
173

(1) Holiday decorations placed in the space directly adjacent to the building as permitted in Sec.
46-1(b). Such decorations shall only be placed in the space directly adjacent to the building and
not the brick section adjacent to the curb. Lighting shall comply with the City of Brevard Unified
Development Chapter 11.

174

(2) Objects owned, installed, and placed by the City, County, or NCDOT.

175

Sec. 46-7. – Definitions.
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176
177

As used in this ordinance the words and expressions defined in this section shall be held to have
the meanings herein given to them:

178
179
180
181

Obstruction (Permanent or Semipermanent): An object that is kept out on public streets,
sidewalks, and alleyways after business hours. Such objects include but are not limited to displays,
fixtures, inventory racks, display cases, planters, vending machines, and seating. Also referred to as a
semipermanent or permanent object.

182
183
184
185
186

Restaurant: A retail business selling ready-to-eat food and/or beverages for on or off-premise
consumption. Customers may be served from an ordering counter (i.e. cafeteria or limited service
restaurant), at their tables (full-service restaurant), and at exclusively pedestrian-oriented facilities that
serve from a walk-up ordering counter (snack and/or nonalcoholic bars). ( LBCS F2510, F2520, and F2530
)

187

Secs. 46-8—46-30. - Reserved.

188

ARTICLE II. – Sidewalk Dining Areas[2]

189

Sec. 46-31. – In general.

190
191

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this code to the contrary, sidewalk dining shall be subject
to such regulations as are set forth in this section.

192

Sec. 46-32. – Permit required.

193
194
195

No restaurant owner may operate sidewalk dining without first obtaining a permit from the city
manager in accordance with the requirements of this article. As used in this section, the term city
manager includes his or her authorized designee.

196

Sec. 46-33. – Application.

197
198

Any restaurant owner desiring to operate a sidewalk dining area shall prepare and file an
application with the city manager which shall contain the following information:

199
200

(a) The name, addresses, and telephone number of the restaurant desiring to operate a sidewalk
dining area.

201

(b) The name, address, and telephone number of the restaurant operator.

202

(c) The type of food and beverage, or food product, to be sold and served for the sidewalk dining.

203
204

(d) The hours of operation of the restaurant and the proposed hours of operation of the sidewalk
dining area.

205
206
207
208

(e) A drawing or site plan showing the section of sidewalk or pedestrian way to be used for sidewalk
dining, and the section to be kept clear for pedestrian and fire lane use, and depicting the
proposed dimensions and placement of tables, chairs, barricades, umbrellas, trash receptacles,
and other furnishing on the sidewalk or pedestrian way.

209
210
211

(f) A description and images, drawings or other illustrative graphics of the barricades to be used (if
any) around the sidewalk dining area and of the furniture to be used, i.e. tables, chairs,
umbrellas, etc.

212
213
214
215
216
217
218

(g) Proof of an insurance policy, issued by an insurance company licensed to do business in the
state, protecting the permittee, the City, and NCDOT, if applicable, from all claims for damages
to the property and bodily injury, including death, which may arise from operation under or in
connection with the permit. Such insurance shall name the City and, if applicable, NCDOT as
additional insured and shall provide that the policy shall not terminate or be canceled prior to
the expiration date without advance written notice to the City. Such insurance shall afford
minimum limits of $2,000,000.00 aggregate annually.
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219
220
221
222
223

(h) A copy of all permits and licenses issued by the State, County or City, including health and ABC
permits, if any, necessary for the operation of the restaurant, or a copy of the application for the
permit if no permit has been issued. This requirement includes permits or certificates issued by
the City or other governmental authority for exterior alterations or improvements to the
restaurant.

224
225

(i) The restaurant operator shall provide an agreement to indemnify and hold harmless the City and,
if applicable, NCDOT from any claim resulting from the operation of sidewalk dining activities.

226
227

(j) Additional information may be requested by the city manager or his designee in order to
determine compliance with this section.

228
229

(k) At the time the application is filed, the applicant shall pay the City a fee as set forth in the
Schedule of Taxes, Fees and Charges.

230

Sec. 46-34. – Standards for sidewalk dining areas.

231
232

No permit for the operation of a sidewalk dining area may be issued unless the application is
complete and the following standards are met:

233
234
235
236
237

(a) The sidewalk dining area must be associated with an operating restaurant such that it is under
the same management and shares the same food preparation facilities, restroom facilities, and
other customer convenience facilities as the restaurant. The sidewalk dining must be operated
under the same name as the restaurant and may not be open or operated at any time when the
restaurant is not open for business.

238
239
240

(b) The operation of the sidewalk dining area must be clearly incidental to the associated restaurant
business. The seating capacity of the sidewalk dining area may not be more than 50 percent of
the interior seating capacity of the associated restaurant.

241
242
243
244
245
246

(c) The restaurant seeking to operate the sidewalk dining area must abut, front on, and open onto
the sidewalk or pedestrian way. Tables, chairs, and other furnishings may be placed on the
sidewalk which fronts the business and on the sidewalk on the side of the business if located on
a street corner. Furnishings and barricades may extend up to eight feet onto adjacent property
frontage in either or both directions with the written permission (provided at the time of
application) of the occupant of the adjacent property.

247

(d) Tables, chairs and other furnishings shall be placed a minimum of six feet from any travel lane.

248
249
250
251
252
253

(e) The placement of tables, chairs and other furnishings as shown in the drawing submitted with the
site plan must be done in such a manner that at least five feet of unobstructed space, excluding
the curb, measured from any permanent or semi-permanent object, remains on the sidewalk or
pedestrian way for the passage of pedestrians. In accordance with North Carolina Fire Code,
no fire exits or lanes may be blocked and must remain clear at all times. The pedestrian
passage way may not be used for the display of merchandise or for signs.

254
255
256

(f) Tables, chairs, and other furnishings shall not obstruct any driveway, alleyway, building entrance
or exit, emergency entrance or exit, fire hydrant or standpipe, utility access, ventilation areas, or
ramps necessary to meet accessibility requirements under the Americans with Disabilities Act.

257
258
259
260
261

(g) The tables, chairs and other furnishings used in the sidewalk dining area shall not be anchored
and shall be made of a type of street furniture that is easily movable. Furnishings must be
constructed of metal (aluminum, steel, wrought iron, etc.) Commercial umbrellas must be made
with outdoor fabric and a metal or commercial grade plastic stand. Advertising messages may
not be displayed from tables, chairs, umbrellas, or other furnishings.

262
263
264

(h) Tables, chairs, and other furnishings that remain on the sidewalk at times when the business is
not in operation shall be secured in a manner that allows clear access from the street, and
umbrellas shall be taken inside.

265
266

(i) Merchants with sidewalks dining are responsible for cleanliness and are subject to all applicable
health department regulations.
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267
268

(j) Umbrellas over tables are permissible but must provide a clearance of a minimum of 78 inches
from the lowest point of their canopy.

269
270

(k) The maximum posted speed permitted on the roadway adjacent to the right-of-way to be used for
sidewalk dining activities shall not be greater than 45 miles per hour.

271
272
273

(l) The restaurant operator shall cease part or all sidewalk dining activities in order to allow
construction, maintenance, or repair of any street, sidewalk, utility, or public building, by
NCDOT, the City, its agents or employees, or by any other governmental entity or public entity.

274

Sec. 46-35. – Alcoholic Beverages.

275
276

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Code, alcoholic beverages may be served in
approved sidewalk dining areas provided that the following requirements are met:

277
278
279

(a) The sidewalk dining area shall be a part of a restaurant and shall otherwise be authorized
permitted, or licensed under the state law and this Code to serve and sell alcoholic beverages
for on-premises consumption.

280
281
282

(b) The sidewalk dining area must be included as part of the premises for which an ABC permit is
issued pursuant to state law, for the purpose of applying and enforcing state laws regarding the
sale or consumption of alcoholic beverages.

283
284

(c) Signs shall be posted, visible at all exit point from the sidewalk dining area, that it is unlawful to
remove alcoholic beverages from the premises.

285
286
287

(d) No outdoor bar is allowed within the sidewalk dining area, nor shall outdoor preparation of
alcoholic beverages be permitted except that unfortified wine may be decanted or beer poured
at a table as part of a meal.

288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297

(e) Barricades shall be placed along the perimeter of the sidewalk dining area and shall be a
minimum height of 3' and maximum height of 4'2". The barrier must be detectable by the
visually impaired. Sidewalk dining barricade stanchions/posts must not be a tripping hazard. If a
stanchion or other vertical element is attached to a base, that base must be flat and must
measure no more than 1" above the sidewalk surface. Sidewalk dining stanchions/posts must
be constructed of metal (aluminum, steel, wrought iron, etc.), wood (wood must be painted or
stained) or commercial grade planters. Commercial planters used as vertical support posts may
not exceed 3' in height and vegetation within the planter may not exceed 6' from ground level.
Sidewalk dining railings must be steel chain coated with black plastic, heavy duty black plastic
chain, heavy duty black rope, or black velour rope.

298

Sec. 46-36. – Permit denial.

299
300
301
302
303
304

A permit may be denied if it is found that the application does not demonstrate compliance with
this section and/or that the granting of the permit would not be in the public interest or would jeopardize
public safety. Any applicant denied a permit to operate a sidewalk dining area shall receive a written
statement outlining the grounds on which the denial is based. The applicant may appeal the denial of the
permit to the Board of Adjustment (BOA) within 15 days after the certified receipt of the written denial, and
the BOA may take such action as it shall find necessary.

305

Sec. 46-37. – Terms and transfer.

306
307
308
309
310
311

Permits for a sidewalk dining area issued in accordance with the provisions of this article shall be
issued for the period beginning February 1 or thereafter and expiring January 31 of each year. If a
permittee discontinues the restaurant operation or the sidewalk dining area, no refund of the permit fee
shall be made. Permits issued pursuant to this section shall not be transferable or assignable. Permits
may prohibit operation of sidewalk dining areas during special events and contain other conditions and
restrictions as may be necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare.

312

Sec. 46-38. – Permit revocation.

313
314

In the event the city manager, or his or her designee, determines good grounds exist for the
revocation of a permit issued under this section, he or she shall provide the restaurant operator written
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315
316
317

notice stating the violation. The city manager, or his or her designee, shall give written notice to the
restaurant operator regarding a permit issued pursuant to this section if he or she finds that the restaurant
operator has:

318

(a) Deliberately misrepresented or provide false information in the permit application.

319

(b) Violated any provision of the county health department regulations or of this section.

320
321

(c) Violated any law, regulation, or ordinance regarding the possession, sale, transportation, or
consumption of intoxicating beverages or controlled substances.

322
323
324

(d) Operated the sidewalk dining area in such a manner as to create a public nuisance or to
constitute a hazard to the public health, safety, or welfare; specifically including failure to keep
the café area clean and free of refuse.

325
326

(e) Failed to maintain any health, business or other permit or license required by law for the
operation of a restaurant business.

327

(f) Fails to consistently maintain the sidewalk dining area in a neat and trash free manner.

328
329

(g) Operated the restaurant or sidewalk dining area in violation of any city, county or state law,
ordinance, or regulation.

330
331
332
333
334
335
336

Such notice shall direct that all violations existing thereupon be resolved within 15 days from the
certified receipt of the such written notice. If the violation is not resolved within 15 days of receipt of the
written warning, the city manager shall revoke the sidewalk dining permit. The restaurant operator may
appeal any such order by filing a written notice of appeal with the city clerk within 15 days of receipt
thereof. The Board of Adjustment (BOA) shall conduct a hearing on the appeal and render its decision
thereon. Such notice of appeal shall stay the revocation of the permit by the City until a final
determination by the BOA.

337
338

Footnotes:

339

--- (2) ---

340
341
342

Editor's note— Ord. No. 24-2011, § 2, adopted Sept. 19, 2011, repealed Art. II, §§ 46-31—46-43, which
pertained to vending carts in downtown area and derived from Code 1980, §§ 12-20—12-32; Ord. No. 122011, § 4(Exh. D), 6-20-2011.

343

Secs. 46-39—46-43. - Reserved.
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ATTACHMENT B
City of Brevard
Fiscal Year 2020-2021
Schedule of Taxes, Fees, and Charges

GENERAL FUND
Planning / Zoning
Special Events1
City‐Sponsored (examples White Squirrel, July 4th, Halloween Fest, and Twilight Tour)
Private Property – No parking space, sidewalk, or street closures
Private Property – Includes parking space, sidewalk, or street closure2
Public Property – Park, greenway, or similar
Public Alley Closure
State Road Closure
City Road Closure
Public Sidewalk Closure (examples include construction, delivery, demolition, etc.)
Public Parking Space Closure (examples include construction, delivery, demolition, etc.) 2

Fee
$0
$0
$200 + $500 bond
$200 + $500 bond
$50 (per day) + $500 bond
$1500 (per day) + $2,000 bond
$100 (per day) + $1,000 bond
$500 (per day) + $500 bond
$100 (per day) + $500 bond

Sidewalk Usage

Fee

Semipermanent and Permanent Objects

$50
$100 (permit to be renewed
annually)

Sidewalk Dining Areas

Category I Applications
Dedication Plats for Category I Applications
Recombination Plats
Minor Subdivision Plat:
No new public infrastructure except sidewalks
Non‐Residential New Construction
Non‐Residential Permit Extension 1st Time
Non‐Residential Permit Extension 2nd Time
Non‐Residential Interior Remodels, Additions, Accessory & Concomitant Structures,
Incidental Improvements and Other Substantial Improvements or Significant
Improvements to Existing, Individual Structures.4
Non‐Residential Change of Use and Incidental Improvements to Existing Structures
(Awnings, Handicapped Ramps, Decks, etc.),
Home Occupation
Residential Dwelling New Construction and Manufactured Home Setup on New Space
(not including new manufactured home parks), and secondary dwellings.
Residential Interior Remodels and Manufactured Home Replacement on Existing Space,
Additions, Accessory Structures and Incidental Improvement to a Structure or
Manufactured Home5

Fee3
No Fee
No Fee
$75 + $20/lot
$200 per structure
$150
$500
$100
$50
$200
$100 per Dwelling Unit

$50

1

Special event fees are for one‐time or one‐day events. A multi‐day event shall pay the required fees for each day.
Includes one parking space, each additional space is considered a separate fee. Street closure is considered for one block,
each additional block is a separate fee.
3 When applicable, applicants must submit a check, made out to the Transylvania County Register of Deeds, to cover document
recordation fees. Recordation fees are determined by Transylvania County. Please refer to the adopted fee schedule of the
Transylvania County Register of Deeds for more information.
4 Any improvement that does not meet the definition of substantial or significant improvement. Incidental improvements
include installation of handicapped ramps and entryways, awnings, unenclosed decks and patios, and lighting improvements
and other minor, non‐structural changes of an incidental nature.
5
Any improvement that does not meet the definition of substantial or significant improvement. Incidental Improvements
include installation of ramps and entryways, awnings, unenclosed decks and patios, and lighting improvements and other
minor non‐structural changes of an incidental nature. When a handicapped ramp is built by churches or church volunteers, by
other tax‐exempt organizations, or by friends, acquaintances or family of the home owners or occupants, without and expense
2
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ATTACHMENT B
City of Brevard
Fiscal Year 2020-2021
Schedule of Taxes, Fees, and Charges

GENERAL FUND
Fence
Driveway / Curb Cut / Encroachment
Tree Removal
Demolition:
The Administrator may waive bonds for demolition. Administrator may require a
bond in excess of $500 if such is deemed necessary in the interests of public health or
safety. These bonds shall be prepared and administered in accordance with the
improvement guarantee procedures set forth in the Procedure for the Installation &
Dedication of Public Improvements. The Administrator may require a demolition, in
association with any development activity for which such bond is relevant.
Grading & Other Land Disturbance:
The Administrator may waive bonds for grading and other land disturbance upon
determination that such bond would serve no useful purpose. Administrator may
require a bond in excess of $500 if such is deemed necessary in the interests of public
health or safety. These bonds shall be prepared and administered in accordance with
the improvement guarantee procedures set forth in the Procedure for the
Installation & Dedication of Public Improvements. The Administrator may require a
grading or land disturbance bond in association with any development activity for
which such bond is relevant.
Parking Lots, Resurface
Parking Lots, New & Reconfiguration
Carnivals, Circuses

Farmers Markets, Tailgate Markets, and Flea Markets

Food Truck Site
Food Truck Vendor
Temporary Vendors, Agricultural (Does not include Farmers Markets or Tailgate
Markets. Includes all forms of roadside / mobile / temporary purveyors of seasonal
horticultural, agricultural, aqua cultural or forest product, including but not limited to
raw fruits, vegetable, perennials, annuals bulbs, dried flowers, Christmas trees, and
similar products)
Temporary Vendors, Non‐Agricultural (Does not include Flea Markets. Includes all
forms of roadside / sidewalk / downtown / pushcart / mobile / itinerant merchants /
temporary purveyors of non‐agricultural products)
Temporary Uses, All Other
Zoning Consistency Determination / Farm Exemption Certification

Category II Applications
Dedication Plats for Category II Applications
Dedication Plats
Minor Subdivision: New public infrastructure
Group Developments

$10
$50
$25
$50 + $500 reimbursable bond
per structure. Lots with multiple
structures requiring Bonds
exceeding $500 shall be based
upon a qualified professional’s
estimate of cleanup clean cost +
25%
$50 + $500 reimbursable bond
per lot up to one acre. Lots
larger than one acre requiring
Bonds exceeding $500 shall be
based upon a qualified
professional’s estimate of
cleanup clean cost + 25%
$0
$50
$500 per location and permit
period6
$200 per year per location and
permit period. Individual
permits are not required for
authorized individual vendors
operating within the permitted
market area
$100
$50 (permit to be renewed
annually)
$200 per location and permit
period

$200 per location and permit
period
$50
$25

Fee
$50
$50
$500 + $20 per lot or structure up to $2,000
$500 + $20 per lot or structure up to $2,000

for either labor or materials being paid by the owners or occupants, the fifty‐dollar ($50) fee under this section shall be waived
by the Planning Director.
6 The Administrator may assess fees for the actual cost of services provided by City forces (i.e., personnel, deployment of fire
apparatus, solid waste removal, provision of barricades, State Fire Code inspections, and etc.) in support of special events or
temporary uses. Refer to the Departmental Cost of Services section below, for a schedule of additional “cost of service” fees.
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ATTACHMENT B
City of Brevard
Fiscal Year 2020-2021
Schedule of Taxes, Fees, and Charges

GENERAL FUND
Wireless Communication Facilities, Co‐Location & Stealth
Wireless Communication Facilities / Towers, All Other

$200
$1,000

Category III Applications

Fee
$50

Dedication Plats for Category III Applications
Major Subdivision: Phased subdivisions and subdivisions with 25 or
more lots
Manufactured Home Park
Conditional Zoning District
Traditional Neighborhood Development
Planned Development Overlay District
Map Amendment (Rezoning)
Text Amendment (includes modifications to PDD)
Vested Right
Voluntary Annexation
Street / Right‐of‐Way / Easement Abandonment
Variance ‐ Zoning
Variance ‐ Floodplain Development
Appeal
Special Use Permit ‐ Zoning
Special Use Permit ‐ Floodplain Development

Signage
Political Signs
Wall & Marquee
Ground
Electronic (Including Message & Reader Boards)
Neighborhood Entrance, Projection / Suspended, Identification,
Menu Board, Building Identification, and A‐ Frame
Street Banners
Banners & Temporary
Special Event
Panel Replacement / Reface / Resurface
Group Developments
All Other for Which Permit is Required

$500 + $20 per lot or structure
$500 + $20 per space
$200 + $20 per lot or structure
$500 + $20 per lot or structure
$500 + $20 per lot or structure
$500 + true cost of professional services (see below)
$200 + true cost of professional services (see below)
$500 + true cost of professional services (see below)
$500
$500 + Actual Cost
$200
$500 + true cost of professional services (see below)
$0
$250
$500 + true cost of professional services (see below)

Fee
$50 per candidate / campaign + $250 reimbursable
bond
$100
$200
$1,000
$100
$250
$0
$50 + 200 reimbursable bonds
$50
$50 per sign
$50

Miscellaneous Fees
Code Enforcement Abatement Administrative Fee
Re‐inspection Fee (failed zoning inspections)
Custom Mapping
8.5”x11” – 11”x17” (1 sheet)
8.5”x11” – 11”x17” (>1 sheet)
Color Printing / Photocopying
Larger than 11”x17”
8.5”x11” – 11”x17” (1 sheet)
Black & White Printing /
8.5”x11” – 11”x17” (>1 sheet)
Photocopying
Larger than 11”x17”
Sidewalk Fee in Lieu
Fees in Lieu
Stormwater Fee in Lieu
Parking
Performance Guarantee: The Administrator, in consultation with the City
Manager and City Attorney, may accept a performance guarantee / surety
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Fee
$250
$50
$40 Per Hour + cost of map (see below)
No Fee
50 cents per page
$25 per copy
No Fee
10 cents per page
$25 per copy
Actual Cost x 1.25%
Actual Cost x 1.25%
$14,500 Per Parking Space
Actual Cost x % As Set Forth in Chapter 16,
UDO
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ATTACHMENT B
City of Brevard
Fiscal Year 2020-2021
Schedule of Taxes, Fees, and Charges

GENERAL FUND
bond for public improvements associated with any development.
Performance guarantees shall be prepared and administered in accordance
with the Procedure for the Installation & Dedication of Public
Improvements.
Professional Services: The Administrator may secure the services of a qualified professional (e.g., licensed architect,
attorney, engineer, landscape architect, arborist, surveyor, or planner) in the review of any application. Professional
services purposes include but are not limited to: the review of floodplain development proposals, proposed public
infrastructure or stormwater systems, traffic impact analyses, specialized legal services, and etc. The actual cost of
professional services shall be the responsibility of the applicant. The applicant shall be informed in advance of the City’s
intention to secure professional services. The applicant shall be provided any and all reports generated by qualified
professionals, and copies of all statements / receipts. The applicant shall reimburse the City for professional services
expenditures prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy or final zoning / project approval.

Traffic Violations
Parking Ticket

$25 per violation

Fire Hydrant, Fire Lane Obstruction

$50

Vehicle Towing

True cost of towing.

Departmental Cost of Service Fees for Special Events & Temporary Uses
The following fees are intended to recoup cost for the delivery of services in support of Special Events, Temporary Uses, and
unique emergency situations (including but not limited to bomb threats, hazardous materials events, manhunts, and other
unique calls for service). The specific mechanism and timing of fee recovery will be determined by the applicable department
heads on a case‐by‐case basis.
Fire Department Inspections for City Permits

Fee

Carnivals / Fairs

$100 per event

Explosives

$50 per 48 hours or $100 per 30 days

Use of Outdoor Fireworks (Does not include standby apparatus or
personnel)
Open Burning & Open Flame Use

$50

Pyrotechnics Special Effects

$50

Fireworks Tent

$300 per 30 days

Assembly Tent

$75 per 30 days

$100 per event

Fire Department, Deployment of Personnel, Apparatus & Equipment Fee
Officer

$35 per hour

Firefighter

$30 per hour

Light Duty Quick Response Vehicle / Boat / Support Vehicle

$20 per hour

Fire Engine

$200 per hour

Rescue Truck

$250 per hour

Ladder Truck

$300 per hour

Public Services Department, Deployment of Personnel & Equipment

Fee

Special Dumpster Service

$50

Police Department, Deployment of Personnel & Equipment

Fee

Officer

$25 per hour
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ORDINANCE NO. 2021-_____
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE SCHEDULE OF TAXES, FEES, AND CHARGES, AND
THE CODE OF ORDINANCES CHAPTERS 42 AND 46
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard Planning Board and Planning Department Staff have
recommended that the Brevard Schedule of Taxes, Fees, and Charges and the City Code of
Ordinances, Chapters 42 and 46, be amended to regulate the usage of sidewalks for
sidewalk dining areas, display of merchandise, and placement of permanent and
semipermanent obstructions.; and,
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard finds that the proposed
amendment is generally consistent with the City of Brevard Comprehensive Plan; and,

WHEREAS, a legislative public hearing was conducted on Tuesday, January 19, 2021,
by Brevard City Council, and, after hearing all persons wishing to comment, and upon
review and consideration of the proposed amendments, it is the desire of the City Council
of the City of Brevard that Brevard City Code of Ordinances be amended as outlined below.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA THAT:

SECTION 01. Brevard City Code of Ordinances, Chapters 42 and 46 are hereby
amended as depicted in Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by
reference.

SECTION 02. Brevard Schedule of Taxes, Fees, and Charges is hereby amended as
depicted in Exhibit B, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.
SECTION 03. As to any conflict between this Ordinance and any parts of existing
ordinances, the provisions of this Ordinance shall control.

SECTION 04. If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or
portion of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of
competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed severable and such holding shall not
affect the validity of the remaining portions hereof.
SECTION 05. This Ordinance shall be in full force and in effect from and after the
date of its adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved upon second reading this the 19th day of January, 2021.
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ATTEST:

Jimmy Harris
Mayor

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk
APPROVED AS TO FORM:
Michael K. Pratt
City Attorney
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STAFF REPORT
City Council, Tuesday, January 19, 2021
Title:

Speaker:
Prepared by:
Approved by:

TXT-20-014: UDO Chapter 4 Text Amendment
City Council will hear a proposed text amendment that would
allow new lots to be subdivided off of private streets.
Aaron Bland, AICP, Assistant Planning Director
Aaron Bland, AICP, Assistant Planning Director
Jim Fatland, City Manager

Background
The Planning Department has received an application for a text amendment (Attachment
A) to allow privately-maintained streets to satisfy the required street frontage for new
subdivisions. Anecdotally, whether or not the City allows subdivisions off of private streets
has been a somewhat frequent inquiry of the Planning Department over the years.

Currently, the City’s Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Section 4.4 requires that “All
subdivisions of land (i.e., parcels, lots, tracts, or other subdivisions of land), including
condominium lots, shall directly abut and have direct frontage upon a public street.” A
“public street” must be built and operational; unopened rights-of-way do not satisfy this
requirement. In the General Residential district, the frontage requirement is 30 feet.

Discussion
The requirement for frontage on a public street is intended to ensure safe and reliable
access for public services such as garbage pickup and emergency service vehicles such as
fire trucks. Concerns for the long-term maintenance of private streets has led the City to
keep this requirement for many years, as streets maintained by the City or NCDOT are
much less likely to fall into disrepair.

Staff and Planning Board have created a draft amendment (Attachment B) that allows for
privately maintained roads to satisfy the road frontage requirement. Private roads, rightsof-way, and access easements less than 100 feet in length can have up to 3 lots subdivided
off of them; these would be required to be 16 feet wide but no standards for the surface
material. Private roads over 100 feet in length would be required to be 16 feet in width and
also paved, and could have up to 8 lots subdivided off of them. This maximum number of 8
lots was chosen to match other trigger points of the UDO regarding single-family
residential developments. All such new lots would still be required to have 30 feet of
frontage on the private roads.
The proposed draft amendment would only allow this new provision in the General
Residential 4 zoning district, which is the zoning district for the vast majority of the ETJ. A
map of GR4 properties, shown in green, is included as Attachment C.

While this section of the UDO was up for discussion due to this request, Staff also proposed
to Planning Board that outparcels be allowed without frontage on streets in the General
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Industrial zoning district. Outparcels are small separate plots of land within a larger
development that are reserved for future construction of buildings, the selling of which
provides liquidity for the developer. Staff believes it is advantageous to allow outparcels in
General Industrial so the City’s limited industrially-zoned land is as flexible and usable as
possible for developers and industrial employers. Planning Board supported this change.
Policy Analysis
The 2015 Comprehensive Plan calls for allowing greater utilization of land:

OBJECTIVE 4.1: Increased efficiency of land uses to help stabilize and grow the City’s tax base.
POLICY 4.1.A: Evaluate and amend development ordinances to facilitate infill
development on vacant and under-developed parcels, as well as revitalization of
developed parcels.
The Plan does not address private roads but does mention gated communities:
POLICY 4.2.D: Prohibit gated communities to foster community and maintain
connectivity between neighborhoods.
Recommendation
The Planning Board discussed this request at their November and December meetings,
ultimately voting unanimously to recommend the attached draft (Attachment B). The
Board did have concerns over how to ensure that private roads are adequately maintained
to allow quick and easy emergency vehicle access in perpetuity.
Staff recommends approval as presented in Attachment B.

In accordance with North Carolina General Statutes the Planning Board also submits to City
Council a statement analyzing the consistency of this proposal with regards to existing
policies and plans of the City of Brevard. This Statement of Consistency is included as
Attachment D.
Council has the following options in response to this request:
1. Adoption of the amendment as presented;
2. Adoption of the amendment as revised by City Council; or
3. Rejection of the amendment.

Attachments
A. Application Materials
B. Recommended Draft Amendment Text
C. Map of GR4 Properties (shown in green)
D. Consistency Statement
E. Enacting Ordinance
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4.4. - Frontage on a public street Street frontage required.
A.

A public street is any road, street, alley, or other travel lane that is under the ownership, control, and
maintenance of the City of Brevard, the State of North Carolina, or the United States of America.

B.

Access, utility, service, or other easements under the ownership, control, or maintenance of City of
Brevard, the State of North Carolina, or the United States of America shall not be considered public
streets for the purposes of satisfying street frontage requirements.

C.

Public rights-of-way under the ownership and control of the City of Brevard, the State of North Carolina,
or the United States of America, which are not open and operable as a travel lane for motorized
vehicles shall not be considered public streets for the purposes of satisfying street frontage
requirements, but shall be protected from encroachment in accordance with Section 4.3(C), above.

D.

All subdivisions of land (i.e., parcels, lots, tracts, or other subdivisions of land), including condominium
lots, shall directly abut and have direct frontage upon a public publicly-maintained street. Street
frontage shall meet the minimum requirements set forth in Chapter 2.

E.

In no case shall a new parcel, lot, tract, condominium, lot or space, or other subdivision of land be
created that does not conform to the public street frontage requirements of this ordinance, except as
otherwise provided herein. Private streets, rights-of-way or access easements shall not be permitted
in lieu of public street frontage requirements contained herein except as allowed below
1.

Residential single-family developments in General Residential – 4 (GR4) zoning districts
a. Privately-maintained streets, rights-of-way, or access easements of less than 100 linear feet in
length may satisfy frontage requirements for up to 3 single-family lots, provided they consist of a
drivable surface of at least 16 feet in width.
b. Privately-maintained streets 100 linear feet or greater in length may satisfy frontage requirements
for up to 8 single-family lots, provided they consist of a paved surface of at least 16 feet in width.
c. All such privately-maintained streets, rights-of-way, or access easements must remain
adequately maintained to afford a reasonable means of ingress and egress of emergency
vehicles.

F.

Exceptions to street frontage requirements: Following are standards whereby certain uses are
excepted from the street frontage requirements contained herein:
1.

Commercial, industrial, and institutional group developments, and manufactured home
parksdevelopments in General Industrial zoning districts: Private streets, right-of-way, and access
easements may be permittedSubdivisions for the creation of outparcels within the foregoing
developments may be allowed without frontage on a public street. provided that no subdivision of
land or buildings into separate lots is proposed. Private streets, right-of-way, and access
easements shall be upgraded to meet the city's street requirements and shall be dedicated to the
City of Brevard as part of any proposed subdivision of land within such developments, when the
proposed lots would not otherwise comply with Section 4.4(E), above.

2.

Residential multi-family developments: Private streets, right-of-way, and access easements may
be permitted within the foregoing developments proposing no more than four principal structures,
each containing no more than four dwelling units in each structure, and for which no subdivision
activity or condominium buildings or lots are proposed.

3.

Condominium lots and condominium buildings:
a.
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4.

b.

No condominium lot shall be situated more than 100 feet from a public street. This distance
shall be considered a maximum distance that is in keeping with the public health and safety,
which shall not be varied or extended.

c.

Condominium lots that are separated from a public street by common space shall be serviced
by a private access easement or private right-of-way that directly connects to the nearest
public street. No more than four condominium lots or spaces shall be serviced by the same
private access easement or right-of-way.

d.

Private streets, right-of-way, and access easements serving condominium lots and buildings
shall be no longer than 100 feet as measured from the intersection of the centerlines of the
public street and the private easement or right-of-way. Parking for condominium lots not
accessed by a public street shall be accessed by such private access easements or private
rights-of-way.

e.

These provisions shall only apply to subdivisions of land for the creation of condominium lots
and condominium buildings, and shall not be applied to any other form of subdivision of land.

Pre-existing lots without adequate street frontage:
a.

On parcels of land that do not front upon a public street ("landlocked parcels") or that
otherwise do not meet frontage requirements of this ordinance, only one "by right" use or
structure, along with related accessory uses or structures, shall be. No subdivision activity
shall be permitted on parcels of land that do not meet the street frontage requirements of
this ordinance. This requirement shall apply regardless of the size of the landlocked or
otherwise non-compliant parcel.

b.

In such cases the administrator shall require evidence of the presence of a deeded right-ofway or other access easement prior to the issuance of any permit.

c.

The administrator may permit the establishment of a private right-of-way or access easement
in order to facilitate access to pre-existing land-locked parcels. However, the provision of
such private access shall not be considered satisfaction of the requirement that all lots front
upon a public street.

5.

Additional private access, when all frontage requirements are met: The administrator may permit
the establishment of additional private rights-of-way or access easements to properties that
otherwise conform to public street frontage requirements of this ordinance.

6.

[Rolling services:] The point of contact for "rolling services" of the city (i.e., garbage, recycling,
etc.) shall be at the public street, i.e., the intersection of the public street and private right-of-way
or easement. Rolling services shall not be provided along newly created private streets, right-ofway, or access easements created after the enactment of this ordinance.

7.

[Designed and built in accordance with public street standards:] All newly created private streets,
right-of-way, and access easements except those authorized under Section 4.4(F(4)), above,
shall be designed and built in accordance with public street standards set forth in Chapter 13 of
this ordinance.

8.

[Relation to private streets:] Buildings shall be oriented and situated in relation to private streets
so that they conform to all applicable requirements for public streets, such that private streets
could be accepted as public streets.

9.

[Additional requirements/conditions:] In addition to any other applicable requirements set forth in
this ordinance, the approving entity may impose such conditions, including but not limited to, the
provision of access easements to the City of Brevard, as are necessary to ensure the adequate
provision of public services.

(Ord. No. 8-07, § 1(F, G), 5-21-07; Ord. No. 15-08, §§ 12, 13, 12-5-08)
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LIST OF MAP AMENDMENTS:
April 3, 2006, Ordinance 08-06, Effective Date
May 7, 2007, Ordinance 05-07, French Broad Place
May 21, 2007, Ordinance 07-07, Gravely
September 17, 2007, Ordinance 12-07, Cowart/Conley
October 5, 2007, Ordinance 14-07, Brevard Community Church
December 3, 2007, Ordinance 20-07, Morris Road
March 17, 2008, Ordinance 04-08, Bridges
February 2, 2009, Ordinance 03-09, Davidson River Village
June 15, 2009, Ordinance 11-09, Brevard Music Center
June 15, 2009, Ordinance 12-09, Transylvania Regional Hospital
June 15, 2009, Ordinance 13-09, Broad River Terrace
July 6, 2009, Ordinance 16-09, Duvall
May 17, 2010, Ordinance 09-10, ETJ Extension
January 24, 2011, Ordinance 08-2011, Habitat for Humanity
March 7, 2011, Ordinance 09-2011, Gardens at English Village
April 18, 2011, Ordinance 10-2011, Cottages at Brevard
June 20, 2011, Ordinance 13-2011, The Family Place at Trans. County
February 20, 2012, Ordinance 2012-05, SAFE, Inc.
March 18, 2013, Ordinance 2013-02, Jennings Industrial Park
May 20, 2013, Ordinance 2013-05, Brenton
April 21, 2014, Ordinance 2014-07, Brevard College
September 15, 2014, Ordinance 2014-21, Brevard Place
March 2, 2015, Ordinance 2015-01, Bryson
April 20, 2015, Ordinance 2015-09, Corridor Sign Overlay
May 10, 2015, Ordinance 2015-10, Lockhart
November 16, 2015, Ordinance 2015-32, Corridor Sign Overlay
November 16, 2015, Ordinance 2015-34, Bawden
June 20, 2016, Ordinance 2016-15, Challenge Foundation
August 15, 2016, Ordinance 2016-22, Asheville Hwy
August 15, 2016, Ordinance 2016-23, 600 Ecusta Road
January 17, 2017, Ordinance 2017-01, 630 Ecusta Road
April 16, 2018, Ordinance 2018-08, Rosman Hwy
May 20, 2019, Ordinance 2019-11, Bridges
May 20, 2019, Ordinance 2019-12, Bryson
October 21, 2019, Ordinance 2019-24, Builders First Source
November 18, 2019, Ordinance 2019-26, Silversteen & Tannery Parks
February 17, 2020, Ordinance 2020-04, Downtown Development Overlay
June 29, 2020, Ordinance 2020-10, Mountain Industrial Drive
September 21, 2020, Ordinance 2020-18, Tore's Home Independent Living
NCCGIA, NC Center for Geographic Information & Analysis

City of Brevard Zoning

Streets

Districts

Corporate City Limits

General Industrial

Regulatory Jurisdiction

Corridor Mixed Use

Parcels

Downtown Mixed Use

Pisgah National Forest

Neighborhood Mixed Use

Special Flood Hazard Area

Residential Mixed Use
General Residential (8)
General Residential (4)

*Note: The Special Flood Hazard Area is shown for informational purposes only.
Please refer to the Flood Insurance Study (FIS), the Flood Insurance Rate
Maps (FIRMs) for Transylvania County, NC and Incorporated Areas, dated
October 2, 2009, or the online Flood Risk Information System (FRIS) at
https://fris.nc.gov/fris/ for site-specific flood hazard information.

I hereby certify that this is the Official Zoning Map of the City of
Brevard, NC, referred to in Chatper 1, Section 1.1 & 1.11 of the
City of Brevard Unified Development Ordinance, adopted by the
Brevard City Council on April 3, 2006 and subsequently amended.
Jimmy Harris, Mayor

Date

Jill Murray, City Clerk

Date

Institutional Campus

Official Zoning Map
City of Brevard,
North Carolina

μ

Date: September 22, 2020
City of Brevard Planning Department
95 West Main Street, Brevard, NC

Special District
Special District Overlay
Corridor Sign Overlay District
Manufactured Home Overlay District
Downtown Development Overlay District
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COMMENT OF CONSISTENCY WITH COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
AND ANY OTHER OFFICIALLY ADOPTED APPLICABLE PLANS
TXT-20-014
NCGS 160D-605 requires that the Planning Board shall advise and comment on whether the
proposed amendment is consistent with any comprehensive plan prior to consideration by the
governing board. The planning board shall provide a written recommendation to the
governing board that addresses plan consistency and other matters as deemed appropriate by
the planning board, but a comment by the planning board that a proposed amendment is
inconsistent with the comprehensive plan shall not preclude consideration or approval of the
proposed amendment by the governing board.
The Board forwards this recommendation to City Council with a finding that the proposed
zoning map amendment is consistent with the following adopted plans and policies of the
City of Brevard:
Comprehensive Plan:

OBJECTIVE 4.1: Increased efficiency of land uses to help stabilize and grow the
City’s tax base.
POLICY 4.1.A: Evaluate and amend development ordinances to facilitate
infill development on vacant and under-developed parcels, as well as
revitalization of developed parcels.

Description of Consistency: Allowing for subdivisions of large lots on private roads into
smaller lots for the purpose of building single-family housing allows for greater utilization
of the limited buildable land in the City’s jurisdiction.
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ORDINANCE NO. 2021-_____
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE
CHAPTER 4 – GENERAL LOT AND STRUCTURE PROVISIONS TO ALLOW PRIVATE
STREETS TO SATISFY ROAD FRONTAGE REQUIREMENTS IN THE GENERAL
RESIDENTIAL 4 ZONING DISTRICT
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard Planning Board has recommended that Brevard City
Code, Unified Development Ordinance, Chapter 4 – General Lot and Structure Provisions be
amended; and,

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard finds that the proposed
amendment is consistent with the following elements of the City of Brevard Comprehensive
Plan:
OBJECTIVE 4.1: Increased efficiency of land uses to help stabilize and grow the City’s
tax base.

POLICY 4.1.A: Evaluate and amend development ordinances to facilitate infill
development on vacant and under-developed parcels, as well as revitalization
of developed parcels.
and,

WHEREAS, a public hearing was conducted on Tuesday, January 19, 2021, by the
Brevard City Council, and, after hearing all persons wishing to comment, and upon review
and consideration of the proposed amendments, it is the desire of the City Council of the
City of Brevard that Brevard City Code, Unified Development Ordinance be amended as
outlined below.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA THAT:

SECTION 01. Brevard City Code, Unified Development Ordinance Chapter 4 is
hereby amended as depicted in Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein
by reference.
SECTION 02. As to any conflict between this Ordinance and any parts of existing
ordinances, the provisions of this Ordinance shall control.

SECTION 03. If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or
portion of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of
competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed severable and such holding shall not
affect the validity of the remaining portions hereof.
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SECTION 04. This Ordinance shall be in full force and in effect from and after the
date of its adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved upon first reading this the 19th day of January, 2021.

ATTEST:

Jimmy Harris
Mayor

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk
APPROVED AS TO FORM:
Michael K. Pratt
City Attorney
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H-4. Proposed Amendments to City of Brevard Code of Ordinances &
UDO, Mainly UDO Chapter 16-Administration.

This item has been cancelled but since we had already advertised, we didn’t take it off of the agenda. It
will be removed at the Council meeting. They are not quite ready to complete this yet.
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J-1. Update of Covid-19 Vaccinations from Elaine Russell,
Transylvania County Health Director

Elaine is unable to make it and Jaime Laughter will be presenting.
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City of Brevard
North Carolina

AUDIT WRAP UP
January 15, 2021

The following communication was prepared as part of our audit, has consequential limitations,
and is intended solely for the information and use of those charged with governance (e.g.,
Governing Board and Audit Committee) and, if appropriate, management of the Government and
is not intended and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.
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January 15, 2021
To the Members of City Council
City of Brevard, North Carolina
Professional standards require us to communicate with you regarding matters related to the
audit, that are, in our professional judgment, significant and relevant to your
responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. On April 7, 2020, we
presented in the engagement letter an overview of our plan for the audit of the financial
statements of the City of Brevard (the City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020,
including a summary of our overall objectives for the audit, and the nature, scope, and
timing of the planned audit work.
This communication is intended to elaborate on the significant findings from our audit,
including our views on the qualitative aspects of the City’s accounting practices and
policies, management’s judgments and estimates, financial statement disclosures, and
other required matters.
We are pleased to be of service to the City and look forward to meeting with you to discuss
our audit findings, as well as other matters that may be of interest to you, and to answer
any questions you might have.
Respectfully,

An Independent Member of the BDO Alliance

Asheville, North Carolina

100 Coxe Avenue | Asheville, NC 28801 | P 828.258.0363 | F 828.252.0528 | www.gk-cpa.com
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Page
Status of Our Audit ............................................................................................................... 1
Results of Our Audit .............................................................................................................. 2
Internal Control over Financial Reporting ..................................................................................... 3
Other Required Communications ............................................................................................... 4
Independence Communication .................................................................................................. 5
Significant Accounting & Reporting Matters .................................................................................. 6

Page 60 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 19, 2021

Status of Our Audit
We have completed our audit of the financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020. Our audit
was conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
Government Auditing Standards. This audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or those
charged with governance of their responsibilities.
y

The objective of our audit was to obtain reasonable - not absolute - assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatements.

y

The scope of the work performed was substantially the same as that described to you in our engagement
letter.

y

We have issued an unmodified opinions on the financial statements and released our report dated
January 15, 2021.

y

Our responsibility for other information in documents contained in the City’s audited financial statements
(e.g. management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparisons, schedules of pension amounts) does
not extend beyond the financial information identified in the audit report, and we are not required to
perform procedures to corroborate such other information. However, in accordance with professional
standards, we have read the information included by the City and considered whether such information, or
the manner of its presentation, was materially inconsistent with its presentation in the financial
statements. Our responsibility also includes calling to management’s attention any information that we
believe is a material misstatement of fact. We have not identified any material inconsistencies or
concluded there are any material misstatements of facts in the other information that management has
chosen not to correct.

y

All records and information requested by GK were freely available for our inspection.

y

Management’s cooperation was excellent. We received full access to all information that we requested
while performing our audit, and we acknowledge the full cooperation extended to us by all levels of City of
Brevard personnel throughout the course of our work. There was a delay in receiving the actuarial report
for the City’s OPEB plan, which delayed the review of the financial statements by the City’s outside CPE
and the completion of the audit. The City also hired an outside CPA to oversee the auditor’s non-audit
services, including review and approval of proposed audit adjustments and the audited financial
statements.

Page 61 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

1
January 19, 2021
AUDIT WRAP-UP – JUNE 30, 2020

Results of Our Audit
QUALITATIVE ASPECTS OF ACCOUNTING PRACTICES
The following summarizes the more significant required communications related to our audit concerning the
City’s accounting practices, policies, and estimates:
The City’s significant accounting practices and policies are those included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. These accounting practices and policies are appropriate, comply with generally accepted
accounting principles and industry practice, were consistently applied, and are adequately described within
Note 1 to the financial statements.
y

A summary of recently issued accounting pronouncements is included in the Significant Accounting and
Reporting Matters section of this report.

y

No other changes were made to significant accounting policies and procedures during the fiscal year.

y

We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the fiscal year for which there is a lack of
authoritative guidance or consensus.

y

All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based
on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future
events. Significant estimates are those that require management’s most difficult, subjective, or complex
judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effects of matters that are inherently
uncertain. The City’s most significant accounting estimates were:
Significant accounting estimates include:
Depreciation methods as described in the Notes to the financial statements,
Allowances for uncollectible receivables, which are based upon management’s judgments and the aging
of receivables that may by uncollectible, and
Pension obligations, which are based on actuarial assumptions and methods, as well as the allocation of
the overall plan data between the plan participants, and
Other post-employment benefits obligations, which are based on actuarial assumptions and methods.
y

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the significant estimates in determining
that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

y

Management did not make any significant changes to the processes or significant assumptions used to
develop the significant accounting estimates in FY 2020.

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.

CORRECTED AND UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS
We have proposed several adjustments which have been made by management. Most of these are normal
closing entries which arise during our audit based on information provided to us by management. We assist
management with these adjustments, but do not consider them to be material because by nature, they are
closing entries that management would have prepared and posted.
However, we do consider some of our proposed adjustments to be material adjustments. These are
adjustments that would have materially misstated the financial statements if not corrected by us during the
audit for financial presentation purposes. A list of all audit adjustments is available upon request. The City has
an outside CPA to oversee the our non-audit services of preparing the financial statements. The outside CPA
reviewed and approved the proposed audit adjustments and the audited financial statements for
reasonableness and accuracy based on trial balances and related documentation.
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Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered City of Brevard’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal control.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described above and was not designed to
identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.
We are required to communicate, in writing, to those charged with governance all material weaknesses and
significant deficiencies that have been identified in the City’s internal controls over financial reporting. The
definitions of control deficiency, significant deficiency and material weakness follow:
Category

Definition

Deficiency in Internal
Control

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a
control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis.

Significant Deficiency

A deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control that is less
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by
those charged with governance.

Material Weakness

A deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the
Government’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected on a timely basis.

In conjunction with our audit, we noted no material weaknesses in internal control.
There is a material weakness noted with the State major program tested. Refer to page 92 in the financial
statement.
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Other Required Communications
Following is a summary of other required items, along with specific discussion points as they pertain to the
City:
Requirement

Discussion Points

Significant changes to planned
audit strategy or significant risks
initially identified

There were no significant changes to the planned audit strategy or
significant risks initially identified and previously communicated to
those charged with governance.

Obtain information from those
charged with governance relevant
to the audit

There were no matters noted relevant to the audit, including, but not
limited to: violations or possible violations of laws or regulations; risk
of material misstatements, including fraud risks; or tips or complaints
regarding the Government’s financial reporting that we were made
aware of as a result of our inquiry of those charged with governance.

If applicable, nature and extent of
specialized skills or knowledge
needed related to significant risks

There were no specialized skills or knowledge needed, outside of the
core engagement team, to perform the planned audit procedures or
evaluate audit results related to significant risks.

Consultations with other
accountants

We are not aware of any consultations about accounting or auditing
matters between management and other independent public
accountants. Nor are we aware of opinions obtained by management
from other independent public accountants on the application of
generally accepted accounting principles. The City hired an outside
CPA to oversee the auditor’s non-audit services, including review and
approval of proposed audit adjustments and the audited financial
statements.

Disagreements with management

There were no disagreements with management about matters,
whether or not satisfactorily resolved, that individually or in aggregate
could be significant to the Government’s financial statements or to our
auditor’s report.

Significant difficulties
encountered during the audit

Other than a delay in revision of the actuarial report on the OPEB plan
that caused a restatement in 2020, there were no significant difficulties
encountered during the audit.

If applicable, other matters
significant to the oversight of the
Government’s financial reporting
process, including complaints or
concerns regarding accounting or
auditing matters

There are no other matters that we consider significant to the oversight
of the Government’s financial reporting process that have not been
previously communicated.

Representations requested from
management

Please refer to the management representation letter obtained from
management.
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Independence Communication
Our engagement letter to you dated April 7, 2020 describes our responsibilities in accordance with
professional standards with regard to independence and the performance of our services. This letter
also stipulates the responsibilities of the City with respect to independence as agreed to by the City.
Please refer to that letter for further information
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Significant Accounting & Reporting Matters
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has recently issued a new standard. We do not
expect the new standard to have a significant effect on the City’s future financial reporting.
Recently issued statement is as follows:
x

GASB No. 87 “Leases” -- This Statement requires recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities
for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources
or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract requirements. This new
requirement increases the usefulness of governmental financial statements. It establishes a single
model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the
right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease
liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease
receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of
information about governmental leasing activities. The new standard brings governmental GAAP in
line with GAAP for private and public companies, effective for fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.
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City of Brevard, North Carolina
Financial Statements
Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Honorable Mayor and Members
of the City Council
City of Brevard
Brevard, North Carolina

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City of Brevard, North Carolina, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements
as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not
audit the financial statements of the City of Brevard ABC Board, which represents 100 percent of the
assets, net position, and revenues of the discretely presented component unit. Those financial statements
were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates
to the amounts included for the City of Brevard ABC Board, is based solely on the report of the other
auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. The financial statements of the City of Brevard ABC Board were not audited in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

Opinions
In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Brevard, North Carolina, as of June 30, 2020, and the
respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where appropriate, thereof and the budgetary
comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 through 13, the Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation
Allowance Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability and Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of
Covered Payroll on page 60, the Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Asset (Liability) and Related Ratios
and Contributions on pages 61 and 62, the Local Government Employees’ Retirement System’s
Schedules of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Contributions, on pages 63
and 64, respectively, and the Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund’s Schedule of the
Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability on page 65 be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Supplementary and Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the basic financial statements of the City of Brevard, North Carolina. The combining and
individual fund statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules, and the Schedule of Expenditures of
Federal and State Awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and
the State Single Audit Implementation Act, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a
required part of the basic financial statements.
The combining and individual fund statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules and the ScKedule of
Expenditures of Federal and State Awards are the responsibility of management and were derived from
and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, based on our
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audit the procedures performed as described above, the combining and individual fund statements,
budgetary schedules, other schedules, and the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards are
fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 15,
2021 on our consideration of the City of Brevard’s internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other
matters. The purpose of the report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Brevard’s internal control
over financial reporting and compliance.

Asheville, North Carolina
January 15, 2021
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
As management of the City of Brevard, we offer readers of the City’s financial statements this
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2020. We encourage readers to read the information presented here in conjunction with additional
information that we have furnished in the City of Brevard’s financial statements, which follow this
narrative.
Financial Highlights
x
x

x

x

x
x

The assets and deferred outflows of the City of Brevard exceeded its liabilities and
deferred inflows at the close of the fiscal year by $30,008,407 (net position).
The City’s total net position increased by $1,250,714 primarily due to diligent
management of the budget. In addition, net position increased due to land donated from
the Hospital Corporation of America (HCA) for the Brevard Dog Park, land donated
from Bethel “A” Church Board of Trustees for Silversteen Park, and land donated from
Mary C. Jenkins Foundation Board of Trustees for the Mary C. Jenkins Center.
As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Brevard’s governmental funds
reported combined ending fund balances of $5,961,818, a decrease of $534,983, in
comparison with the prior year. Approximately 44% of this total amount, or $2,612,102
is nonspendable or restricted.
At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was
$1,660,220. This represents approximately 19% of total general fund expenditures for
the fiscal year. However, the City has changed its processes in collecting its own
property taxes versus using the County. This change has significantly improved the
timeliness of property tax collections and improved the City’s cash flow position earlier
in the City’s fiscal year period.
Outstanding direct placement governmental installment obligations increased by
$166,299. The City borrowed $395,112 to purchase new capital equipment during the
year, and principal of $228,813 was repaid.
Outstanding direct placement installment and revolving loan debt in the Water and
Sewer Fund decreased by $638,477. The City Borrowed $670,806 to purchase new
capital equipment, and principal of $1,309,283 was repaid.

Overview of the Financial Statements
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Brevard’s basic
financial statements. The City’s basic financial statements consist of three components; 1)
government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial
statements (see Figure 1). The basic financial statements present two different views of the City
through the use of government-wide statements and fund financial statements. In addition to the basic
financial statements, this report contains other supplemental information that will enhance the reader’s
understanding of the financial condition of the City of Brevard.
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Required Components of Annual Financial Report
Figure 1

Management’s

Basic

Discussion and

Financial

Analysis

Statements

Government-wide

Fund

Notes to the

Financial

Financial

Financial Statements

Statements

Statements

Summary

Detail

Basic Financial Statements
The first two statements (Exhibits 1 and 2) in the basic financial statements are the Government-wide
Financial Statements. They provide both short and long-term information about the City of Brevard’s
financial status.
The next statements (Exhibits 3 through 11) are Fund Financial Statements. These statements focus on
the activities of the individual parts of the City’s government. These statements provide more detail than
the government-wide statements. There are four parts to the Fund Financial Statements: 1) the
governmental funds statements; 2) the budgetary comparison statements, 3) the proprietary fund
statements and 4) the fiduciary fund statements.
The next section of the basic financial statements is the notes. The notes to the financial statements
explain in detail some of the data contained in those statements. After the notes, individual fund
statements and schedules are provided to show details about the City’s individual funds. Budgetary
information required by the General Statutes also can be found in this part of the statements.
Government-Wide Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide the reader with a broad overview of
the City’s finances, similar in format to a financial statement of a private-sector business. The
government-wide statements provide short and long-term information about the City’s financial status as
a whole.
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The two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how they have changed. Net
position is the difference between the City’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources and total
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Measuring net position is one way to gauge the City’s
financial condition.
The government-wide statements are divided into three categories: 1) governmental activities; 2)
business-type activities; and 3) component units. The governmental activities include most of the City’s
basic services such as public safety, parks and recreation, and general administration. Property taxes,
sales taxes and grant funds finance most of these activities. The business-type activities are those that the
City charges customers to provide. These include the water and sewer services offered by the City of
Brevard. The final category is the component unit. Although legally separate from the City of Brevard,
the ABC Store is important to the City because the City exercises control over the Board by appointing its
members and because the Board is required to distribute 75% of its profits to the City.
The government-wide financial statements are on Exhibits 1 and 2 of this report.
Fund Financial Statements
The fund financial statements (see Figure 2) provide a more detailed look at the City’s most significant
activities. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that
have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Brevard, like all other governmental
entities in North Carolina, uses fund accounting to ensure and reflect compliance (or non-compliance)
with finance-related legal requirements, such as the General Statutes or the City’s budget ordinance. All
of the funds of the City of Brevard can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary
funds, and fiduciary funds.
Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for those functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Most of the City’s basic services
are accounted for in governmental funds. These funds focus on how assets can readily be converted into
cash flow in and out, and what monies are left at year-end that will be available for spending in the next
year. Governmental funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting
that provides a short-term spending focus. As a result, the governmental fund financial statements give
the reader a detailed short-term view that helps him or her determine if there are more or less financial
resources available to finance the City’s programs. The relationship between government activities
(reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is
described in a reconciliation that is a part of the fund financial statements.
The City of Brevard adopts an annual budget for its General Fund, as required by the General Statutes.
The budget is a legally adopted document that incorporates input from the citizens of the City, the
management of the City, and the decisions of the Council about which services to provide and how to pay
for them. It also authorizes the City to obtain funds from identified sources to finance these current
period activities. The budgetary statement provided for the General Fund demonstrates how well the City
complied with the budget ordinance and whether or not the City succeeded in providing the services as
planned when the budget was adopted. The budgetary comparison statement uses the budgetary basis of
accounting and is presented using the same format, language, and classifications as the legal budget
document. The statement shows four columns: 1) the original budget as adopted by the council; 2) the
final budget as amended by the council; 3) the actual resources, charges to appropriations, and ending
balances in the General Fund; and 4) the difference or variance between the final budget and the actual
resources and charges.
Proprietary Funds – The City of Brevard has two kinds of proprietary funds. Enterprise Funds are used
to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial
statements. The City uses an enterprise fund to account for its water and sewer operations. This fund is
the same as that function shown in the business-type activities in the Statement of Net Position and the
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Statement of Activities. Internal Service Funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate
costs internally among the functions of the City. The City uses an internal service fund to account for its
self-insured employee health insurance program. Because this operation benefits predominantly
governmental rather than business-type activities, the internal service fund has been included with the
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.
Fiduciary Funds – Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties
outside the government. The City of Brevard has two fiduciary funds: the OPEB reserve fund, which
holds accumulates and holds assets to pay current and future costs associated with retiree health care
benefits; and the T.L. Scruggs Scholarship fund, which accumulates donations and awards scholarships in
honor of former City employee T.L. Scruggs.
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to
the financial statements are on pages 26 through 59 of this report.
City of Brevard’s Net Position
Figure 2
Governmental Activities

Business-Type Activities

Total

Total

2020

Restated
2019

2020

Restated
2019

2020

Restated
2019

$ 7,231,082

$ 7,328,060

$ 1,613,422

$ 1,269,307

$ 8,844,504

$ 8,597,367

3%

9,179,324
16,410,406

7,423,243
14,751,303

36,588,170
38,201,592

36,728,508
37,997,815

45,767,494
54,611,998

44,151,751
52,749,118

4%
4%

Deferred outflows of resources

1,078,876

1,026,211

240,734

245,995

1,319,610

1,272,206

4%

Long-term liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

2,871,413
937,071

2,286,136
893,116

19,686,514
2,196,821

20,308,251
1,631,985

22,557,927
3,133,892

22,594,387
2,525,101

0%
24%

3,808,484

3,179,252

21,883,335

21,940,236

25,691,819

25,119,488

2%

195,019

128,430

36,363

15,713

231,382

144,143

61%

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
8,619,674
Restricted
2,225,421
Unrestricted
2,640,684
Total net position
$ 13,485,779

6,744,320
2,335,295
3,390,217
$ 12,469,832

16,127,595
395,033
$ 16,522,628

15,452,160
835,701
$ 16,287,861

24,747,269
2,225,421
3,035,717
$ 30,008,407

22,196,480
2,335,295
4,225,918
$ 28,757,693

11%
-5%
-28%
4%

Current and other assets
Capital assets
Total assets

Deferred inflows of resources

Percentage
Change

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as one useful indicator of a government’s financial
condition. The assets and deferred outflows of the City of Brevard exceeded liabilities and deferred
inflows by $30,008,407 as of June 30, 2020. The City’s net position increased by $1,250,714 for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. The largest portion (82.5%) of net position reflects the City’s investment
in capital assets, less any related debt still outstanding that was issued to acquire those items. The City of
Brevard uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not
available for future spending. Although the City of Brevard’s investment in its capital assets is reported
net of the outstanding related debt, the resources needed to repay that debt must be provided by other
sources, since the capital assets cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. An additional portion of the
City of Brevard’s net position (7.4%) represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how
they may be used. The remaining balance of $3,035,717 (10.1%) is unrestricted.
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Several particular aspects of the City’s financial operations influenced the total governmental net
position:
x Continued diligence in the collection of property taxes by maintaining a tax collection percentage
of 99.48% for the year ending June 30, 2020, property tax revenues increased slightly over the
prior year as a result of continued economic improvements leading to growth in the tax base.
x Despite sales tax decline in the 4th quarter from the COVID-19 pandemic, the overall local option
sales tax revenues for the year ended June 30, 2020 increased $132,883 or 7.8% mainly due to
strong local economy.
x Total expenses increased by $870,067 or 9.1%.
City of Brevard’s Changes in Net Position
Figure 3
Governmental Activities
Restated
2020
2019
Revenues
Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
General revenues:
Property taxes
Sales taxes
Other
Total revenues
Expenses
General government
Public safety
Public works
Economic and physical development
Culture and recreation
Interest on long-term debt
Water and sewer
Total expenses

Business-Type Activities
Restated
2020
2019

Total
2020

Restated
2019

$ 1,215,502
342,673
193,002

$ 1,281,825
363,401
62,173

$ 5,853,692
613,333

$ 5,750,281
-

$ 7,069,194
342,673
806,335

$ 7,032,106
363,401
62,173

5,716,271
1,837,898
1,005,277
10,310,623

5,524,675
1,705,015
1,172,749
10,109,838

6,467,025

5,750,281

5,716,271
1,837,898
1,005,277
16,777,648

5,524,675
1,705,015
1,172,749
15,860,119

1,943,446
4,276,281

1,692,322
3,616,692

-

-

1,943,446
4,276,281

1,692,322
3,616,692

3,395,164
138,645
258,275

3,273,411
498,324
55,398

-

-

3,395,164
138,645
258,275

3,273,411
498,324
55,398

17,632

23,229

-

-

17,632

23,229

6,312,258

5,851,716

6,312,258

5,851,716

5,851,716

16,341,701

15,011,092

435,947

849,027

-

-

10,029,443

9,159,376

6,312,258

281,180

950,462

154,767

(101,435)

Transfers

(80,000)

(200,000)

80,000

200,000

Special item

814,767

Increase in net position
before transfers and special item

Increase in net position
Net position, beginning
Net position, ending
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1,015,947

-

-

750,462

-

234,767

98,565

814,767
1,250,714

849,027

12,469,832

11,719,370

16,287,861

16,189,296

28,757,693

27,908,666

$ 13,485,779

$ 12,469,832

$ 16,522,628

$ 16,287,861

$ 30,008,407

$ 28,757,693
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Governmental activities. The City’s net position increased due to governmental activities by
$1,015,947. This increase can be attributed to repayment of property liens, increased ABC revenue, and
keeping departmental expenditures below budget and land donations.
Business-type activities: Business-type activities increased the City of Brevard’s net position by
$234,767. This increase can be attributed to revenue increases generated by a 4% rate increase.
Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds
As noted earlier, the City of Brevard uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related legal requirements.
Governmental Funds. The focus of the City of Brevard’s governmental funds is to provide information
on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of usable resources. Such information is useful in assessing
the City of Brevard’s financing requirements.
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City of Brevard. At the end of the current fiscal year,
available fund balance in the General Fund was $2,970,647, while total fund balance was $4,551,757.
City Council has determined that the City should maintain available fund balance of 25% of general fund
budgeted expenditures in case of unforeseen needs or opportunities, in addition to meeting the cash flow
needs of the City. The City currently has an available fund balance of 31.8% of general fund budgeted
expenditures, 29.5% of total adjusted expenditures (includes transfers less installment obligations
issued), and total fund balance represents 45.1% of total adjusted expenditures.
At June 30, 2020, the governmental funds of City of Brevard reported a combined fund balance of
$5,961,818 with a combined decrease of $534,983 which results from a $614,653 decrease in the General
Fund and a combined increase of $79,670 in the other governmental funds. The decrease in the General
Fund can be attributed primarily to departmental salary adjustments and transfers to various capital
project funds. The increase in other governmental funds can be attributed to budgeted transfers from the
general fund in the amount of $1,761,696.
Proprietary Funds. The City of Brevard’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found
in the government-wide statements but in more detail. Unrestricted net position of the Water and Sewer
District at the end of the fiscal year amounted to $395,033. Other factors concerning the finances of this
fund have already been addressed in the discussion of the City of Brevard’s business-type activities.
Budgetary Highlights. For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City of Brevard revised the overall budget
several times. Generally, budget amendments fall into one of three categories: 1) amendments made to
adjust the estimates that are used to prepare the original budget ordinance once exact information is
available; 2) amendments made to recognize new funding amounts from external sources, such as Federal
and State grants; and 3) increases in appropriations that become necessary to maintain services.
Capital Asset and Debt Administration
Capital assets. The City of Brevard’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business–type
activities as of June 30, 2020, totals $45,742,228 (net of accumulated depreciation). These assets include
land, construction in progress, buildings, infrastructure, equipment and vehicles.
Capital Asset Additions. Assets purchased included: a 2020 Freightliner garbage truck, WWTP SCADA
System and Sludge Compactor, PD Radio upgrade, Sanitation Dept. Dump Bed, and Recreation Dept.
ATV. There were no major demolitions or disposals recorded this fiscal year.
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City of Brevard’s Capital Assets
(net of depreciation)

Figure 4
Governmental Activities
2020
Land
Construction in progress
Buildings and infrastructure
Equipment
Vehicles and motorized equipment
Total capital assets

Business-Type Activities

2019

$

860,402
2,771,123
3,906,954
601,268
1,039,577
$ 9,179,324

$

397,687
1,579,161
3,842,448
679,243
924,704
$ 7,423,243

2020
$

212,891
794,058
34,300,914
1,072,930
182,111
$ 36,562,904

Total

2019

2020

212,891
35,088,439
1,322,260
104,918
$ 36,728,508

$ 1,073,293
3,565,181
38,207,868
1,674,198
1,221,688
$ 45,742,228

$

2019
$

610,578
1,579,161
38,930,887
2,001,503
1,029,622
$ 44,151,751

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note 5 of the Basic Financial
Statements.
Long-term Debt. As of June 30, 2020, the City of Brevard had no outstanding bonds. Installment
contract debt increased for both governmental activities and business-type activities due to new
borrowing for capital equipment. The City took on new installment debt of $395,112 and $670,806 in
governmental and business-type activities, respectively. The City continued to make principal payments
on existing debt, including $228,813 for governmental installment contracts, $99,497 for business-type
installment contracts, and $1,209,786 towards water and sewer revolving loans.
City of Brevard’s Outstanding Debt
Figure 5
Balance
June 30, 2019
Governmental Activities
Installment contracts
Total
Business-Type Activities
Installment contracts
Revolving loans
Total

Additions

Retirements

Balance
June 30, 2020

$

678,923

$

395,112

$

228,813

$

845,222

$

678,923

$

395,112

$

228,813

$

845,222

$

317,731
20,958,617

$

670,806
-

$

99,497
1,209,786

$

889,040
19,748,831

$

21,276,348

$

670,806

$

1,309,283

$

20,637,871

The City of Brevard continues to strive to strengthen its financial position by maintaining a strong fund
balance, reducing debt, and conservatively managing its budget.
North Carolina General Statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt that a unit of government can
issue to 8% of the total assessed value of taxable property located within that government’s boundaries.
The remaining legal debt margin for the City of Brevard is approximately $56 million. The City has no
bonds authorized or un-issued at June 30, 2020.
Additional information regarding the City of Brevard’s long-term debt can be found in Note 9 of the
Basic Financial Statements.

Page 81 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

10

January 19, 2021

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
City of Brevard

Pending LGC Approval

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates
The following key economic factors reflect the growth, prosperity and challenges facing the City of
Brevard.
x

Recent employment statistics are shown in the table below.
June 2020 Unemployment Rates
Labor
Number
Unemployment
County and State
Force
Unemployed
Rate
Transylvania
14,616
859
5.9%
Buncombe
133,498
12,991
9.7%
Henderson
50,873
3,827
7.5%
North Carolina
4,812,847
371,784
7.7%
Source: NC Department of Commerce – June 2020 Not Seasonally Adjusted

x

Tourism remains a vital and growing part of the Brevard economy. Domestic tourism in
Transylvania County generated an economic impact of $114.92 million for the calendar year
2019. This was a $8.6 million increase from 2018.
Transylvania County

Year

Tourism Revenue ($ millions)

% Growth (Decline)

2015

88.86

3%

2016

94.62

6%

2017

99.85

6%

2018

106.32

6%

2019

114.92

8%

Source: Economic Development Partnership of North Carolina

x

The City of Brevard collects its own property taxes. The collection rate for the City, excluding
motor vehicle collections, remains above the statewide average for municipalities as illustrated in
the numbers below.
City of Brevard

2015-16
99.93%

2016-17
99.98%

2017-18
99.89%

2018-19
99.93%

2019-20
99.48%

Statewide

99.02%

99.08%

99.23%

99.21%

Not
Available

Source: State Treasurer’s Office, Local Government Commission (Memo#2020-09)

x

Within the City, sales tax generated from taxable sales increased 7.8% from $1,705,015 in the
fiscal year 2018-2019 to $1,837,898 in the fiscal year 2019-2020.
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Budget Highlights for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021
General Fund
x

The general fund budget as adopted for fiscal year 2020-2021 increased from $10,881,245 to
$12,233,777, including transfers. The significant factors affecting this increase are: capital
improvements and increases in appropriations necessary to maintain services.

Water and Sewer Fund
x

Management expects water usage in fiscal year 2020-2021 to remain consistent with fiscal year
2019-2020 or slightly increase. No rate increase was budgeted for the 2020-2021 fiscal year.

x

The City of Brevard has in place a 20-year Capital Improvement Plan for the Utility Fund which
describes in detail the revenue increases necessary to fund the renovation of aging plants and
replacement of deteriorating water/sewer lines.

Other Information:
The following statistics were provided by the Transylvania County Building Permitting and Enforcement
Department for the calendar year ending December 31, 2019:
Detailed Residential Construction Value 2019
New home value: City - 24 homes - $9,499,436
New home value: County – 94 homes - $45,747,151
Addition/Remodel Value: City - 99 homes - $3,082,427
Addition/Remodel Value: County - 291 homes - $18,792,823
Manufactured Homes: City - 4 homes - $100,743
Manufactured Homes: County - 41 homes - $2,395,937
Detailed Residential Construction Value 2018
New home value: City - 32 homes - $10,892,993
New home value: County – 88 homes - $38,069,594
Addition/Remodel Value: City - 116 homes - $4,028,821
Addition/Remodel Value: County - 277 homes - $22,520,067
Manufactured Homes: City - 1 home - $61,000
Manufactured Homes: County - 48 homes - $2,119,542
Construction Values for last 5 years in the City of Brevard
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 -
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Requests for Information
This report is designed to provide an overview of the City’s finances for those with an interest in this area.
Questions concerning any of the information found in this report or requests for additional information
should be directed to the City Finance Director as follows:
James Fatland, CPFO, NCCLGFO, City Manager and Finance Director
City of Brevard
95 W. Main Street
Brevard, N. C. 28712
828-885-5600
828-883-2853 - Fax
jim.fatland@cityofbrevard.com
www.cityofbrevard.com
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Exhibit 1

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2020

Primary Government
Governmental
Activities
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Taxes receivable, net
Accrued interest receivable on taxes
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other governments
Inventories
Prepaid items
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

$

Non-current assets:
Long-term notes receivable
Net OPEB asset
Capital assets:
Land, non-depreciable improvements &
construction in progress
Other capital assets, net of depreciation
Total capital assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals
Total deferred outflows of resources
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Salaries and payroll taxes payable
Payable from restricted assets:
Customer deposits
Accrued interest payable
Current portion of long-term liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Net pension liability (LGERS)
Total pension liability (LEOSSA)
Due in more than one year
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals
Prepaid property taxes
Total deferred inflows of resources
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Stabilization by State statute
Streets
Economic and physical development
Public safety
Perpetual maintenance
Unrestricted
Total net position
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$

4,951,460
28,132
607
81,887
1,060,299
45,669
713,721
6,881,775

Business-type
Activities

$

516,464
458,836
345,555
292,567
1,613,422

Total

$

5,467,924
28,132
607
540,723
1,405,854
45,669
1,006,288
8,495,197

Component
Unit
City of
Brevard ABC
Board

$

642,426
520,404
3,140
1,165,970

248,243
101,064

25,266

248,243
126,330

3,631,525
5,547,799
9,179,324
9,528,631
16,410,406

1,006,949
35,555,955
36,562,904
36,588,170
38,201,592

4,638,474
41,103,754
45,742,228
46,116,801
54,611,998

146,283
146,283
146,283
1,312,253

1,074,308
4,568
1,078,876

239,593
1,141
240,734

1,313,901
5,709
1,319,610

33,283
33,283

242,617
282,577

597,101
49,929

839,718
332,506

525,726
-

21,579
1,300
388,998
937,071

90,005
45,800
1,413,986
2,196,821

111,584
47,100
1,802,984
3,133,892

525,726

1,498,949
615,927
756,537
2,871,413
3,808,484

374,737
19,311,777
19,686,514
21,883,335

1,873,686
615,927
20,068,314
22,557,927
25,691,819

46,426
46,426
572,152

62,237
130,879
1,903
195,019

3,644
32,719
36,363

65,881
163,598
1,903
231,382

3,817
3,817

8,619,674

16,127,595

24,747,269

146,283

1,656,519
62,189
394,623
111,404
686
2,640,684
13,485,779

395,033
16,522,628

1,656,519
62,189
394,623
111,404
686
3,035,717
30,008,407

142,083
481,201
769,567

$
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Exhibit 2

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
Program Revenues

Functions/Programs
Primary Government:
Governmental Activities:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Economic and physical development
Cultural and recreation
Interest on long-term debt

Expenses

$

1,943,446
4,276,281
3,395,164
138,645
258,275
17,632

Charges for
Services

$

1,880
1,181,375
32,247
-

Operating
Grants and
Contributions

Capital
Grants and
Contributions

$

$

22,087
100,018
220,568
-

193,002
-

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Component
Unit
Primary Government
City of
Governmental
Business-type
Brevard ABC
Activities
Activities
Board
Total

$

(1,921,359)
(4,174,383)
(1,993,221)
54,357
(226,028)
(17,632)

Total Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities:
Water and sewer
Total Business-Type Activities
Total Primary Government

10,029,443

1,215,502

342,673

193,002

(8,278,266)

6,312,258
6,312,258
$ 16,341,701

$

5,853,692
5,853,692
7,069,194

$

342,673

613,333
613,333
806,335

(8,278,266)

Component Unit:
ABC Board
Total Component Unit

$
$

$
$

4,789,712
4,789,712

$
$

4,539,003
4,539,003

-

$
$
$

-

Net position, ending

$

13,485,779

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

154,767
154,767
154,767
-

5,716,271
1,837,898
600,620
208,068
91,980
10,350
94,259
8,559,446
(80,000)
8,479,446
201,180
814,767
1,015,947
12,215,201
254,631
12,469,832
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-

General revenues:
Taxes:
Property taxes, levied for general purpose
Sales taxes
Other taxes
Grants and contributions not restricted to a specific program
Unrestricted investment earnings
Gain on sale of capital assets
Miscellaneous
Total general revenues
Transfers
Total general revenues and transfers
Change in net position excluding special item
Special item (Note 17)
Change in net position
Net position, beginning, as previously reported
Restatement (Note 18)
Net position, beginning, as restated
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$

16,522,628

$

-

154,767
154,767
(8,123,499)

250,709
250,709

5,716,271
1,837,898
600,620
208,068
91,980
10,350
94,259
8,559,446
8,559,446
435,947
814,767
1,250,714
28,439,403
318,290
28,757,693
$

-

(8,278,266)

-

80,000
80,000
234,767
234,767
16,224,202
63,659
16,287,861
$

(1,921,359)
(4,174,383)
(1,993,221)
54,357
(226,028)
(17,632)

30,008,407

25,217
25,217
25,217
275,926
275,926
493,641
493,641
$

769,567
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Exhibit 3

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Balance Sheet
June 30, 2020
Major Fund

Total Non-Major
Funds

General Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Taxes receivable, net
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other governments
Due from other funds
Inventories
Notes receivable
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Salaries and payroll taxes payable
Payable from restricted cash
Due to the general fund
Total liabilities

$

$

3,062,340
370,746
26,406
79,129
941,312
515,000
45,669
5,040,602

$

156,380
282,577
21,579
460,536

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Prepaid taxes
Taxes receivable, net
Total deferred inflows of resources
FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable:
Inventories
Perpetual maintenance
Restricted:
Stabilization by State statute
Streets
Public safety
Economic and physical development
Perpetual maintenance
Unspent debt proceeds
Committed:
Capital projects
Assigned:
Subsequent year's expenditures
Unassigned
Total fund balances
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances
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$

$
$

57,728
515,000
572,728

$

$
$

4,334,559
713,721
28,132
79,494
1,060,299
515,000
45,669
248,243
7,025,117
214,108
282,577
21,579
515,000
1,033,264

1,903
26,406
28,309

1,726
1,726

1,903
28,132
30,035

45,669
-

55,440

45,669
55,440

1,535,441
62,189
1,406
285,572

121,078
109,998
394,623
686
-

1,656,519
62,189
111,404
394,623
686
285,572

357,553

730,040

1,087,593

(1,804)
1,410,061

603,707
1,658,416
5,961,818

603,707
1,660,220
4,551,757
$

1,272,219
342,975
1,726
365
118,987
248,243
1,984,515

Total Governmental
Funds

5,040,602

$
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Exhibit 3 (cont.)

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Balance Sheet
June 30, 2020
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement
of net position (Exhibit 1) are different because:
Total fund balance, governmental funds

$

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore
are not reported in the funds.
Gross capital assets at historical cost
$
18,938,787
Accumulated depreciation
(9,759,463)

5,961,818

9,179,324

The OPEB asset used in governmental activities is not a financial resource and
is therefore not reported in the funds.

101,064

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions are not reported in the funds

1,074,308

Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB are not reported in the funds

4,568

The assets and liabilities of the internal service fund, which is used by management to charge
the cost of insurance to individual funds, are included in governmental activities in the
statement of net position.

590,785

Long-term liabilities used in governmental activities are not financial uses and therefore
are not reported in the funds.
$
(845,222)
Installment obligations
Net pension liability - LGERS
(1,498,949)
(615,927)
Total pension liability - LEOSSA
(300,313)
Compensated absences

(3,260,411)

Taxes and interest receivable are considered deferred inflows of resources in the funds

28,739

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions are not reported in the funds

(62,237)

Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB are not reported in the funds

(130,879)

Other long-term liabilities (accrued interest) are not due and payable in the current period
and therefore are not reported in the funds.
Net position of governmental activities
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(1,300)
$
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Exhibit 4

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
Major Funds
General Fund
REVENUES
Ad valorem taxes
Other taxes and licenses
Unrestricted intergovernmental
Restricted intergovernmental
Sales and services
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Economic and physical development
Cultural and recreation
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest and other charges
Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

$

$

1,824,167
4,001,928
3,220,133
138,645
191,571
1,515,998

111,588
14,254
8,637,753

117,225
3,078
2,500,834

228,813
17,332
11,138,587

4,551,757

(1,675,526)

(860,446)

1,761,696
(6,500)
1,755,196

1,768,196
(1,848,196)
395,113
10,350
325,463

79,670

5,166,410
$

5,694,141
1,871,288
775,298
535,675
1,215,502
91,980
94,257
10,278,141

725,888
138,645
1,515,998

(614,653)

Fund balances, beginning

508,758
249,963
949
65,638
825,308

1,824,167
3,276,040
3,220,133
191,571
-

6,500
(1,841,696)
395,113
10,350
(1,429,733)

Net change in fund balance
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Total Governmental
Funds

815,080

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers from other funds
Transfers to other funds
Installment obligations issued
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Total other financing sources (uses)

Fund balances, ending

5,185,383
1,871,288
775,298
285,712
1,215,502
91,031
28,619
9,452,833

Total Non-Major
Funds

(534,983)

1,330,391
$

1,410,061

Council Meeting
The accompanyingAgenda
notes Packet-Brevard
are an integralCity
part
of these financial statements.
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Exhibit 5

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
(Exhibit 2) are different because:
Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is
allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as
depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays
exceeded depreciation in the current period.
Capital outlay expenditures which were capitalized
Depreciation expense for governmental assets

$

$

1,494,315
(553,001)

(534,983)

941,314

Contributions to the pension plan in the current fiscal year
are not included on the Statement of Activities

373,285

Benefit payments paid for the LEOSSA are not included
on the Statement of Activities

18,502

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.
Change in unavailable tax revenues
The fair market value of donated assets

22,130
814,767

836,897

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require
the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported
as expenditures in governmental funds.
Compensated absences accrued
Pension expense - LGERS
Pension expense - LEOSSA
Other postemployment benefits

(24,834)
(674,880)
(35,983)
14,966

(720,731)

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term
debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds.
Neither transaction has any effect on net position. This amount is the
net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and
related items.
Installment obligations issued
Principal payments on long-term debt
Decrease in accrued interest payable

(395,112)
228,813
(300)

(166,599)

The internal service fund is used by management to charge the cost
of health insurance to the individual funds. The net revenue
(expense) of the internal service fund is reported with governmental
activities.
Total changes in net position of governmental activities
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

Exhibit 6

GENERAL FUND
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Original Budget
Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes
Other taxes and licenses
Unrestricted intergovernmental
Restricted intergovernmental
Sales and services
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

Expenditures:
Current:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Cultural and recreation
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest and other charges
OPEB expense
Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

$

5,053,985
1,766,412
783,000
259,000
1,343,650
120,100
13,000
9,339,147

Actual Amounts
$

5,185,383
1,871,288
775,298
285,712
1,142,682
91,031
28,619
9,380,013

$

131,398
104,876
(7,702)
26,712
(200,968)
(29,069)
15,619
40,866

1,738,435
3,154,664
3,362,029
208,254

1,968,435
3,341,664
3,544,029
213,754

1,803,767
3,276,040
3,220,133
191,571

164,668
65,624
323,896
22,183

241,578
16,321
20,400
8,741,681

241,578
16,321
20,400
9,346,181

111,588
14,254
20,400
8,637,753

129,990
2,067
708,428

742,260

749,294

283,934

Other financing sources (uses):
Fund balance appropriated
Transfers from other funds
Transfers to other funds
Installment obligations issued
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance

4,975,985
1,585,880
778,000
259,000
1,343,650
70,100
13,000
9,025,615

Final Budget

Variance with
Final Budget
Positive
(Negative)

(7,034)

159,000
46,000
(1,598,664)
1,109,730
(283,934)
$

-

1,230,320
51,500
(2,506,696)
1,221,910
10,000
7,034
$

6,500
(1,761,696)
395,113
10,350
(1,349,733)

-

(607,473)

Fund balance, beginning

(1,230,320)
(45,000)
745,000
(826,797)
350
(1,356,767)
$

(607,473)

4,801,677

Fund balance, ending

4,194,204

A legally budgeted Capital Reserve Fund is consolidated into the General Fund for reporting purposes:
Fees in lieu of infrastructure
72,820
Transfers to other funds
(80,000)
Fund balance, beginning (Capital Reserve Fund)
364,733
Fund balance, ending (Exhibit 4)
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Exhibit 7

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Statement of Fund Net Position
June 30, 2020

Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer
Fund
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other governments
Total current assets

$

Noncurrent assets:
Net OPEB asset
Capital assets:
Land and other non-depreciable assets
Other capital assets, net of depreciation
Capital assets, net
Total noncurrent assets:
Total assets
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals
Total deferred outflows of resources
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Salaries and payroll taxes payable
Payable from restricted assets:
Customer deposits
Accrued interest
Compensated absences - current
Installment contracts and revolving loan, current
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Net pension liability
Compensated absences
Installment contracts and revolving loans, noncurrent
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals
Total deferred inflows of resources

$

$
Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

-

1,006,949
35,555,955
36,562,904
36,588,170
38,201,592

619,294

239,593
1,141
240,734

-

597,101
49,929

28,509
-

90,005
45,800
81,283
1,332,703
2,196,821

28,509

374,737
6,609
19,305,168
19,686,514
21,883,335

28,509

16,127,595
395,033
16,522,628

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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616,901
2,393
619,294

25,266

3,644
32,719
36,363

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position
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516,464
292,567
458,836
345,555
1,613,422

Internal Service
Fund
Health Insurance
Fund

-

$

590,785
590,785
January 19, 2021
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Exhibit 8

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services
Water and sewer taps
Other operating revenues
Total operating revenues

Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer
Fund

Internal Service
Fund
Health Insurance
Fund

$

$

OPERATING EXPENSES
Water treatment and distribution
Waste collection and treatment
Payment to general fund in lieu of taxes & admin expenses
Depreciation
Claims
Insurance premiums
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

5,509,729
79,613
264,350
5,853,692
1,787,504
2,433,372
600,000
1,155,471

835,375
228,260
201,608
1,265,243

(176,745)

NONOPERATING EXPENSES
Interest expense

(281,821)

Change in net position before contributions and transfers

(458,566)

Capital contributions
Transfers from other funds

268,262
268,262

613,333
80,000

Change in net position
Total net position, beginning
Restatement (note 17)
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-

54,090
6,030,437

Operating income (loss)

Total net position, ending

1,533,505
1,533,505

$

-

234,767

268,262

16,224,202
63,659

322,523
-

16,522,628

Packet-Brevard
City
Council
Meeting
The accompanyingAgenda
notes are
an integral
part
of these
financial statements.
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Exhibit 9

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer
Fund
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers
Cash paid for goods and services
Cash paid to or on behalf of employees for services
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Transfer from the general fund

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Deferred outflows of resources - pensions
Deferred outflows of resources - OPEB
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Net pension liability
Net OPEB asset/liability
Deferred inflows of resources - pensions
Deferred inflows of resources - OPEB
Customer deposits
Accrued vacation
Total adjustments
Net cash provided by operating activities
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$

1,537,035
(1,292,327)
244,708

80,000

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Proceeds from issuance of debt
Reimbursements due from other governments
Principal paid on installment obligation
Interest paid on installment obligation
Net cash used by capital and related financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

5,946,703
(2,758,669)
(1,539,870)
1,648,164

Internal Service
Fund
Health Insurance
Fund

-

(989,867)
670,806
267,778
(1,309,283)
(283,721)
(1,644,287)

-

$

83,877
725,154
809,031

$

244,708
372,193
616,901

$

(176,745)

$

268,262

1,155,471

$

85,317
5,517
(256)
492,272
74,304
(28,558)
(4,423)
25,073
7,694
12,498
1,824,909
1,648,164

Council Meeting
The accompanyingAgenda
notes Packet-Brevard
are an integralCity
part
of these financial statements.
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Exhibit 10

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
June 30, 2020

OPEB Reserve
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted

$

LIABILITIES
Due to general fund

$

NET POSITION
Assets held for retiree health benefits
Assets held for administration of scholarship fund
$
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269,789

-

269,789
269,789

T.L. Scruggs
Scholarship Fund
$

20,994

$

-

$

20,994
20,994
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Exhibit 11

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

OPEB Reserve
Fund
ADDITIONS
Employer contributions
Retiree premiums
Restricted donations

$

10,584
34,492
45,076

T.L. Scruggs
Scholarship Fund
$

15,811
15,811

Investment income
Interest
Total additions

3,320
48,396

15,811

DEDUCTIONS
Expenditures
Scholarships awarded
Total deductions

15,076
15,076

6,488
5,000
11,488

33,320

4,323

236,469

16,671

Change in net position
Net position, beginning
Net position, ending
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$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended June 30, 2020
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies of the City of Brevard and its discretely presented component unit conform to
generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to governments. The following is a summary of
the more significant accounting policies:
A. Reporting Entity
The City of Brevard is a municipal corporation which is governed by an elected mayor and a fivemember council. As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, these financial statements present the City and its component unit, City of Brevard ABC
Board, a legally separate entity for which the City is financially accountable. The discretely
presented component unit presented below is reported in a separate column in the City's financial
statements in order to emphasize that it is legally separate from the City.
City of Brevard ABC Board
The members of the ABC Board's governing board are appointed by the City. In addition, the ABC
Board is required by State statute to distribute its surpluses to the General Fund of the City (75%)
and to Transylvania County (25%). The ABC Board, which has a June 30 year-end, is presented as
if it were a proprietary fund (discrete presentation). Complete financial statements for the ABC
Board may be obtained from the entity's administrative offices at City of Brevard ABC Board, P.O.
Box 1016, Brevard, NC 28712.
B. Basis of Presentation - Fund Accounting
Government-wide Statements: The statement of net position and the statement of activities display
information about the primary government and its component unit. These statements include the
financial activities of the overall government. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double
counting of internal activities. These statements distinguish between the governmental and
business-type activities of the City. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes,
intergovernmental revenues, and other non-exchange transactions. Business-type activities are
financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues
for the different business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s
governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program
or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Indirect expense
allocations that have been made in the funds have been reversed for the statement of activities.
Program revenues include (a) fees and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered
by the programs and (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or
capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues,
including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.
Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s
funds, including its fiduciary funds. Separate statements for each fund category – governmental,
proprietary and fiduciary – are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major
governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining
governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as non-major funds.
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Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions
associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each
party receives and gives up essentially equal values. Non-operating revenues, such as subsidies,
result from non-exchange transactions. Other non-operating revenues are ancillary activities such
as investment earnings.
The City reports the following major governmental fund:
General Fund. The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. The General Fund
accounts for all financial resources except those that are required to be accounted for in another
fund. The primary revenue sources are ad valorem taxes, state grants, state sales taxes, and various
other taxes and licenses. The primary expenditures are for public safety, street maintenance and
construction, and sanitation services. Additionally, the City has legally adopted a Capital Reserve
Fund. Under GASB 54 guidance the Capital Reserve Fund is consolidated in the General Fund.
The budgetary comparison for the Capital Reserve Fund has been included in the supplemental
information.
The City reports the following non-major governmental funds:
Special Revenue Funds. The City has four special revenue funds. The Special Fire District Fund
is used to account for the City’s fire department operations. The Heart of Brevard Municipal
Services District Fund accounts for the receipt of tax revenue which is legally restricted to
expenditures for specific activities related to the Heart of Brevard. The Emergency Telephone
System Fund accounts for funds allocated from the State 911 Board for operations of and
improvements to the 911 system. The Housing Trust Fund accumulates loan repayments made to
the City as a result of affordable housing grants obtained by the City and loaned to the Developers
of two different housing complexes.
Capital Projects Funds. Capital projects funds account for the acquisition and construction of
major capital facilities (other than those financed by the proprietary fund). The City has three nonmajor capital project funds: the Multi-Use Path Capital Project Fund, the Downtown Master Plan
Project Fund and the Rosenwald Revitalization Project Fund.
Permanent Fund. The Bjerg Non-expendable Trust Fund accounts for assets held in a trustee
capacity for the maintenance of a specific neighborhood’s common property.
The City reports the following major enterprise fund:
Water and Sewer Fund. This fund is used to account for the City’s water and sewer operations.
This fund also covers acquisition and construction of major water and sewer capital facilities and
infrastructure, which are accounted for in the Water and Sewer Capital Project Fund that is
combined with the Water and Sewer Fund (the operating fund) for financial statement purposes.
The non-GAAP budgetary comparison for the capital project fund has been included in the
supplementary information.
The City also reports the following fund types:
Internal Service Fund. The internal service fund is used to account for the accumulation and
allocation of costs associated with the City’s self-insured group health insurance program.
OPEB Reserve Fund. A fiduciary fund is used to account for the accumulation of funds and the
payment of benefit costs related to retiree health benefits.
T.L. Scruggs Scholarship Fund. A fiduciary fund is used to account for the collection of
donations and the payment of scholarships in memory of former City employee T.L. Scruggs.
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C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
In accordance with North Carolina General Statutes, all funds of the City are maintained during the
year using the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements. The government-wide and
proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded
at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place.
Nonexchange transactions, in which the City gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or
giving) equal value in exchange, include property taxes, grants, and donations. On an accrual basis,
revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue
from grants and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have
been satisfied.
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods,
services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The
principal operating revenues of the City enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and
services. The City also recognizes as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover
the cost of connecting new customers to the water and sewer system. Operating expenses for the
enterprise fund include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on
capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating
revenues and expenses.
Governmental Fund Financial Statements. Governmental funds are reported using the current
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this
method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available. Expenditures are recorded when
the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt,
claims and judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the
extent they have matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in
governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are
reported as other financing sources.
The City considers all revenues available if they are collected within 90 days after year-end, except
for property taxes. Ad valorem taxes receivable are not accrued as revenue because the amount is
not susceptible to accrual. At June 30, taxes receivable for property other than motor vehicles are
materially past due and are not considered to be an available resource to finance the operations of
the current year. Also, as of September 1, 2013, State law altered the procedures for the assessment
and collection of property taxes on registered motor vehicles in North Carolina. Effective with this
change in the law, the State of North Carolina is responsible for billing and collecting the property
taxes on registered motor vehicles on behalf of all municipalities and special tax districts. Property
taxes are due when vehicles are registered. The billed taxes are applicable to the fiscal year in
which they are received. Uncollected taxes that were billed in periods prior to September 1, 2013
and for limited registration plates are shown as a receivable in these financial statements and are
offset by deferred inflows of resources.
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Sales taxes, and certain intergovernmental revenues, such as the beer and wine tax, collected and
held by the State at year-end on behalf of the City are recognized as revenue. Sales taxes are
considered a shared revenue for the City of Brevard because the tax is levied by Transylvania
County and then remitted to and distributed by the State. Most intergovernmental revenues and
sales and services are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not measurable until
received in cash. All taxes, including those dedicated for specific purposes are reported as general
revenues rather than program revenues. Under the terms of grant agreements, the City funds certain
programs by a combination of specific cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and
general revenues. Thus, when program expenses are incurred, there is both restricted and
unrestricted net position available to finance the program. It is the City’s policy to first apply costreimbursement grant resources to such programs, followed by categorical block grants, and then
general revenues.
D. Budgetary Data
The City's budgets are adopted as required by the North Carolina General Statutes. An annual
budget is adopted for the General Fund, the Special Fire District Fund, the Emergency Telephone
System Fund, the Heart of Brevard Special Municipal Services District Fund, the Nonexpendable
Bjerg Fund, the Capital Reserve Fund, the Multi-Use Paths Capital Project Fund, the Rosenwald
Revitalization Capital Project Fund, the Downtown Master Plan Capital Project Fund, and the
Water and Sewer Fund. All annual appropriations lapse at the fiscal-year end. A project ordinance
is adopted for the Water and Sewer Capital Project Fund. The Water and Sewer Capital Project
fund is consolidated with the operating fund for reporting purposes. The City’s Insurance Fund, an
internal service fund, operates under a financial plan that was adopted by the governing board at the
time the City’s budget ordinance was approved, as is required by the General Statutes. All budgets
are prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting. Expenditures may not legally exceed
appropriations at the departmental level for all annually budgeted funds and at the project level for
the multi-year fund. The Budget Officer is authorized to reallocate departmental appropriations
within a department, as said officer believes necessary. The Budget Officer is authorized to effect
interdepartmental transfers, in the same fund, provided that no departmental budget shall be
reduced by more than ten percent without the prior approval of the City Council. Any such
transfers shall be reported to the City Council at its next regular meeting and shall be entered in the
minutes. The budget ordinance must be adopted by July 1 of the fiscal year or the governing board
must adopt an interim budget that covers that time until the annual ordinance can be adopted. All
amendments to the budget ordinance must be approved by the City Council.
E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity
1. Deposits and Investments
All deposits of the City and of the ABC Board are made in board-designated official
depositories and are secured as required by State law [G.S. 159-31]. The City and the ABC
Board may designate, as an official depository, any bank or savings association whose principal
office is located in North Carolina. Also, the City and ABC Board may establish time deposit
accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit.
State law [G.S. 159-30(c)] authorizes the City and the ABC Board to invest in obligations of
the United States or obligations fully guaranteed both as to principal and interest by the United
States; obligations of the State of North Carolina; bonds and notes of any North Carolina local
government or public authority; obligations of certain non-guaranteed federal agencies; certain
high quality issues of commercial paper and bankers' acceptances and the North Carolina
Capital Management Trust (NCCMT). The City and the ABC Board’s investments are reported
at fair value as determined by quoted market prices. The NCCMT Term Portfolio is bond fund,
has no rating and is measured at fair value. As of June 30, 2020, The Term portfolio has a
duration of .15 years. Because the NCCMT Government and Term Portfolios have a weighted
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average maturity of less than 90 days, they are presented as an investment with a maturity of
less than 6 months.
2. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The City pools money from several funds to facilitate disbursement and investment and to
maximize investment income. Therefore, all cash and investments are essentially demand
deposits and are considered cash and cash equivalents. The ABC Board considers all highly
liquid investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash and cash equivalents.
3. Restricted Assets
Restricted assets include monies or other resources, the use of which is restricted by legal or
contractual requirements. The unexpended balance of forfeiture funds, fire district funds, and
emergency telephone system funds for Public Safety are classified as restricted assets for the
governmental activities because their use is completely restricted for which the funds were
intended. In addition, Powell Bill funds are also classified as restricted cash because they can
be expended only for the purpose of maintaining, repairing, constructing, reconstructing or
widening of local streets per G.S. 136-41.1 through 136-41.4.
City of Brevard Restricted Cash

Governmental activities:
General Fund
Streets
$
Public safety
Deposits
Unspent debt proceeds
Fire District Fund
Public safety
Heart of Brevard Municipal Service District Fund
Economic and physical development
Emergency Telephone System Fund
Public safety
Housing Trust Capital Project fund
Economic and physical development
Bjerg Trust Fund
Perpetual maintenance
Total governmental activities
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62,189
1,406
21,579
285,571
69,491
7,517
63,461
146,380
56,127
713,721

Business-type activities:
Water and Sewer Fund
Unspent debt proceeds
Customer deposits
Total business-type activities

202,562
90,005
292,567

Total restricted cash

$ 1,006,288
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4. Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable

In accordance with State law [G.S. 105-347 and G.S. 159-13(a)], the City levies ad valorem
taxes on property other than motor vehicles on July 1, the beginning of the fiscal year. The
taxes are due on September 1 (lien date); however, interest does not accrue until the following
January 6. These taxes are based on the assessed values as of January 1, 2019.
5. Allowances for Doubtful Accounts
All receivables that historically experience uncollectible accounts are shown net of an
allowance for doubtful accounts. This amount is estimated by analyzing the percentage of
receivables that were written off in prior years. Outstanding balances for inactive customer
accounts for trash collection service and water and sewer service were deemed by management
to be written off during the current fiscal year. These amounts have been removed from the
applicable gross receivable balances and therefore will not be shown as part of the allowance.
The allowance shown related to these receivables only includes outstanding balances of active
customers.
6. Inventory and Prepaid Items
The inventories of the City and the ABC Board are valued at cost (first-in, first-out), which
approximates market. The City's General Fund inventory consists of expendable supplies that
are recorded as expenditures as used rather than when purchased.
The inventories of the City of Brevard ABC Board consist of merchandise held for resale. The
cost of these inventories is expensed upon resale rather than when purchased.
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are
recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements and expensed
as the items are used.
7.

Capital Assets
Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more
than a certain cost and an estimated useful life in excess of two years. Minimum capitalization
costs are as follows: land, buildings, improvements, substations, lines, and other plant and
distribution systems, infrastructure, furniture, equipment, and vehicles, $5,000. Purchased or
constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capital
assets received prior to June 30, 2015 are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of
donation. Donated capital assets received after June 30, 2015 are recorded at acquisition value.
All other purchased or other constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated
historical cost. General infrastructure assets acquired prior to July 1, 2003, consist of the road
network and water and sewer system assets that were acquired or that received substantial
improvements subsequent to July 1, 1980, and are reported at estimated historical cost using
deflated replacement cost. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the
value of the asset or materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.
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Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful
lives:
Asset Class
Infrastructure
Buildings
Building improvements
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment

Estimated
Useful Lives

10-75 years
15-50 years
20-50 years
4-10 years
5-15 years
3-5 years

Capital assets of the ABC Board are depreciated over their useful lives on a straight-line basis
as follows:
Estimated
Useful Lives

Asset Class
Buildings
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment

15-50 years
4-10 years
5-15 years
3-5 years

8. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section
for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred
Outflows of Resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period
and so will not be recognized as an expense or expenditure until then. The City has two items
that meet this criterion, pension deferrals and OPEB deferrals for the 2020 fiscal year. In
addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred
Inflows of Resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and
so will not be recognized as revenue until then. The City has three items that meets the criterion
for this category – property taxes receivable, pension deferrals, and OPEB deferrals.
9. Long-term Obligations
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the
applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement
of net position.
In fund financial statements, the face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing
sources.
10. Compensated Absences
The vacation policy of the City provides for the accumulation of up to thirty (30) days earned
vacation leave with such leave being fully vested when earned. The vacation policy for the
ABC Board provide up to twenty days earned vacation with no accumulation allowed. For the
City's government-wide and proprietary funds, an expense and a liability for compensated
absences and the salary-related payments are recorded as the leave is earned. The City has
assumed a first-in, first-out method of using accumulated compensated time. The portion of that
time that is estimated to be used in the next fiscal year has been designated as a current liability
in the government-wide financial statements.
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The City's sick leave policy provides for an unlimited accumulation of earned sick leave. Sick
leave does not vest, but any unused sick leave accumulated at the time of retirement may be
used in the determination of length of service for retirement benefit purposes. The ABC
Board’s sick leave policy provides no accumulation of sick leave. Since neither the City nor the
ABC Board has any obligation for the accumulated sick leave until it is actually taken, no
accrual for sick leave has been made.
11. Net Position/Fund Balances
Net Position
Net position in government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are classified as net
investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted. Restricted net position represents
constraints on resources that are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors,
or laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through State statute.
Fund Balances
In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balance is composed of five classifications
designed to disclose the hierarchy of constraints placed on how fund balance can be spent.
The governmental fund types classify fund balances as follows:
Nonspendable fund balance – This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent
because they are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to
be maintained intact.
Inventories – portion of fund balance that is not an available resource because it
represents the year-end balance of inventories, which are not spendable resources.
Perpetual maintenance – portion of fund balance that is not an available resource
because it represents funds which are held for specific purposes imposed by a trust for
maintenance of the City.
Restricted fund balance – This classification includes amounts that are restricted to
specific purposes externally imposed by creditors or imposed by law.
Restricted for stabilization by State statute – North Carolina G.S. 159-8 prohibits units
of government from budgeting or spending a portion of their fund balance. This is one
of several statutes enacted by the North Carolina State Legislature in the 1930’s that
were designed to improve and maintain the fiscal health of local government units.
Restricted by State statute (RSS), is calculated at the end of each fiscal year for all
annually budgeted funds. The calculation in G.S. 159-8(a) provides a formula for
determining what portion of fund balance is available for appropriation. The amount of
fund balance not available for appropriation is what is known as “restricted by State
statute”. Appropriated fund balance in any fund shall not exceed the sum of cash and
investments minus the sum of liabilities, encumbrances, and deferred revenues arising
from cash receipts, as those figures stand at the close of the fiscal year next preceding
the budget. Per GASB guidance, RSS is considered a resource upon which a restriction
is “imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.” RSS is
reduced by inventories and prepaids as they are classified as nonspendable. Outstanding
Encumbrances are included within RSS. RSS is included as a component of Restricted
Net position and Restricted fund balance on the face of the balance sheet.
Restricted for public safety – portion of the fund balance that is restricted by revenue
source for public safety. This amount represents the balance of total unexpended drug
forfeiture funds.
Page 104 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

33

January 19, 2021

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Pending LGC Approval

Restricted for streets – portion of fund balance that is restricted by revenue source for
street construction and maintenance expenditures. This amount represents the balance
of the total unexpended Powell Bill funds.
Restricted for economic development – portion of fund balance that is restricted to use
on affordable housing per terms of grant agreements.
Restricted for perpetual maintenance – portion of fund balance that represents
investment earnings from the nonspendable Bjerg Trust Fund that is restricted for
maintenance of a specific neighborhood’s common property.
Committed fund balance – portion of fund balance that can only be used for specific
purposes imposed by majority vote by quorum of the City of Brevard’s governing body
(highest level of decision-making authority.) The governing body can, by adoption of an
ordinance prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund balance. Once adopted, the
limitation imposed by the ordinance remains in place until a similar action is taken (the
adoption of another ordinance) to remove or revise the limitation.
Capital projects – portion of capital reserve fund committed to City improvements as
well as portion of capital project fund balance that represents funds contributed by the
City for certain projects.
Assigned fund balance – portion of fund balance that the City of Brevard intends to use for
specific purposes.
Subsequent year’s expenditures – portion of fund balance that is appropriated in the
next year’s budget that is not already classified as restricted or committed.
Unassigned fund balance – portion of total fund balance that has not been restricted,
committed, or assigned to specific purposes or other funds.
The City of Brevard has a revenue spending policy that provides guidance for programs with
multiple revenue sources. The Finance Director will use resources in the following hierarchy:
bond proceeds, Federal funds, State funds, local non-City funds, City funds. For purposes of
fund balance classification, expenditures are typically spent from restricted fund balance first,
followed in-order by committed fund balance, assigned fund balance and lastly unassigned fund
balance. The Finance Director has the authority to deviate from this if it is in the best interest
of the City.
The City of Brevard has also adopted a minimum fund balance policy for the general fund
which instructs management to conduct the business of the City in such a manner that available
fund balance is at least equal to or greater than 25% of budgeted expenditures. Any portion of
the general fund balance in excess of 25% of budgeted expenditures may be appropriated for
one-time expenditures and may not be used for any purpose that would obligate the City in a
future budget.
12. Defined Benefit Cost-Sharing Plans
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary
net position of the Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS) and additions
to/deductions from LGERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as
they are reported by LGERS. For this purpose, plan member contributions are recognized in the
period in which the contributions are due. The City of Brevard and the ABC Board’s employer
contributions are recognized when due and both the City and the ABC Board have a legal
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requirement to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the terms of LGERS. Investments are reported at fair value.
For purposes of measuring the net pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position
of the Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF) and additions
to/deductions from FRSWPF’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis
as they are reported by FRSWPF. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit
terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
13. Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.
Note 2 – Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability
At June 30, 2020, the Multi-Use Path Project fund had a deficit fund balance of $359,708 due to an
interfund loan payable to the General Fund. Management anticipates the fund balance deficit being
resolved in the coming years as scheduled repayments of $45,000 per year are made on the loan.
Note 3 – Cash and Investments
1. Deposits
All the deposits of the City and the ABC Board are either insured or collateralized by using one of
two methods. Under the Dedicated Method, all deposits that exceed the federal depository
insurance coverage level are collateralized with securities held by the City's or the ABC Board’s
agents in these units' names. Under the Pooling Method, which is a collateral pool, all uninsured
deposits are collateralized with securities held by the State Treasurer's agent in the name of the
State Treasurer. Since the State Treasurer is acting in a fiduciary capacity for the City and the ABC
Board, these deposits are considered to be held by the City's and the ABC Board’s agents in their
names. The amount of the pledged collateral is based on an approved averaging method for noninterest bearing deposits and the actual current balance for interest-bearing deposits. Depositories
using the Pooling Method report to the State Treasurer the adequacy of their pooled collateral
covering uninsured deposits. The State Treasurer does not confirm this information with the City,
the ABC Board, or the escrow agent. Because of the inability to measure the exact amounts of
collateral pledged for the City and the ABC Board under the Pooling Method, the potential exists
for under-collateralization, and this risk may increase in periods of high cash flows. However, the
State Treasurer of North Carolina enforces strict standards of financial stability for each depository
that collateralizes public deposits under the Pooling Method. The City has no formal policy
regarding custodial credit risk for deposits, but relies on the State Treasurer to enforce standards of
minimum capitalization for all pooling method financial institutions and to monitor them for
compliance. The City complies with the provisions of G.S. 159-31 when designating official
depositories and verifying that deposits are properly secured. The ABC Board has no formal policy
regarding custodial credit risk for deposits.
At June 30, 2020, the City's deposits had a carrying amount of $909,658 and a bank balance of
$1,012,318. Of the bank balance, $270,994 was covered by federal depository insurance and the
remainder was covered by collateral held under the pooling method. The carrying amount of
deposits for the ABC Board was $638,226 and the bank balance was $637,513. Federal depository
insurance covered $250,000 of the ABC Board’s deposits and the remainder was covered by
collateral held under the pooling method.
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The City also had cash on hand at June 30, 2020 in the amount of $675, and the ABC Board had
cash on hand of $4,200.
2. Investments
At June 30, 2020, the City’s investment balances were as follows:
Investments by Type

NC Capital Management Trust
Government Portfolio

Valuation
Measurement
Method
Fair Value
Level 1

NC Capital Management Trust Term Portfolio

Fair Value
Level 1

Total:

Book Value at
6/30/20
$

5,797,534
57,128

Maturity

Rating

N/A

AAAm

.15 years

Unrated

$ 5,854,662

All investments are measured using the market approach: using prices and other relevant
information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or a group of
assets.
Level of fair value hierarchy: Level 1 debt securities are valued using directly observable, quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 debt securities are valued using a
matrix pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’
benchmark quoted prices.
Interest Rate Risk – The City has no formal investment policy regarding interest rate risk.
Credit Risk – The City has no formal policy regarding credit risk, but has internal management
procedures that limits the City’s investments to the provisions of G.S. 159-30 and restricts the
purchase of securities to the highest possible rating whenever particular types of securities are rated.
At June 30, 2020, the ABC Board held no investments.
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3. Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents

A reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as shown on the government-wide statement of net
position is as follows:

Reported value of deposits
Petty cash
Fair value of investments

$

$
Statement of Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted

$

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
$

909,658
675
5,854,662
6,764,995
5,467,924
1,006,288
6,474,212
290,783
6,764,995

Note 4 – Receivables
1. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The amount of taxes receivable presented in the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Net Position
does not include any penalties levied or outstanding. The amounts presented in the Balance Sheet
and the Statement of Net Position for the year ended June 30, 2020 is net of the following
allowances for doubtful accounts:

Funds
General Fund
Allowance for uncollectible property taxes receivable
Allowance for uncollectible trash services receivable
Water and Sewer Fund
Allowance for uncollectible water and sewer services receivable

$

15,000
2,500

$

13,200

2. Notes Receivable
In 2010 and 2012, the City obtained grant funding for the purpose of providing affordable housing
for its citizens. These grant funds, in the amount of $218,000 at 2% interest and $157,036 at 0%
interest, respectively, were loaned to two different developers who were building affordable
housing units within the City. The first loan requires annual principal and interest payments of
$13,332 through December 31, 2030. The second loan requires annual principal payments in the
amount of $7,852 through December 31, 2034. At June 30, 2020, the combined outstanding
balance of the notes receivable was $248,243.
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Capital asset activity for the Primary Government for the year ended June 30, 2020, was as follows:

Beginning
Balances
Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and infrastructure
Equipment
Vehicles and motorized equipment
Total capital assets being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and infrastructure
Equipment
Vehicles and motorized equipment
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Governmental activities capital assets, net

$

397,687
1,579,161
1,976,848

Increases

$

462,715
2,106,102
2,568,817

Ending
Balances

Decreases

$

914,140
914,140

$

860,402
2,771,123
3,631,525

6,580,056
1,950,532
6,236,848
14,767,436

243,825
27,997
382,583
654,405

114,579
114,579

6,823,881
1,978,529
6,504,852
15,307,262

2,737,608
1,271,289
5,312,144
9,321,041
5,446,395
$ 7,423,243

179,319
105,972
267,710
553,001

114,579
114,579

2,916,927
1,377,261
5,465,275
9,759,463
5,547,799
$ 9,179,324

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

General government
Public safety
Public works
Cultural and recreational
Total depreciation expense
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Beginning
Balances

Business-type activities:
Water and Sewer Fund
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets being depreciated:
Plant and distribution systems
Maintenance equipment and furniture
Vehicles
Total capital assets being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Plant and distribution systems
Maintenance equipment and furniture
Vehicles
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Water and sewer fund capital assets, net

$

212,891
212,891

Increases

$

794,058
794,058

Ending
Balances

Decreases

$

-

$

212,891
794,058
1,006,949

45,410,075
2,895,008
1,042,227
49,347,310

76,349
119,460
195,809

-

45,410,075
2,971,357
1,161,687
49,543,119

10,321,636
1,572,748
937,309
12,831,693
36,515,617
$ 36,728,508

787,525
325,679
42,267
1,155,471

-

11,109,161
1,898,427
979,576
13,987,164
35,555,955
$ 36,562,904

Construction commitments:
The City had the following commitments with contractors for construction projects as of June
30, 2020:

Project
Spent-to-Date
Cathey's Creek Water Intake & Stream Restoration $
804,993
Gallimore Road Sewer Project
137,560
Brushy/Norton Creek Stream Restoration
13,545
King Street Stormwater
19,335
Burrell Mountain Water Tank
5,000
Mary C. Jenkins Design
135,550
Railroad Avenue Stormwater
7,000
$ 1,122,983
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Discretely presented component unit:
Activity for the ABC Board for the year ended June 30, 2020 was as follows:

Beginning
Balances
Capital assets being depreciated:
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment
Vehicle
Total capital assets being depreciated

$

Less accumulated depreciation

196,531
127,934
11,979
336,444
196,301

Total capital assets being depreciated, net

$

Increases
$

18,071
1,149
19,220
13,080

140,143

Ending
Balances

Decreases
$

-

$

-

214,602
129,083
11,979
355,664
209,381

$

146,283

Note 6 – Pension Plan and Postemployment Obligations
Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System
Plan Description. The City of Brevard is a participating employer in the statewide Local Governmental
Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension
plan administered by the State of North Carolina. LGERS membership is comprised of general
employees and local law enforcement officers (LEOs) of participating local governmental entities.
Article 3 of G.S. Chapter 128 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the
North Carolina General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees,
which consists of 13 members – nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the State Senate,
one appointed by the State House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State Superintendent,
who serve as ex-officio members. The Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System is included
in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s
CAFR includes financial statements and required supplementary information for LGERS. That report
may be obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh,
North Carolina 27699-1410, by calling (919) 981-5454, or at www.osc.nc.gov.
Benefits Provided. LGERS provides retirement and survivor benefits. Retirement benefits are
determined as 1.85% of the member’s average final compensation times the member’s years of
creditable service. A member’s average final compensation is calculated as the average of a member’s
four highest consecutive years of compensation. Plan members are eligible to retire with full retirement
benefits at age 65 with five years of creditable service, at age 60 with 25 years of creditable service, or
at any age with 30 years of creditable service. Plan members are eligible to retire with partial retirement
benefits at age 50 with 20 years of creditable service or at age 60 with five years of creditable service
(age 55 for firefighters). Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of members who die
while in active service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who have either completed 20
years of creditable service regardless of age (15 years of creditable service for firefighters and rescue
squad members who are killed in the line of duty) or have completed five years of service and have
reached age 60. Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for
life or a return of the member’s contributions. The plan does not provide for automatic post-retirement
benefit increases. Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains of the plan.
LGERS plan members who are LEOs are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age 55 with
five years of creditable service as an officer, or at any age with 30 years of creditable service. LEO plan
members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age 50 with 15 years of creditable
service as an officer. Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of LEO members who die
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while in active service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who also have either
completed 20 years of creditable service regardless of age, or have completed 15 years of service as a
LEO and have reached age 50, or have completed five years of creditable service as a LEO and have
reached age 55, or have completed 15 years of creditable service as a LEO if killed in the line of duty.
Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of
the member’s contributions.
Contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 128-30 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. City of Brevard employees are required to contribute 6%
of their compensation. Employer contributions are actuarially determined and set annually by the
LGERS Board of Trustees. The City of Brevard’s contractually required contribution rate for the year
ended June 30, 2020, was 9.70% of compensation for law enforcement officers and 9.03% for general
employees and firefighters, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee
contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year.
Contributions to the pension plan from the City of Brevard were $466,606 for the year ended June 30,
2020.
Refunds of Contributions – City employees who have terminated service as a contributing member of
LGERS, may file an application for a refund of their contributions. By state law, refunds to members
with at least five years of service include 4% interest. State law requires a 60 day waiting period after
service termination before the refund may be paid. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the
individual’s right to employer contributions or any other benefit provided by LGERS.
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions
At June 30, 2020, the City reported a liability of $1,873,686 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019. The total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31,
2018. The total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2019
utilizing update procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net
pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of future payroll covered by
the pension plan, relative to the projected future payroll covered by the pension plan of all participating
LGERS employers, actuarially determined. At the measurement date of June 30, 2019, the City’s
proportion was 0.06861%, which was an increase of 0.00529% from its proportion measured as of June
30, 2018.
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of $843,868. At June 30, 2020,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:
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Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences between City
contributions and proportionate share of contributions
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total

Deferred Outflows
of Resources
$
320,822
305,380

Deferred Inflows
of Resources
$
-

45,702

$

59,453
466,606
1,197,963

-

$

18,221
18,221

$466,606 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a decrease of the net pension
liability in the year ended June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

$

$

337,092
113,681
196,963
65,400
713,136

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2018 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return

3.0 percent
3.50 to 8.10 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor
7.00 percent, net of pension plan investment
expense, including inflation

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, gender, employee group (i.e. general, law
enforcement officer) and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy). The current mortality rates are based
on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population. The
healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements.
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2018 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014.
Future ad hoc COLA amounts are not considered to be substantively automatic and are therefore not
included in the measurement.
The projected long-term investment returns and inflation assumptions are developed through review of
current and historical capital markets data, sell-side investment research, consultant whitepapers, and
historical performance of investment strategies. Fixed income return projections reflect current yields
across the U.S. Treasury yield curve and market expectations of forward yields projected and
interpolated for multiple tenors and over multiple year horizons. Global public equity return projections
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are established through analysis of the equity risk premium and the fixed income return projections.
Other asset categories and strategies’ return projections reflect the foregoing and historical data
analysis. These projections are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class as of June 30, 2019 are summarized in the following table:
Asset Class
Fixed Income
Global Equity
Real Estate
Alternatives
Credit
Inflation Protection
Total

Target Allocation
29.0%
42.0%
8.0%
8.0%
7.0%
6.0%
100.0%

Real Rate of Return
1.4%
5.3%
4.3%
8.9%
6.0%
4.0%

The information above is based on 30 year expectations developed with the consulting actuary for the
2018 asset, liability and investment policy study for the North Carolina Retirement Systems, including
LGERS. The long-term nominal rates of return underlying the real rates of return are arithmetic
annualized figures. The real rates of return are calculated from nominal rates by multiplicatively
subtracting a long-term inflation assumption of 3.00%. All rates of return and inflation are annualized.
Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate.
The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the
discount rate of 7.00 percent, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability
or net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point
lower (6.00 percent) or one percentage point higher (8.00 percent) than the current rate:

City’s Proportionate share of the net
Pension liability (asset)

1%
Decrease
( 6.00% )

Discount
Rate
(7.00%)

$ 4,285,462

$ 1,873,686

1%
Increase
(8.00%)
$ (130,989)

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of
North Carolina.
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance
1. Plan Description
The City of Brevard administers a public employee retirement system (the Separation Allowance),
a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to the City’s
qualified sworn law enforcement officers under the age of 62 who have completed at least 30 years
of creditable service or have attained 55 years of age and have completed five or more years of
creditable service. The Separation Allowance is equal to 0.85 percent of the annual equivalent of
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the base rate of compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable
service. The retirement benefits are not subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances
that may be authorized by the General Assembly. Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 assigns the
authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly.
All full-time law enforcement officers of the City are covered by the Separation Allowance. At
December 31, 2018 (valuation date), the Separation Allowance’s membership consisted of:
Retirees receiving benefits
Active plan members
Total

2
23
25

A separate report was not issued for the plan.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting - The City has chosen to fund the Separation Allowance on a pay as you go
basis. Pension expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the terms of the plan.
The Separation Allowance has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria that are
outlined in GASB Statement 73.
3. Actuarial Assumptions
The entry age actuarial cost method was used in the December 31, 2018, valuation. The total
pension liability in the December 31, 2018, actuarial valuation was determined using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Inflation
Salary increases
Discount rate

2.5 percent
3.50 to 7.35 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor
3.26 percent

4. Contributions
The City is required by Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 to provide these retirement benefits and
has chosen to fund the amounts necessary to cover the benefits earned on a pay as you go basis
through appropriations made in the General Fund operating budget. There were no contributions
made by employees. The City’s obligation to contribute to this plan is established and may be
amended by the North Carolina General Assembly. Administration costs of the Separation
Allowance are financed through investment earnings. The City paid $35,440 as benefits came due
for the reporting period.
5. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pension
At June 30, 2020, the City reported a total pension liability of $615,927. The total pension liability
was measured as of December 31, 2019 based on a December 31, 2018 actuarial valuation. The
total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2019
utilizing update procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. For the year ended June 30,
2020, the City recognized pension expense of $34,814.
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Deferred Outflows
of Resources

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

$

$

Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total

$

64,190
33,246
18,502
115,938

$

30,128
17,532
47,660

The City paid $18,502 in benefit payments subsequent to the measurement date that are reported as
deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, and which will be recognized as a decrease of
the total pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred
outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:

Year ended June 30:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

$

$

6,802
6,920
11,182
15,237
9,635
49,776

Sensitivity of the City’s total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following
presents the City’s total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 3.26 percent, as well
as what the City’s total pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
1-percentage-point lower (2.26 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.26 percent) than the current
rate:
1%
Discount
1%
Decrease
Rate
Increase
(2.26% )
(3.26%)
(4.26%)
Total pension liability
$ 669,013
$ 615,927
$ 567,409

Balance at June 30, 2019
Service cost
Interest on the pension liability
Changes of benefit terms
Differences between expected and actual experience
in the measurement of the total pension liability
Change of assumption or other inputs
Benefit payments
Other changes
Balance at June 30, 2020

Total Pension
Liability
$
506,819
27,892
17,832
-

$

78,298
18,962
(33,876)
615,927

Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 3.64 percent at
December 31, 2018, to 3.26 percent at December 31, 2019.
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The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, and health status (i.e. disabled and
healthy). The current mortality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover
significant portions of the U.S. population. The healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to
reflect future mortality improvements.
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2018 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014.
Total Expense, Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
Following is information related to the proportionate share and pension expense for all pension plans:

LGERS
Proportionate share of the net pension liability
Proportion of the net pension liability
Total pension liability
Pension expense
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Differences between expected and actual
experience
Change of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments
Change in proportion and differences between
City contributions and proportionate share of
contributions
City contributions (LGERS)/benefit payments
(LEOSSA) subsequent to the measurement date

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Differences between expected and actual
experience
Change of assumptions
Change in proportion and differences between
City contributions and proportionate share of
contributions

$ 1,873,686
0.06861%
843,868

$

$ 320,822
305,380

$

N/A
615,927
35,983

$ 1,873,686
N/A
615,927
879,851

64,190
33,246

$ 385,012
338,626

45,702

-

45,702

59,453

-

59,453

18,502
$ 115,938

485,108
$ 1,313,901

$

$

$

-

18,221
18,221
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Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers

Plan description – The City contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined
contribution pension plan administered by the Department of State Treasurer and a Board of Trustees.
The Plan provides retirement benefits to law enforcement officers employed by the City. Article 5 of
G.S. Chapter 135 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina
General Assembly. The Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers is
included in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North Carolina. The
State’s CAFR includes the pension trust fund financial statements for the Internal Revenue Code
Section 401(k) plan that includes the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement
Officers. That report may be obtained by writing to the Officer of the State Controller, 1410 Mail
Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27609, or by calling (919) 981-5454.
Funding Policy – Article 12E of G.S. Chapter 143 requires the City to contribute each month an amount
equal to five percent of each officer’s salary, and all amounts contributed are vested immediately. Also,
the law enforcement officers may make voluntary contributions to the plan. The City made
contributions of $71,481 for the reporting year. No amounts were forfeited.
Firefighter’s and Rescue Squad Worker’s Pension Fund
Plan Description. The State of North Carolina contributes, on behalf of the City of Brevard, to the
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF), a cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan with a special funding situation administered by the State of North
Carolina. FRSWPF provides pension benefits for eligible fire and rescue squad workers who have
elected to become members of the fund. Article 86 of G.S. Chapter 58 assigns the authority to establish
and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly. Management of the plan is
vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees, which consists of 13 members – nine appointed by the
Governor, one appointed by the state Senate, one appointed by the state House of Representatives, and
the State Treasurer and State Superintendent, who serve as ex-officio members. The Firefighters’ and
Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund is included in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
(CAFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s CAFR includes financial statements and required
supplementary information for the Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund. That report
may be obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh,
North Carolina 27699-1410, by calling (919) 981-5454, or at www.osc.nc.gov.
Benefits Provided. FRSWPF provides retirement and survivor benefits. The present retirement benefit is
$170 per month. Plan members are eligible to receive the monthly benefit at age 55 with 20 years of
creditable service as a firefighter or rescue squad worker, and have terminated duties as a firefighter or
rescue squad worker. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die before beginning to receive the benefit
will receive the amount paid by the member and contributions paid on the member’s behalf into the
plan. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die after beginning to receive benefits will be paid the
amount the member contributed minus the benefits collected.
Contributions. Plan members are required to contribute $10 per month to the plan. The State, a nonemployer contributor, funds the plan through appropriations. The City does not contribute to the plan.
Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 58-86 and may be amended only by the
North Carolina General Assembly. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020, the State contributed
$18,302,000 to the plan. The City of Brevard’s proportionate share of the State’s contribution is
$18,188.
Refunds of Contributions – Plan members who are no longer eligible or choose not to participate in the
plan may file an application for a refund of their contributions. Refunds include the member’s
contributions and contributions paid by others on the member’s behalf. No interest will be paid on the
amount of the refund. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s right to employer
contributions or any other benefit provided by FRSWPF.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
At June 30, 2020, the City reported no liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability, as
the State provides 100% pension support to the City through its appropriations to the FRSWPF. The
total portion of the net pension liability that was associated with the City and supported by the State was
$36,057. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019. The total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2018.
The total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2019 utilizing
update procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net pension
liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan
relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers. As the City is not projected to
make any future contributions to the plan, its proportionate share at the June 30, 2019 and June 30,
2018 measurement dates was 0%.
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of $18,983 and revenue of
$18,983 for support provided by the State. At June 30, 2020, the City reported no deferred outflows of
resources and no deferred inflows of resources related to pensions.
Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2018 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return

3.0 percent
Not applicable
7.00 percent, net of pension plan investment
expense, including inflation

For more information regarding actuarial assumptions, including mortality tables, the actuarial
experience study, the consideration of future ad hoc COLA amounts, the development of the projected
long-term investment returns, and the asset allocation policy, refer to the discussion of actuarial
assumptions for the LGERS plan in the first section of this note.
Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position is available in the separately issued Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the
State of North Carolina.
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) – Healthcare Benefits
Plan Description. Under the terms of a City resolution, the City administers a single-employer defined
benefit Healthcare Benefits Plan (the HCB Plan). As of July 1, 2010, this plan provides
postemployment healthcare benefits to retirees of the City, provided they participate in the North
Carolina Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System (System) and have at least five years of
creditable service with the City. These employees may elect to stay on the group health policy until
they are Medicare eligible. Retirees pay full premium costs to cover themselves and their dependent(s).
Coverage can continue until they become Medicare-eligible. The City will contribute $750 per year into
a Health Savings Account (HSA) for eligible retirees. The retiree may continue dependent coverage
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(and pay the full cost of this coverage) if enrolled in dependent coverage at the time of retirement.
Dependent coverage terminates upon the retiree becoming eligible for Medicare or attaining age 65.
The City has elected to partially pay the future overall cost of coverage for these benefits. The City
Council may amend the benefit provisions. A separate report was not issued for the HCB Plan.
Membership of the HCB Plan consisted of the following at June 30, 2019, the date of the most recent
actuarial valuation:
Retirees and dependents receiving benefits
Terminated plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits
Active plan members
Total

3
95
98

Funding Policy – The retirees pays the full cost of coverage for the healthcare benefits under a City
resolution that can be amended by City Council. The City’s members pay the following monthly
premiums:
Tier
Cost
Retiree Only
$
697
Retiree and Children
1,143
Retiree and Spouse
1,395
Family
1,743
Retirees contributed $15,076 in premiums for the year ended June 30, 2020.
This City funds current year benefits as they come due, with an additional amount to prefund benefits as
determined annually by the Board. For the current year, the City contributed $45,076. The Fund is
accounted for as a trust fund.
Rate of return. For the year ended June 30, 2020, the annual money weighted rate of return on
investments, net of investment expense, was 2.72 percent. The money-weighted rate of return expresses
investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually
invested.
The components of the net OPEB liability of the City at the measurement date of June 30, 2020, were
as follows:
Total OPEB liability
Plan fiduciary net position
City's net OPEB liability (asset)
Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total OPEB liability

$

143,459
269,789
(126,330)
188%

Actuarial assumptions – The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June
30, 2019, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement,
unless otherwise specified:
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Healthcare cost trend rates
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Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant base rates projected to the valuation date
using MP-2015, projected forward generationally from the valuation date using MP-2015.
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019, valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study for the period 2010-2014.
The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using long-term
historical data, estimates inherent in current market rates, and a log-normal distribution analysis in
which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected return, net of investment
expense and inflation) are developed by the investment consultant.
Discount rate – The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability at was 2.72 percent June 30,
2020, a decrease from the rate of 3.31 percent at June 30, 2019.
Sensitivity of the net OPEB Asset to changes in the discount rate – The following presents the net
OPEB asset of the City at June 30, 2020, as well as what the City’s net OPEB asset would be if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (1.72 percent) or 1-percentage-point
higher (3.72 percent) than the current discount rate:

Net OPEB Asset

1% Decrease
(1.72%)

Discount Rate
(2.72%)

1% Increase
(3.72%)

$ 112,944

$ 126,330

$ 138,443

Sensitivity of the net OPEB Asset to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates – The following presents
the net OPEB asset of the City, as well as what the City’s net OPEB asset would be if it were to
calculate healthcare cost trend rates that are 1- percentage-point lower (6.75 percent decreasing to 4
percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.75 percent decreasing to 6 percent) than the current healthcare
cost trend rate:

Net OPEB Asset

1% Decrease (6.0%
decreasing to 3.5%)

Healthcare Cost
Trend Rate (7.0%
decreasing to 4.5%)

1% Increase (8.0%
decreasing to 5.5%)

$ 140,731

$ 126,330

$108,979

Changes in Net OPEB Asset, OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows
of Resources Related to OPEB – At June 30, 2020, the City reported a net OPEB asset of $126,330. The
total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
June 30, 2019. The total OPEB liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30,
2020 utilizing update procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions.
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At June 30, 2020, the components of the net OPEB asset of the City, were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)

Balances at June 30, 2019
Changes for the year:
Service cost
Interest on the total OPEB liability
Differences between expected and actual
experience
Change of assumptions
Contributions
Net investment income
Benefit payments (net of participant contributions)
Net changes
Balances at June 30, 2020

Total OPEB
Liability
(a)
$ 252,931

Plan Fiduciary
Net Position
(b)
$
236,469

17,553
7,130

-

(149,720)
(2,952)
18,517
(109,472)
$ 143,459

$

Net OPEB
Asset
(b)-(a)
$ (16,462)
(17,553)
(7,130)

11,483
3,320
18,517
33,320
269,789

149,720
2,952
11,483
3,320
142,792
$ 126,330

Changes of assumptions – Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate
from 3.31 percent in 2019 to 2.72 percent in 2020. Medical claims cost and rates were changed based
on most recent experience and changed to the current schedule. The Excise Tax of 40 percent on health
care plans that are above the thresholds set by the Affordable Care Act is effective in 2022 and has been
reflected.
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized OPEB benefit of $7,424. At June 30, 2020, the
City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from
the following sources:

Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on plan investments
Total
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Amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB
expense in future years as follows:

Year ended June 30:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$

$

(25,270)
(25,271)
(26,370)
(26,600)
(25,659)
(28,719)
(157,889)

Note 7 – Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources
The City has several deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources comprise the
following:

Source
Contributions to the pension plan in the current fiscal year
Benefit payments made for LEOSSA
Differences between expected and actual experience (pension, OPEB)
Changes in assumptions (pensions)
Net differences between projected and actual earnings
on plan investments (pension, OPEB)
Changes in proportion and differences between employer contributions
and proportionate share of contributions (pension)

Amount
$
466,606
18,502
385,012
338,626
51,411
59,453
$ 1,319,610

Deferred inflows of resources at year end comprise the following:
Statement of
Net Position
$
1,903

Source
Taxes receivable, less penalties (General Fund)
Prepaid property taxes
Differences between expected and actual experience (Pensions,
OPEB)

191,178

Net difference between projected and actual investment earnings
(Pensions, OPEB)
Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions (Pension)
Changes of assumptions and other inputs (Pensions, OPEB)
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Note 8 – Risk Management and Contingent Liabilities

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City carries liability
insurance for various risks of loss through the North Carolina League of Municipalities Risk
Management Services. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial
insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.
The City carries flood insurance through the National Flood Insurance Plan (NFIP). Because the City is
in an area of the State that has been mapped and designated an “A” area (an area close to a river, lake or
stream) by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, the City is eligible to purchase coverage of
$500,000 per structure through the NFIP.
The City of Brevard ABC Board is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to,
and destruction of assets; errors and omission; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The ABC
Board has property, general liability, auto liability, workers’ compensation and employee health
coverage. The ABC Board also has liquor legal liability coverage. There have been no significant
reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims have not exceeded coverage in
any of the past three fiscal years.
In accordance with G.S. 159-29, the City’s employees that have access to $100 or more at any given
time of the City’s funds are performance bonded through a commercial surety bond. The City Finance
Officer/City Manager and the City Clerk are each bonded for $100,000. The remaining employees that
have access to funds are bonded under a blanket bond for $50,000. Additionally, each ABC Board
Member and employees designated as the general manager and finance officer are bonded in the amount
of $50,000.
The City is presently a defendant in lawsuits and is also subject to claims which may arise out of the
ordinary conduct of its affairs. It is the opinion of the City’s management and counsel that settlement
of these matters, if any, will not have a material adverse effect of the City’s financial position.
Note 9 – Long-term Debt
Installment Contracts
In December 2012, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $280,000
to finance the purchase of a Seagraves Tanker fire truck. The property is pledged as collateral for the
debt while the debt is outstanding. The financing agreement requires monthly payments of $2,751
including interest at 1.96% per annum through December 2022.
In December 2014, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $426,000
to finance the purchase of the former Duke Energy Building located at 400 Cashiers Valley Road,
Brevard, NC. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt while the debt is outstanding. The
financing agreement requires monthly payments of $3,978, including interest at 2.25% per annum
through January 2025.
In August 2016, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $122,000 for
the purchase of fire extrication equipment. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt while the
debt is outstanding. The financing agreement requires monthly payments of $2,126, including interest at
1.74% through August 2021.
In April 2017, the City entered in to a direct placement installment purchase contract for $421,234 to
finance equipment for sanitation, streets, sewer collections, park management, and waste water
treatment. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt while the debt is outstanding. The financing
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agreement requires monthly payments of $7,376, including interest at 1.96% per annum through April
2022.
In May 2018, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $50,139 for the
purchase of public works equipment. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt while the debt is
outstanding. The financing agreement requires monthly payments of $903, including interest at 3.09%
per annum through May 2023.
In May 2018, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $257,197 for the
purchase of a garbage truck, an excavator, and accessories. The property is pledged as collateral for the
debt while the debt is outstanding. The financing agreement requires monthly payments of $2,500,
including interest at 3.09% per annum through May 2023.
In August 2019, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $332,154 for
the purchase of utility equipment. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt while the debt is
outstanding. The financing agreement requires monthly payments of $3,178, including interest at
3.40% per annum through August 2029.
In June 2020, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $97,761 for the
purchase of various public safety, public works, and water and sewer equipment. The property is
pledged as collateral for the debt while the debt is outstanding. The financing agreement requires
monthly payments of $1,705, including interest at 1.79% per annum, through June 2025.
In June 2020, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $390,372 for the
purchase of various public safety, public works, and water and sewer equipment. The property is
pledged as collateral for the debt while the debt is outstanding. The financing agreement requires
monthly payments of $3,640, including interest at 2.24% per annum, through June 2030.
In September 2019, the City entered into a direct placement installment contract for $245,631 the
purchase of radio-read water meters. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt while the debt is
outstanding. The financing agreement requires monthly payments of $2,324, including interest at
2.578% per annum, through September of 2029.
The future minimum payments of the installment purchases as of June 30, 2020 are as follows:

Year ending
June 30
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026-2030

Governmental Activities
Principal
Interest
$ 199,572
$ 18,498
$
170,325
14,313
103,259
11,126
83,257
8,898
78,417
6,823
210,392
12,321
$ 845,222
$ 71,979
$

Total
218,070
184,638
114,385
92,155
85,240
222,713
917,201

Business-type Activities
Principal
Interest
Total
$ 122,914
$ 18,385
$ 141,299
125,395
15,682
141,077
104,114
13,262
117,376
103,577
10,999
114,576
92,246
8,605
100,851
340,794
17,910
358,704
$ 889,040
$ 84,843
$ 973,883

Revolving Loans
In May 2011, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan through a grant for
$1,142,606 with a loan term of 16 years at 2.455% per annum for the Belt Press Grit Removal Capital
Project. Interest is due semiannually starting in November 2013 through May 2029. Beginning in May
2014, the City is required to make annual principal payments of $71,875 through May 2029.
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In May 2012, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan through a grant for
$749,375 with a loan term of 20 years at 2.00% per annum for the Kings Creek Sewer Capital Project.
Interest is due semiannually starting in November 2013 through May 2033. Beginning in May 2014,
the City is required to make annual principal payments of $37,469 through May 2033.
In February 2014, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for and estimated
$1,496,550 with a term of 20 years at 0% interest. The loan was for replacement of 3,484 manual-read
meters with radio-read meters. Beginning in May 2017, the City is required to make annual principal
payments of $74,828 through May 2036.
In May 2014, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for $1,680,000 with a term
of 20 years at 2% per annum. The loan is for the City-wide 6 Inch Gravity Sewer Upgrade Project.
Interest is due semiannually starting in November 2016. Beginning in May 2017, the City is required to
make annual principal payments of $84,000 through May 2036.
In March 2013, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for $2,641,000 with a
term of 18 years at 0% interest. The loan is for the Burrell Mountain Water Tank Project. Beginning in
May 2016, the City is required to make annual principal payments of $146,728 through May 2033.
In August 2015, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for $1,435,784 with a
term of 20 years at 0% per annum. The loan is for the Kings Creek Phase II Sewer Rehabilitation and
Replacement Project. Beginning in May 2018, the City is required to make annual principal payments
of $71,789 through May 2037.
In October 2015, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for $1,484,150 with a
term of 20 years at 0% interest. The loan is for the Kings Creek Phase III Sewer Rehabilitation and
Replacement Project. Beginning in May 2018, the City is required to make annual principal payments
of $74,208 through May 2037.
In October 2015, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for up to $13,660,000
with a term of 20 years at 1.84% per annum. The final loan amount was $12,987,256. The loan is for
the Neely Road Pump Station and Force Main Rehabilitation Project. Beginning in November 2018,
the City was required to make semi-annual interest payments. Beginning in May 2019, the City is
required to make annual principal payments of $649,363 through May 2038.
The future minimum payments of the revolving loans as of June 30, 2020 are as follows:

Year ending
June 30
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026-2030
2031-2035
2036-2038
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Principal
$
1,209,789
1,209,789
1,209,789
1,209,789
1,209,789
5,977,528
5,323,483
2,398,875
$ 19,748,831

Business-type Activities
Interest
$
269,370
$
252,947
236,510
220,117
203,762
773,816
396,545
72,528
$
2,425,595
$
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July 1, 2019
Governmental Activities:
Direct placement
installment contracts
Total pension liability (LEOSSA)
Net pension obligation (LGERS)
Net OPEB obligation
Compensated absences
Governmental activity longterm liabilities
Business-type Activities:
Direct placement
installment contracts
Direct placement
revolving loans
Net pension obligation (LGERS)
Net OPEB obligation
Compensated absences
Business-type activity longterm liabilities

$

Increase

Decrease

June 30, 2020

Current
Portion

678,923
506,819
1,201,734
13,170
275,479

$

395,112
109,108
297,215
190,122

$ 228,813
13,170
165,288

$

845,222
615,927
1,498,949
300,313

$ 199,572
189,426

$ 2,676,125

$

991,557

$ 407,271

$ 3,260,411

$ 388,998

$

$

670,806

$

$

889,040

$ 122,914

317,731
20,958,617
300,433
3,292
75,394

$ 21,655,467

$

99,497

74,304
57,486

1,209,786
3,292
44,988

19,748,831
374,737
87,892

1,209,789
81,283

802,596

$ 1,357,563

$ 21,100,500

$ 1,413,986

Compensated absences for governmental activities typically have been liquidated in the general fund
and are accounted for on a LIFO basis, assuming that employees are taking leave time as it is earned.
As of June 30, 2020, the City’s remaining legal debt margin was approximately $55,900,000.
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Note 10 – Interfund Balances and Activity

A. Balances Due to/from Other Funds
The composition of interfund balances as of June 30, 2020 is as follows:

Receivable Fund

Payable Fund

Amount

General Fund

Multi-Use Path Capital Project Fund
for the Probart Street Sidewalk Project

$ 515,000

B. Transfers to/from Other Funds

From the General Fund to the Special Fire District Fund
for use in operations of the fire department

$ 438,664

From the General Fund to the Downtown Master Plan Fund
for use in downtown capital projects

$ 757,500

From the General Fund to the Multi-Use Path Capital Project Fund
for use in construction of greenways around the City

$ 475,532

From the General Fund to the Rosenwald Fund for
construction and improvement of recreational facilities

$ 90,000

From the Capital Reserve Fund to the Utility Fund
for water system improvements

$ 80,000

From the Bjerg Fund to the General Fund for maintenance
of the French Broad Community Center

$

6,500

Note 11 – Net Investment in Capital Assets
The net investment in capital assets as of June 30, 2020 is calculated as follows:

Capital assets
Less: Long-term debt
Add: Unspent loan proceeds
Net investment in capital assets
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The following schedule provides management and citizens with information on the portion of the
General Fund balance that is available for appropriation:

Total fund balance - General Fund
Less:
Nonspendable - inventory
Stabilization by State statute
Minimum fund balance policy (25%)
Remaining Fund Balance

$

4,551,757

$

(45,669)
(1,535,441)
(2,336,545)
634,102

The City has adopted a minimum fund balance policy for the General Fund which instructs
management to conduct business of the City in such a manner that available fund balance is at least
equal to or greater than 25% of budgeted expenditures.
The City had no outstanding encumbrances related to purchase orders and contracts that remained
unperformed at year-end.
Note 13 – Bjerg Nonexpendable Trust Fund
The Bjerg Nonexpendable Trust Fund, consisting of a gift of $55,440 from the Estate of Dorothy S.
Bjerg, is restricted. The income from the fund is to be used for the maintenance and upkeep of the
building known as "French Broad Community Center" located within the City.
Note 14 – Subsequent Events
The City entered into several material transactions subsequent to the close of the fiscal year on June 30,
2020. On August 6, 2020, a property was purchased for $1,877,500. A 15-year loan for $1,300,000 at
an interest rate of 1.86% was obtained to finance the purchase. Also in August 2020, the City was
awarded grants totaling $2,958,727 and no-interest loans totaling $986,241 from the North Carolina
Department of Environmental Quality for water system improvements.
Note 15 – Related Party Transactions
The City purchased approximately $24,000 of goods during the year from Harris Hardware and Farm
Supply, Inc., which is operated by Mayor Jimmy Harris.
Note 16 – Summary Disclosure of Significant Contingencies
Federal and State Assisted Programs
The City has received federal and state grants. Periodic audits of these grants are required and certain
costs may be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the grant agreements. Such audits
could result in the refund of grant monies to the grantor agencies. Management believes that any
required refunds will be immaterial. No provision has been made in the accompanying financial
statements for the refund of grant monies.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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During the year ended June 30, 2020, the City received several parcels of donated land for public works
projects, including a dog park, the Mary C. Jenkins Center, and two other parks. The City recorded a
special item of donated revenue in the statement of activities within governmental activities in the
amount of $814,767.
Note 18 – Prior Period Adjustment - Correction of an Error
During the year ended June 30, 2020, management was notified of an error in the actuarial inputs used
to calculate the net other post-employment benefits (OPEB) liability. This error has resulted in an
overstatement of the liability in prior years. In order to correct the error, the City’s beginning net
position has increased by $318,290, with $254,631 allocated to governmental activities and $63,659
allocated to business-type activities.
Note 19 – Uncertainties from COVID-19 Pandemic
The COVID-19 pandemic in the United States, including the City of Brevard, North Carolina, has
caused severe business disruptions as state and local governments have declared states of emergency
and issued stay-at-home orders for all but the most essential activities. As a result, economic
uncertainties have arisen which are likely to negatively impact the City in various ways.
A loss of revenue could take place. Sales tax revenue is particularly vulnerable to economic
uncertainties. The City may also experience staffing shortages due to employee departures from the
workforce or from exposure to the virus. Other financial impacts could occur, though such potential
impact is unknown at this time. The overall financial impact and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic
cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS' SPECIAL SEPARATION ALLOWANCE
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST FOUR FISCAL YEARS

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
2020
Beginning balance
Service cost
Interest on the total pension liability
Changes of benefit terms
Differences between expected and actual experience
in the measurement of the total pension liability
Change of assumptions or other inputs
Benefit payments
Other changes
Ending balance of the total pension liability

$

$

506,819
27,892
17,832
78,298
18,962
(33,876)
615,927

2019
$

519,416
30,569
15,878
(4,664)
(20,504)
(33,876)
506,819

$

2018
$

$

2017

539,753
26,655
19,948
-

$

563,585
29,666
19,069
-

(60,283)
39,286
(45,943)
519,416

$

(13,688)
(58,879)
539,753

519,416

$

539,753

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll
Total pension liability

$

Covered payroll

615,927
1,312,841

Total pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll

$

506,819
1,282,051

46.92%

39.53%

$

1,241,015
41.85%

1,192,033
45.28%

Notes to the schedules:
The City of Brevard has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria
in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 73 to pay related benefits.

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior year ended December 31. These schedules are intended
to provide information for ten fiscal years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it becomes available.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PLAN
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST FOUR FISCAL YEARS
Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Asset (Liability) and Related Ratios

2020

Total OPEB Liability
Service cost
Interest on the total OPEB liability
Changes of benefit terms
Differences between expected and actual experience
Change of assumptions or other inputs
Benefit payments
Net change in total OPEB liability
Total OPEB liability - beginning
Total OPEB liability - ending

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer
Net investment income
Benefit payments
Net change in plan fiduciary net position
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning
Plan fiduciary net position - ending

City's net OPEB asset (liability) - ending

(restated)

2018

2017

17,553
7,130
(149,720)
(2,952)
18,517
(109,472)
252,931
$ 143,459

$

16,959
6,709
(25,310)
15,731
14,089
238,842
$ 252,931

$

16,386
6,240
(22,306)
18,104
18,424
220,418
$ 238,842

$

$

11,483
3,320
18,517
33,320
236,469
$ 269,789

$

3,019
4,890
15,731
23,640
212,829
$ 236,469

$

646
22
18,104
18,772
194,057
$ 212,829

$

$ 126,330

$

$

$

188.06%
$4,341,214

City's net OPEB asset (liability) as a percentage of
covered payroll
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(restated)

2019

$

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total OPEB liability
Covered payroll

(restated)

93.49%
$4,003,851

2.91%
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(16,462)

-0.41%

(26,013)

89.11%
$4,003,851

-0.65%

15,869
5,127
55,672
(58,498)
18,170
202,248
$ 220,418

77,248
39
(58,498)
18,789
175,268
$ 194,057

(26,361)

88.04%
$4,003,851

-0.66%
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PLAN
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST FOUR FISCAL YEARS
Schedule of the City's Contributions
(restated)
2019

2020
Actuarily Determined Contribution

$

4,276

Contribution in relation to the
contractually required contribution

$

16,315

11,483

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

(7,207)

City's covered payroll

$ 4,341,214

Actual contributions as a percentage of
covered payroll

(restated)
2018

$

3,019
$

13,296

$ 4,003,851

0.26%

0.08%

17,214

(restated)
2017

$

646
$

16,568

$ 4,003,851

23,438

77,248
$

(53,810)

$ 4,003,851

0.02%

1.93%

Notes to Schedule:
Valuation date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30, one year prior
to the end of the year in which contributions are reported. This schedule will build to a ten-year schedule
as information becomes available.
Methods and assumptions used to determine contributions rates:
Actuarial cost method
Amortization method
Amortization period
Asset valuation method
Inflation
Healthcare cost trend rates
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Retirement age and mortality
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Entry age normal
Level dollar
30 years
Market value
2.50 percent
7.0 percent for 2019 decreasing to 4.5% by 2026
3.5 to 7.75 including inflation and productivity factor
2.72 percent, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including
inflation
Assumed life expectancies are based on the RP-2014 Healthy
Annuitant base rates projected to 2015 using MP-2015,
projected forward generationally from 2015 using MP-2015.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
LOCAL GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST SEVEN FISCAL YEARS *
City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset)

2020
City's proportionate share of the net pension
liability (asset) (%)
City's proportion of the net pension liability
(asset) ($)
City's covered payroll

2019

0.06861%

2018

0.06332%

$ 1,873,686

$ 1,502,167

4,736,758

4,376,609

0.06516%

$

2017

2016

0.07112%

995,464

$ 1,509,405

4,365,405

4,312,361

0.07737%

$

347,232
4,405,582

2015

2014

0.07524%

$ (443,725)
4,477,284

0.00728%

$

877,520
4,548,986

City's proportionate share of the net pension
liability (asset) as a percentage of its
covered payroll

39.56%

34.32%

22.80%

35.00%

7.88%

9.91%

19.29%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability **

90.86%

91.63%

91.48%

91.47%

98.09%

99.07%

102.64%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior year ended June 30. These schedules are intended
to provide information for ten fiscal years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it becomes available.

** This will be the same percentage for all participant employers in the LGERS plan.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
LOCAL GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST SEVEN FISCAL YEARS
Schedule of the City's Contributions

2020
Contractually required contribution

$

Contribution in relation to the
contractually required contribution

2019

466,606

466,606

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

City's covered payroll

$ 5,090,737

Contributions as a percentage of
covered payroll

$

-

9.17%

2018

378,589

$

378,589
$

-

$ 4,736,758

2017

339,990

$

339,990
$

-

$ 4,376,609

7.99%

2016

328,218

$

328,218
$

-

$ 4,365,405

7.77%

7.52%

2015

296,217

$

296,217
$

-

$ 4,312,361

6.87%

2014

315,304

$

315,304
$

-

$ 4,405,582

319,008

319,008
$

$ 4,477,284

7.16%

These schedules are intended to provide information for ten fiscal years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it becomes available.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST SIX FISCAL YEARS *
City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability

2020
City's proportionate share of the net pension
liability (%)
City's proportion of the net pension liability ($)

2019

0.00000%
$

State's proportionate share of the net pension liability
associated with the City

-

0.00000%
$

36,057

Total

$

36,057

City's covered payroll

$ 330,775

2018

-

0.00000%
$

49,860
$

49,860

$ 312,091

2017

-

0.00000%
$

44,577
$

44,577

$ 299,914

2016

-

0.00000%
$

33,501
$

33,501

$ 281,616

2015

-

0.00000%
$

32,874
$

32,874

$ 256,786

-

25,311
$

25,311

$ 209,861

City's proportionate share of the net pension
liability as a percentage of its covered payroll

10.90%

15.98%

14.86%

11.90%

12.80%

12.06%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability

92.43%

89.69%

89.35%

89.94%

91.40%

93.42%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior year ended June 30. These schedules are intended
to provide information for ten fiscal years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it becomes available.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2020
Final
Budget
Revenues
Ad Valorem Taxes:
Current year
Prior years
Penalties and interest
Refunds paid on ad valorem tax

$

Other Taxes and Licenses:
Local option sales tax
Zoning administration
Unrestricted Intergovernmental Revenues:
Utilities sales tax
Beer and wine taxes
Video franchise fees
City of Brevard ABC Board
Payments in lieu of taxes
Solid waste disposal tax
Restricted Intergovernmental Revenues:
Powell Bill allocation
City narcotics investigation
CARES Act
Court facilities fees
Sales and Services:
Recycling revenue
Rents
Parking violation penalties
Refuse collection fees
Vehicle maintenance

Investment earnings
Miscellaneous revenue
Total revenues
Expenditures
General Government:
Governing Body:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Administration:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Allocation to utility fund
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5,037,485
10,000
9,000
(2,500)
5,053,985

Actual

$

5,180,680
4,330
2,146
(1,773)
5,185,383

$

143,195
(5,670)
(6,854)
727
131,398

1,731,412
35,000
1,766,412

1,837,898
33,390
1,871,288

106,486
(1,610)
104,876

540,000
35,000
45,000
150,000
7,000
6,000
783,000

532,138
35,092
44,222
150,000
7,671
6,175
775,298

(7,862)
92
(778)
671
175
(7,702)

222,000
35,000
2,000
259,000

220,568
40,064
22,087
2,993
285,712

(1,432)
5,064
22,087
993
26,712

220,000
29,000
3,000
660,000
431,650
1,343,650

232,888
32,247
1,880
683,242
192,425
1,142,682

12,888
3,247
(1,120)
23,242
(239,225)
(200,968)

120,100

91,031

(29,069)

13,000

28,619

15,619

9,339,147

9,380,013

40,866

35,668
69,000
104,668

39,129
59,931
99,060

5,608

513,875
162,230
(300,000)
376,105

503,427
152,122
(300,000)
355,549

20,556
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2020
Final
Budget
Finance:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Allocation to utility fund
Legal:
Other operating expenses
Planning:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Special Appropriations:
Arts Council
Chamber of Commerce
Heart of Brevard
Bread of Life
Boys and Girls Club
Farmers Market
Total General Government
Public Safety:
Police:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay
Total Public Safety
Public Works:
Administration:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Central Maintenance:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Streets:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Powell Bill:
Other operating expenses
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330,403
399,500
(300,000)
429,903

371,193
338,088
(300,000)
409,281

20,622

65,500

56,229

9,271

438,809
465,450
904,259

379,806
430,842
810,648

93,611

10,000
3,000
30,000
5,000
5,000
20,000
88,000

10,000
3,000
30,000
5,000
5,000
20,000
73,000

15,000

1,968,435

1,803,767

164,668

2,569,186
562,478
210,000
3,341,664

2,553,372
507,987
214,681
3,276,040

65,624

345,664
102,850
448,514

349,405
92,622
442,027

6,487

203,486
407,100
610,586

207,870
173,436
381,306

229,280

481,370
370,487
851,857

459,332
362,297
821,629

30,228

222,000
222,000

193,087
193,087

28,913
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2020
Final
Budget
Building and Grounds:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Sanitation:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay
Total Public Works
Cultural and Recreation:
Recreation Department:
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay
Total Cultural and Recreation
Debt Service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Total Debt Service
OPEB Expense
Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

Actual

173,597
180,150
353,747

175,436
157,937
333,373

20,374

475,249
371,000
211,076
1,057,325

493,505
351,681
203,525
1,048,711

8,614

3,544,029

3,220,133

323,896

190,100
23,654
213,754

179,289
12,282
191,571

22,183

257,899
257,899

111,588
14,254
125,842

132,057

20,400

20,400

9,346,181

8,637,753

708,428

742,260

749,294

(7,034)

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Fund balance appropriated
Operating transfers (to) from other funds:
Pedestrian Fund
Fire District Fund
Downtown Master Plan Capital Project Fund
Multi-use Path Capital Project Fund
Rosenwald Fund
Bjerg Trust
Installment obligations issued
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Total other financing sources (uses)

1,230,320

$

(1,230,320)

(438,664)
(757,500)
(475,532)
(90,000)
6,500
395,113
10,350
(1,349,733)

-

(607,473)

Fund balance, beginning of year
Prior period adjustments (Note 17)

p

Fund balance, end of year

$
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-

-

45,000
(438,664)
(757,500)
(475,532)
(835,000)
6,500
1,221,910
10,000
7,034

Net change in fund balance

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

(45,000)
745,000
(826,797)
350
(1,356,767)
$

(607,473)

4,801,677
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

CAPITAL RESERVE FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Fees in lieu of infrastructure

$

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Fund balance appropriated
Transfer to the Water and Sewer Fund
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance

$

-

Actual
$

72,820

$

80,000
(80,000)
-

(80,000)
(80,000)

-

(7,180)

Fund balance, beginning of year

72,820

(80,000)
(80,000)
$

(7,180)

364,733

Fund balance, end of year
Fund balance committed for:
Streets and sidewalks
Water and sewer projects

$

357,553

$

91,126
266,427
357,553

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Combining Balance Sheet
June 30, 2020

Special Revenue
Heart of Brevard
Emergency
Municipal Service
Telephone System
District Fund
Fund

Special
Fire District
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Taxes receivable, net
Other receivables
Due from other governments
Notes receivable
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to the General Fund
Total liabilitites

$

$

$

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Taxes receivable, net
FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable
Restricted for:
Stabilization by state statute
Public safety
Economic and physical development
Perpetual maintenance
Unassigned (deficit)
Committed for capital projects
Total fund balances (deficits)
Total liabilities deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances
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$

69,491
365
69,856

22,954
22,954

$

$

$

7,517
1,726
78
9,321

7,595
7,595

$

$

$

63,461
14,240
77,701

-

Housing
Trust Fund
$

$

$

146,380
248,243
394,623

-

-

1,726

-

-

-

-

-

-

365
46,537
46,902

1,804
(1,804)
-

14,240
63,461
77,701

69,856

$

9,321
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394,623
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Combining Balance Sheet
June 30, 2020

Multi-Use
Path Project
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Taxes receivable, net
Other receivables
Due from other governments
Notes receivable
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to the General Fund
Total liabilitites

$

$

$

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Taxes receivable, net
FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable
Restricted for:
Stabilization by state statute
Public safety
Economic and physical development
Perpetual maintenance
Unassigned (deficit)
Committed for capital projects
Total fund balances (deficits)
Total liabilities deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances
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53,659
104,669
158,328

3,036
515,000
518,036

Capital Projects
Downtown
Master Plan
Project Fund
$

$

1,155,712
1,155,712

$

24,129
24,129

$

$

$

Permanent
Non-expendable
Bjerg
Trust Fund

62,848
62,848

$

14
14

$

$

Total Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

56,126
56,126

$

-

$

$

1,272,219
342,975
1,726
365
118,987
248,243
1,984,515

57,728
515,000
572,728

-

-

-

-

1,726

-

-

-

55,440

55,440

62,834
62,834

686
56,126

104,669
(464,377)
(359,708)
$

Rosenwald
Revitalization
Project Fund

158,328

1,131,583
1,131,583
$

1,155,712

$
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$

56,126

121,078
109,998
394,623
686
(1,804)
730,040
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Special Revenue
Heart of Brevard
Emergency
Municipal Service
Telephone System
District Fund
Fund

Special
Fire District
Fund
Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes
Restricted intergovernmental
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

Expenditures:
Public safety
Economic and physical development
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures
Other Financing Sources:
Transfers from General Fund
Transfers to other funds
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances, beginning
Fund balances (deficits), ending
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$

370,113
365
1,634
372,112

$

138,645
138,645

$

56,961
56,961

Housing
Trust Fund
$

2,820
2,820

690,348
-

138,645
-

35,540
-

-

117,225
3,078
810,651

138,645

35,540

-

(438,539)

-

21,421

2,820

438,664
438,664

-

-

-

125

-

21,421

2,820

46,777

-

56,280

391,803

46,902

$

-
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Multi-Use
Path Project
Fund
Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes
Restricted intergovernmental
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

Expenditures:
Public safety
Economic and physical development
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures
Other Financing Sources:
Transfers from General Fund
Transfers to other funds
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances, beginning
Fund balances (deficits), ending
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$

109,669
10,400
120,069

Capital Projects
Downtown
Master Plan
Project Fund
$

82,968
50,784
133,752

Rosenwald
Revitalization
Project Fund

Permanent
Non-expendable
Bjerg
Trust Fund

Total Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

$

$

$

-

949
949

508,758
249,963
949
65,638
825,308

1,078,189

327,684

110,125

-

725,888
138,645
1,515,998

1,078,189

327,684

110,125

-

117,225
3,078
2,500,834

(958,120)

(193,932)

(110,125)

475,532
475,532

757,500
757,500

90,000
90,000

(6,500)
(6,500)

(482,588)

563,568

(20,125)

(5,551)

122,880

568,015

82,959

61,677

(359,708)

$

1,131,583

$

62,834
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949

$

56,126

(1,675,526)

1,761,696
(6,500)
1,755,196
79,670
1,330,391
$

1,410,061
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

SPECIAL FIRE DISTRICT FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes
Restricted intergovernmental
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

Expenditures:
Public Safety:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay
Total public safety
Debt Service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Total debt service
Total expenditures
Revenues under expenditures
Other Financing Sources:
Fund balance appropriated
Transfer from general fund
Lease purchase proceeds
Total other financing sources
Net change in fund balance

$

Actual

382,804
382,804

$

370,113
365
1,634
372,112

$

(12,691)
365
1,634
(10,692)

436,358
264,805
660,000
1,361,163

416,678
269,530
4,140
690,348

19,680.00
(4,725.00)
655,860
670,815

121,305
121,305

117,225
3,078
120,303

4,080
(3,078)
1,002

1,482,468

810,651

671,817

(1,099,664)

(438,539)

661,125

11,000
438,664
650,000
1,099,664

438,664
438,664

(11,000)
(650,000)
(661,000)

-

125

Fund balance, beginning of year

$

125

46,777

Fund balance, end of year
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

SPECIAL MUNICIPAL SERVICE DISTRICT FUND
HEART OF BREVARD
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes

$

Expenditures:
Contracted services

146,000

Actual
$

146,000

Net change in fund balance

$

138,645

$

138,645

-

-

Fund balance, beginning of year

(7,355)

7,355
$

-

-

Fund balance, end of year
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

EMERGENCY TELEPHONE SYSTEM FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Restricted intergovernmental

$

Expenditures:
Public safety
Net change in fund balance

$

56,972

Actual
$

56,961

56,972

35,540

-

21,421

Fund balance, beginning of year

$

(11)

21,432
$

21,421

56,280

Fund balance, end of year

Page 149 of 269

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

HOUSING TRUST FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Developer loan repayment

$

Expenditures:
Economic and physical development
Revenues over expenditures

2,820

Actual
$

-

-

21,184

Reconciliation from budget to actual schedule (budgetary basis)
to the fund schedule (modified accrual)
Reconciling item:
Net collections on long-term loans

$

18,364

2,820
$

21,184

(18,364)

Net change in fund balance

2,820

Fund balance, beginning of year

391,803

Fund balance, end of year
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21,184

2,820
$

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

MULTI-USE PATH CAPITAL PROJECT FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Final
Budget
Revenues
Restricted intergovernmental
Miscellaneous revenues

$

Actual

100,000
-

Total revenues

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$

109,669
10,400

$

9,669
10,400

100,000

120,069

20,069

304,661
128,041
100,000
705,532

232,504
31,771
130,837
683,077

72,157
96,270
(30,837)
22,455

Total expenditures

1,238,234

1,078,189

Revenues under expenditures

(1,138,234)

Expenditures:
Paths, sidewalks, and signage
Skate park project
Railroad avenue project
Railroad depot project

(958,120)

180,114

700,000
438,234

475,532

(700,000)
37,298

1,138,234

475,532

(662,702)

Other Financing Sources:
Fund balance appropriated
Transfers from General Fund
Total other financing sources
Net change in fund balance

$

-

(482,588)

Fund balance, beginning of year

$

(482,588)

122,880

Fund balance (deficit), end of year
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160,045

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

DOWNTOWN MASTER PLAN CAPITAL PROJECT FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Jordan Street parking lot
Grant revenue
Total revenues

$

Expenditures:
Clemson Plaza and other downtown improvements
Jordan Street parking lot
Total expenditures
Revenues under expenditures
Other Financing Sources:
Transfer from General Fund
Total other financing sources

Net change in fund balance

$

Actual

50,000
11,000
61,000

$

50,784
82,968
133,752

$

784
71,968
72,752

555,729
818,500

321,918
5,766
327,684

233,811
(5,766)
490,816

(757,500)

(193,932)

563,568

757,500
757,500

757,500
757,500

-

Fund balance, beginning of year

563,568

-

$

563,568

568,015

Fund balance, end of year
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$ 1,131,583
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

ROSENWALD REVITALIZATION CAPITAL PROJECT FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Restricted intergovernmental

$

Expenses:
Revitalization project

$

917,959

Other Financing Sources:
Fund balance appropriated
Transfer from General Fund
Total other financing sources
Net change in fund balance

Actual
-

Revenues under expenditures

$

$
$

110,125

$
$

807,834

(917,959)

(110,125)

807,834

82,959
835,000
917,959

90,000
90,000

(82,959)
(745,000)
(827,959)

-

(20,125)

Fund balance, beginning of year

$

(20,125)

82,959

Fund balance, end of year
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

WATER AND SEWER FUND
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
For the year ended June 30, 2020
Final
Budget
Revenues:
Charges for utilities:
Water
Sewer
Taps and connection fees:
Water
Sewer
Other operating revenues

$

2,844,875
2,528,145

Total revenues
Expenditures:
Water Service:
Water Treatment:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Water Distribution:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Total water service
Sewer Service:
Sewage Treatment:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay

Sewer Maintenance:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay
Total sewer service
Debt Service:
Interest and fees
Debt principal
Total debt service
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Actual

$

2,857,856
2,651,873

$

12,981
123,728

36,000
44,000
291,800

19,200
60,413
264,350

5,744,820

5,853,692

108,872

358,149
471,000
829,149

377,000
438,228
815,228

13,921

266,349
395,200
661,549

261,644
389,985
651,629

9,920

1,490,698

1,466,857

23,841

582,767
1,066,681
228,791
1,878,239

638,576
984,313
234,596
1,857,485

20,754

324,700
366,307
119,460
810,467

267,499
324,241
126,835
718,575

91,892

2,688,706

2,576,060

112,646

1,683,010
1,683,010

283,721
1,309,283
1,593,004

90,006
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

WATER AND SEWER FUND
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
For the year ended June 30, 2020
Final
Budget
Nondepartmental:
Payment to general fund in lieu of
taxes and administrative expenses
OPEB expense
Miscellaneous
Total expenditures

Other financing sources:
Fund balance appropriated
Installment obligations issued
Total other financing sources
Revenues and other sources under
expenditures

Actual

600,000
9,600
30,000
639,600

600,000
9,600
44,490
654,090

6,502,014

6,290,011

Revenues under expenditures

$

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

(14,490)
(14,490)
212,003

(757,194)

(436,319)

320,875

337,019
420,175
757,194

425,175
425,175

(337,019)
5,000
(332,019)

-

(11,144)

$

(11,144)

Reconciliation of Budgetary Basis
(modified accrual) to Full Accrual Basis:
Reconciling items:
Installment obligations issued
Payment of debt principal
Capital outlay
Revenues of the Capital Project Fund
Capital outlay of the Capital Project Fund
Transfer from the Capital Reserve Fund
Decrease in accrued interest
Decrease in net OPEB liability
Increase in deferred outflows of resources - OPEB
Increase in deferred inflows of resources - OPEB
Decrease in deferred outflows of resources - pension
Increase in net pension liability
Decrease in deferred inflows of resources - pension
Increase in accrued vacation
Depreciation
Change in net position
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(425,175)
1,309,283
189,756
613,333
(283,560)
80,000
1,900
28,558
256
(25,073)
(5,517)
(74,304)
4,423
(12,498)
(1,155,471)
$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

WATER AND SEWER CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Actual through June 30, 2020
Project
Authorization
Revenues:
Restricted intergovernmental

$ 3,083,000

Expenditures:
WWTP Rehab Project
Radio Read Meter Project
Cathey's Creek Stream Restoration
Gallimore Road Sewer Basin Project
Total expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Loan proceeds
Transfer from Capital Reserve Fund
Transfer to Water and Sewer Fund
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$

166,000
380,120
1,000,000
2,083,000
3,629,120

Revenues under expenditures

Revenues and other financing sources
over expenditures and other uses

Reported in
Prior Years

$

15,952

Current
Year

$

85,498
85,498

613,333

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

Total to
Date

$

69,350
283,560
572,863
151,845
1,077,618

629,285

$

154,848
283,560
572,863
151,845
1,163,116

(2,453,715)

11,152
96,560
427,137
1,931,155
2,466,004

(546,120)

(69,546)

(464,285)

(533,831)

12,289

380,120
280,000
(114,000)
546,120

200,000
(129,952)
70,048

245,631
80,000
325,631

245,631
280,000
(129,952)
395,679

(134,489)
(15,952)
(150,441)

-

$

502

$
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$

(138,152)
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

INSURANCE INTERNAL SERVICE FUND
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Financial Plan and Actual (Non-GAAP)
For the year ended June 30, 2020
Financial
Plan
Revenues:
Charges for services

$ 1,520,300

Expenditures:
Claims
Insurance premiums
Other operating expenses
Total expenditures
Revenues over expenditures
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Actual
$

1,044,990
265,450
209,860
1,520,300
$

-

1,533,505

$

835,375
228,260
201,608
1,265,243
$
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Variance
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(Negative)

268,262

13,205
209,615
37,190
8,252
255,057

$

268,262
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GENERAL FUND
Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Uncollected
Balance
6/30/2019

Fiscal Year
2019-2020
2018-2019
2017-2018
2016-2017
2015-2016
2014-2015
2013-2014
2012-2013
2011-2012
2010-2011
2009-2010

$

$

3,746
1,833
1,896
832
755
1,803
1,977
1,169
2,287
814
17,112

Collections
And Credits

Additions
$

$

5,208,502
5,208,502

Uncollected
Balance
6/30/2020

$

$

5,181,289
1,457
648
814
5,184,208

$

Less: allowance for uncollectible accounts:
General Fund
Ad valorem taxes receivable, net

27,213
2,289
1,185
1,896
832
755
1,803
1,977
1,169
2,287
41,406

(15,000)
$

26,406

$

5,185,383

$

(2,146)
814
157
5,184,208

Reconciliation with revenues:
Ad valorem taxes - General Fund
Reconciling items:
Interest collected
Taxes written off
Refunds and other adjustments, net
Total collections and credits
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GENERAL FUND
Analysis of Current Tax Levy
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Original levy:
Property taxed at current rates
Penalties
Total

$

Property
Valuation

Rate

962,144,749

0.0051

Property
Excluding
Registered
Motor
Vehicles

Total
Levy

$

5,181,737
1,530
5,183,267

$

4,906,938
1,530
4,908,468

Registered
Motor
Vehicles

$

274,799
274,799

Discoveries

18,112,353

92,373

92,373

-

Abatements

(13,164,314)

(67,138)

(67,138)

-

Total property valuation

$

967,092,788

Net levy
Uncollected taxes at June 30, 2020
Current year's taxes collected

$

Current levy collection percentage
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5,208,502

4,933,703

27,213

27,213

5,181,289
99.48%
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4,906,490
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274,799
$
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Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
And On Compliance And Other Matters Based On An Audit Of Financial Statements
Performed In Accordance With Government Auditing Standards

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Brevard
Brevard, North Carolina
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial
statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented
component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Brevard, North Carolina, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprises the City of Brevard’s basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated January 15, 2021. Our report includes a
reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of the City of Brevard ABC
Board, as described in our report on the City of Brevard’s financial statements. This report does
not include the results of the other auditors’ testing of internal control over financial reporting or
compliance and other matters that are reported separately by those auditors. The financial
statements of the City of Brevard ABC Board were not audited in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding
paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies, and therefore, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies may exist that were not identified.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented,
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We did not identify any
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An Independent Member of the BDO Alliance

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of
Brevard’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the City of Brevard’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

Pending LGC Approval

deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Brevard’s financial
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could
have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance that is required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of the Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control
and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Asheville, North Carolina
January 15, 2021
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Report On Compliance With Requirements Applicable to Each Major State
Program And On Internal Control Over Compliance In Accordance With OMB
Uniform Guidance And The State Single Audit Implementation Act
Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Brevard, North Carolina
Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program
We have audited the City of Brevard, North Carolina’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements
described in the Audit Manual for Governmental Auditors in North Carolina that could have a direct and
material effect on each of The City of Brevard’s major state programs for the year ended June 30, 2020. The
City of Brevard’s major state programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.
Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of state statutes, regulations, and the terms
and conditions of its state awards to its state programs.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City of Brevard’s major state
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our
audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America;
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; applicable sections of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards
(Uniform Guidance), as described in the Audit Manual for Governmental Auditors in North Carolina. Those
standards, the Uniform Guidance, and the State Single Audit Implementation Act require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major state program occurred.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City of Brevard’s compliance with those
requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major state
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Brevard’s compliance.
Opinion on Each Major State Program
In our opinion, The City of Brevard complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major state programs
for the year ended June 30, 2020.

Coxe Avenue | Asheville, NC
28801Packet-Brevard
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Auditor’s Responsibility

Pending LGC Approval
Report on Internal Control over Compliance
Management of the City of Brevard is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control
over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our
audit of compliance, we considered the City of Brevard’s internal control over compliance with the types of
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major state program to determine the auditing
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance
for each major state program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the
Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Brevard’s
internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state
program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program will not be prevented, or
detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a state program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance,
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We identified a deficiency in internal control over compliance,
as described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2020-001, that we
consider to be a material weakness.
The City of Brevard’s response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our audit is
described in the accompanying corrective action plan. The City of Brevard’s response was not subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the
response.
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Asheville, North Carolina
January 15, 2021

Page 165 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

90

January 19, 2021

Pending LGC Approval
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
Schedule of Findings
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
I.

Summary of Auditor’s Results
Financial Statements
Type of auditors’ report issued on whether the financial statements audited were prepared in accordance
to GAAP: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:
x Material weakness(es) identified?

yes

X

no

x Significant deficiency(s) identified
that are not considered to be
material weaknesses?

yes

X

none reported

Noncompliance material to financial
statements noted

yes

X no

X yes

no

State Awards
Internal control over major State programs:
x

Material weakness(es) identified?

x

Significant deficiency(s) identified
that are not considered to be
material weaknesses?

yes

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance
for major State programs:

X

none reported

Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required
to be reported in accordance with the State
x
State Single Audit Implementation Act?

X

yes

no

Identification of major State programs:
Program Name
North Carolina Clean Water Revolving Loan and Grant Program

II.

Financial Statement Findings
None reported.
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Pending LGC Approval
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
Schedule of Findings
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
III.

State Award Findings and Questioned Costs
NC Department of Environmental Quality
Division of Water Infrastructure
Program Name: North Carolina Clean Water Revolving Loan and Grant Program
H-SRP-D-17-0127-4W03
Finding: 2020-001 Funds Received Must Be Expended Within Three Days of Receipt
MATERIAL WEAKNESS
Criteria: The Division of Water Infrastructure requires local governments applying for loans or grants for
water or wastewater purposes to expedite the expenditure of funds within three days of receipt of the loan or
grant proceeds.
Condition: The loan grant proceeds are deposited electronically into the City’s bank account by NC
Department of Environmental Control’s Division of Water Infrastructure. There were three instances where
the City paid contractor invoices beyond the three day window of the electronic receipt of related funds from
the Division of Water Infrastructure. The errors noted were technical errors only and were eligible
expenditures per the loan and grant program. The contractors were paid according to their terms (generally up
to 25 days) of being invoiced for services performed.
Cause: The City does not have a formal of reviewing daily electronic deposit of funds and their purposes. This
formal review is completed on a monthly basis in the bank reconciliation process. The City did not receive
notification of the grant funds being remitted to the City. There was no daily process to track and monitor each
day when grant monies were received to ensure payment of the contractor occurred within 3 days. In addition,
the check writing process occurs weekly and not each business day.
Effect: The City did not follow the grant requirement of disbursing funds timely as defined within 3 days.
The City’s risk is the holding of loan grant’s cash funds for the short period of time until the contractors were
paid and the potential to earn minimal interest on cash being held during this time frame. The City could lose
grant funding if not properly administering the program as defined by the grant’s requirements.
Identification of a repeat finding: This is not a repeat finding.
Questioned costs: none.
Recommendation: We have recommend the cash management and review process be standardized to include
the review of grants funds received electronically on a daily basis versus on an monthly basis. When funds are
received, protocol would be in place to ensure the contractor is paid with a check dated within three business
days or within the guidelines set forth in the related grant documentation.
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: The City agrees with finding. Please refer to the
City’s corrective action plan on page 93.

Page 167 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

92

January 19, 2021

Pending LGC Approval

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
For the year ended June 30, 2020
Finding 2020-001

Name of Contact Person: Jim Fatland, City Manager/Finance Director
Corrective Action Plan: The City will include in our daily standardized process (per the recommendation of the
auditors) to track daily electronic receipt of funds and their purposes. If the reimbursement is for a grant, the
process will expedite timely payments to applicable contractor or vendors in accordance with the related grant
requirements. In addition, the City will review each grant upon acceptance for their requirements to ensure the
funds are being expended according the grant terms and conditions.
Proposed completion date: January 2021
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Pending LGC Approval
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR AUDIT FINDINGS
For the year ended June 30, 2020

There were no findings for the year ended June 30, 2019.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Federal

State/Pass-Through

Fed. (Direct &

CFDA

Grantor's

Pass-through)

State

Passthrough

Local

Number

Number

Expenditures

Expenditures

Expenditures

Expenditures

$

$

$

Federal Awards
U.S. Department of Treasury
Passed-through the Office of State Budget and Management:
NC Pandemic Recovery Office
Passed-through Transylvania County:
Coronavirus Relief Fund (Note 3)

21.019

$

Total U.S. Dept. of Treasury
Total Federal awards

105,518

-

-

-

105,518

-

-

-

105,518

-

-

-

State Awards
N. C. Department of Transportation:
Non-State System Street-Aid (Powell Bill)
Kings Creek Bridge
Total N.C. Department of Transportation
N.C. Department of Environmental Quality
North Carolina Clean Water Revolving Loan and Grant
Total N.C. Department of Enviornmental Quality

DOT-4
B5550

-

220,568
109,669
330,237

-

-

H-SRP-D-17-0127

-

613,333
613,333

-

-

-

943,570

-

-

Total State awards
Total Federal and State awards

$

105,518

$

943,570

$

-

$

-

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Financial Awards:
1.

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards (SEFSA) includes the federal and State grant activity of the City of Brevard under the programs of the
federal government and the State of North Carolina for the year ended June 30, 2020. The information in this SEFSA is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and the State Single
Audit Implementation Act. Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City of Brevard, it is not intended to and does not present the financial
position, changes in net position or cash flows of the City of Brevard.

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Expenditures reported in the SEFSA are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. The City of Brevard has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect
cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.

3.

Coronovirus Relief Funds
Subsequent to June 30, 2020, the City of Brevard received $184,183 of funding from the Coronavirus Relief Fund (21.019) from Translyvania County. The City has a plan to spend
these funds approved by OSBM and expended $105,518 of these funds during the year ended June 30, 2020. According to the Office of State Budget and Management, the State’s
pass-through agency, municipalities are considered subrecipients of the Counties. However, under the state statute, municipalities are not liable to the County for any misused or
misspent funds. CRF must be spent during the period March 1, 2020 to December 30, 2020.
Total Coronovirus Relief Funds Awarded $
Less: Amounts expended through June 30, 2020
Remaining Funds
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City of Brevard
The mission of the City of Brevard is to promote a high
quality of life, support economic prosperity, and cultivate
community while honoring its heritage and culture.

AGENDA ITEM

DATE:

January 19, 2021

TO:

Mayor and City Council Members

FROM:

Tom Whitlock, Tax Collector

SUBJECT:

Property Tax Releases December 2020

The City of Brevard has been notified by the Transylvania County Tax Administration of
the following releases from the tax scroll of the City of Brevard.
The governing body of the City of Brevard is required by General Statute to approve these
releases and instruct the Tax Collector to remove these properties values from the city
tax records.
General Statute 105-381
(b) Action of Governing Body.--Upon receiving a taxpayer's written statement of
defense and request for release or refund, the governing body of the taxing unit
shall within 90 days after receipt of such request determine whether the taxpayer
has a valid defense to the tax imposed or any part thereof and shall either release
or refund that portion of the amount that is determined to be in excess of the
correct tax liability or notify the taxpayer in writing that no release or refund will be
made.
A finance officer, manager, or attorney to whom this authority is delegated shall
monthly report to the governing body the actions taken by him on requests for
release or refund. All actions taken by the governing body or finance officer,
manager, or attorney on requests for release or refund shall be recorded in the
minutes of the governing body. If a release is granted or refund made, the tax
collector shall be credited with the amount released or refunded in his annual
settlement.

Release Amount for December 2020:

$124.05

Recommendation: Approve resolution to release values from the tax scroll.
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RESOLUTION 2020-XX
A RESOLUTION APPROVING PROPERTY TAX RELEASES

WHEREAS, The City of Brevard has previously determined to collect
property taxes for the City of Brevard and the Heart of Brevard and it is necessary to
release the below shown amount from the city tax records.

BE IT NOW, THEREFORE, RESOLVED THAT:
The Tax Collector is hereby authorized to remove December 2020 property
values from the tax scroll in the amount of:
2020:

$124.05

Adopted this the 19th day of January, 2021.

_______________________________________
Jimmy Harris
Mayor

ATTEST:
___________________________________
Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk
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STAFF REPORT
January 19, 2021 Council Meeting

Date:

January 13, 2021

Title:

Certificate of Sufficiency and Resolution Fixing a Date of Public Hearing
George Lenze – Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation

Prepared by:
Approved by:

Jill Murray, City Clerk
Jim Fatland, City Manager and Finance Director

Executive Summary: Council will consider accepting a Certificate of Sufficiency on the
voluntary contiguous annexation petition submitted by George Lenze and adoption of
Resolution No. 2021-XX Fixing a Date of Public Hearing on the Question of Annexation.
Background: On November 6, 2020, George Lenze submitted a Petition for Voluntary
Contiguous Annexation of his property located on West Probart Street, Brevard, NC 28712,
consisting of 5 (more or less) acres. Transylvania County Property Identification Number:
8586-231-1136.
Discussion: Council directed the Clerk to investigate the sufficiency on December 7, 2020, by
Resolution No. 2020-36. The City Clerk has investigated, and consulted with the City Attorney, and
found the petition is signed by all owners of real property lying in the area described therein, in
accordance with NCGS 160A-31. The matter also went in front of the Planning Board on December
15, 2020 and was approved.
Fiscal Impact: None
Policy Impact: None
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends Council take action by motion to (a) accept the
Certificate of Sufficiency; and (b) adopt the drafted Resolution No. 2021-XX Fixing a Date of
(February 15, 2021) for the Public Hearing on the Question of Annexation.
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-XX
A RESOLUTION FIXING A DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING
ON THE QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO
NCGS 160A-31, AS AMENDED
WHEREAS, a petition was received on November 6, 2020, requesting the annexation
of a contiguous area described in said Petition as the George Lenze, West Probart Street
property located in Brevard, NC, 28712, consisting of 5 (more or less) acres, be annexed
into the City of Brevard. (Tax Property Identification Number: 8586-231-1136); and,
WHEREAS, the Brevard City Council has by Resolution No. 2020-36 directed the City
Clerk to investigate the sufficiency thereof; and
WHEREAS, certification by the City Clerk as to the sufficiency of said petition has
been made.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA:
Section 1. That a public hearing on the question of annexation of the contiguous
area described below as requested by George Lenze, will be held at Brevard City Hall at
5:30 P.M. on the 15th day of February, 2021.
Section 2. The area proposed for annexation is described as follows:
Metes and Bounds Property Description:
Lying in Brevard Township, Transylvania County, N.C. on the south west side of the public
road leading from Brevard to Camp Transylvania and near the western corporate limits of
the Town of Brevard, and opposite the T. H. Hampton residence. BEGINNING on a small
hickory on the east side of a small drain or branch, a corner of the R.W. Norton tract, said
tree standing about east of the Norton house, runs North 14 deg. East 156 feet to a small
white oak on the east side of said branch or drain, corner of Norton land; then North 26
deg. West, 123 feet to a stake in the center of the public road leading from Brevard to
Camp Transylvania; then with the center of said road North 61 deg. East 100 feet; then
North 73 deg. East 100 feet; then South 84 deg. 30’ East 75 feet; then South 59 deg. East
200 feet to a stake; then South 58 deg. 30’ East 66 feet to a stake in center of said road;
then leaving the road, running South 12 deg. 30’ West 373 feet with the Sadie North line, to
a stake in a hollow; then South 80 deg. 30’ West 196 feet to a stake in a low bog; then North
57 deg. West 148 1/2 feet to a stake; then South 44 deg. 15’ West 112 feet to a stake, a
corner of the Holmes tract; then North 49 deg. West 183 1/2 feet to a stake on west side of
the small
drain or branch above mentioned, in the Norton line, then with the Norton line North 57
deg. 30’ East 174 feet to the Beginning. Containing five acres more or less.

Section 3. Notice of said public hearing shall be published in the Transylvania
Times, a newspaper having general circulation in the City of Brevard, at least ten (10) days
prior to the date of said public hearing.
Section 4. This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved this the 19th day of January, 2021.

ATTEST:

Jimmy Harris
Mayor

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk
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STAFF REPORT
January 19, 2021 Council Meeting

Date:

January 13, 2021

Title:

Certificate of Sufficiency and Resolution Fixing a Date of Public Hearing
Richard Libby – Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation

Prepared by:
Approved by:

Jill Murray, City Clerk
Jim Fatland, City Manager and Finance Director

Executive Summary: Council will consider accepting a Certificate of Sufficiency on the
voluntary contiguous annexation petition submitted by Richard Libby and adoption of
Resolution No. 2021-XX Fixing a Date of Public Hearing on the Question of Annexation.
Background: On November 17, 2020, Richard Libby submitted a Petition for Voluntary
Contiguous Annexation of his property located at 335 Forest Hill Road, Brevard, NC 28712,
consisting of 0.672 acres. Transylvania County Property Identification Number: 8585-35-1540000.
Discussion: Council directed the Clerk to investigate the sufficiency on December 7, 2020, by
Resolution No. 2020-37. The City Clerk has investigated, and consulted with the City Attorney, and
found the petition is signed by all owners of real property lying in the area described therein, in
accordance with NCGS 160A-31. The matter also went in front of the Planning Board on December
15, 2020 and was approved.
Fiscal Impact: None
Policy Impact: None
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends Council take action by motion to (a) accept the
Certificate of Sufficiency; and (b) adopt the drafted Resolution No. 2021-XX Fixing a Date of
(February 15, 2021) for the Public Hearing on the Question of Annexation.
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-XX
A RESOLUTION FIXING A DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING
ON THE QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO
NCGS 160A-31, AS AMENDED
WHEREAS, a petition was received on November 17, 2020, requesting the
annexation of a contiguous area described in said Petition as Richard Libby, 335 Forest Hill
Road property located in Brevard, NC, 28712, consisting of 0.672 acres, be annexed into the
City of Brevard. (Tax Property Identification Number: 8585-35-1540-000); and
WHEREAS, the Brevard City Council has by Resolution No. 2020-37 directed the City
Clerk to investigate the sufficiency thereof; and
WHEREAS, certification by the City Clerk as to the sufficiency of said petition has
been made.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA:
Section 1. That a public hearing on the question of annexation of the contiguous
area described below as requested by Richard Libby, will be held at Brevard City Hall at
5:30 P.M. on the 15th day of February, 2021.
Section 2. The area proposed for annexation is described as follows:
Metes and Bounds Property Description:
BEING all of that 0.672 acre parcel of property as shown on a survey titled “Richard
Libby and wife, Leslie Libby” prepared and platted by Kevin D. Goldsmith, PLS and
recorded in Plat File 19, Slide 328, and Transylvania County Registry.
This conveyance is made subject to all roads rights-of-way of all roads which may
presently traverse the property, to all road rights of way which may presently appear of
record, to the rights-of-way of all utility lines which may presently traverse the property to
all rights of way for public utilities which may presently appear of record.

Section 3. Notice of said public hearing shall be published in the Transylvania
Times, a newspaper having general circulation in the City of Brevard, at least ten (10) days
prior to the date of said public hearing.
Section 4. This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved this the 19th day of January, 2021.

Jimmy Harris
Mayor
ATTEST:

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk
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STAFF REPORT
City Council, Tuesday, January 19, 2021
Title:

Speaker:
From:
Prepared by:
Approved by:

Resolution Supporting NCDEQ Rebate Grant Funding for Public
EV Charging Stations
City Council will consider a resolution supporting Staff’s participation
in the NC Volkswagen Mitigation Settlement Program.
Paul C. Ray, CZO, Planning Director

Jim Fatland, CFPO, City Manager
Paul C. Ray, CZO, Planning Director
Jim Fatland, CFPO, City Manager

Background
Governor Roy Cooper designated the N.C. Department of Environmental Quality to manage
North Carolina’s share of the VW Settlement, an agreement between the German
automaker and the U.S. Department of Justice on behalf of the U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA). As part of a settlement agreement, Volkswagen accepted a $14.9
billion dollar penalty after acknowledging that it installed devices on certain vehicles to
make them appear to meet strict emissions standards when, in fact, they did not. The
money is being used, in part, to fund environmental mitigation and investments which
promote the use of zero-emission vehicles (ZEV) and infrastructure.

Staff learned about this Request for Proposals (RFP), to participate in a Charging
Infrastructure Program and allow interested parties to apply for up to $25,000 of rebate
funds on a, “first come first serve basis”. The application for grant funding opens on January
25, 2021.

Discussion
The City provides public parking behind the Co-ed Cinemas, just south of Clemson Plaza.
Significant improvements to this parking lot are planned in conjunction with the Clemson
Plaza Revitalization project, as shown in Attachment B. If the City’s project is selected for
funding, the cost of EV charging equipment and all eligible expenses would be reimbursed
to the City through rebate vouchers. The equipment must be approved prior to purchase.
Staff believes that two dual-port electric vehicle charging stations could be added to the
current design plan for the new parking lot, maximizing the $25,000 grant limitation. This
configuration would be capable of simultaneously charging four vehicles. During the
parking lot construction and charging port installation, conduit could be extended beyond
the four proposed EV parking spaces to expand the number of charging stations at a future
date if desired, and to take advantage of additional grant funding opportunities as they
become available.
A complete list of the program requirements is outlined on page 6 of Attachment C. The
most noteworthy item is that charging stations must connect to a network by wired
Ethernet, Wi-Fi, or cellular connection. Networking allows for centralized communication
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for diagnostics and data collection. Rebate recipients are required to submit annual
charger utilization data for five years after project completion. See Reporting Requirements
on page 10 of Attachment C for more details. The EV charging stations that Staff would be
interested in purchasing with awarded rebate vouchers would have integrated cellular
hardware and a five-year data plan.

Policy Analysis
The City’s 2015 Comprehensive Land Use Plan places special emphasis on Environmental
Health, whereas Brevard’s exceptional quality of life is sustained in large part by the sense
of community encouraged by a beautiful natural setting. A key challenge for
Brevard is balancing development demand with environmental sustainability. Encouraging
the use of electric vehicles for reduced emissions by providing public EV charging stations
speaks to the sincerity of that goal.
Recommendation
Staff recommends City Council adopt the attached resolution as presented.

Fiscal Impact
Unknown cost of maintaining EV charging stations for a minimum of five-years.
Attachments
A. Resolution
B. Map of Proposed Location of Charging Stations
C. NC Volkswagen Settlement Program RFP
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-XX

Attachment A

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING APPLICATION FOR A
NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY GRANT PHASE ONE
OF THE VOLKSWAGEN MITIGATION SETTLEMENT PROGRAM FOR LIGHT DUTY ZERO
EMISSION VEHICLE INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard has long valued exceptional quality of life and a
beautiful natural setting; and

WHEREAS, the City’s 2015 Comprehensive Land Use Plan identifies a key challenge
of balancing development demand with environmental sustainability; and
WHEREAS, encouraging zero emissions is hereby an element of environmental
sustainability; and

WHEREAS, electric vehicles are a safe and reliable mode of transportation with zero
emissions; and
WHEREAS, convenient access to public charging stations for electrical vehicle users
is consistent with encouraging the use of zero emission modes of transportation; and
WHEREAS, the North Carolina Division of Air Quality in the North Carolina
Department of Environmental Quality is soliciting proposals for participation in Phase One
of the North Carolina Volkswagen Mitigation Settlement Program; and
WHEREAS, Brevard is eligible to receive up to twenty-five thousand dollars in
rebate vouchers for qualifying projects directly associated to equipment acquisition,
installation, operation and maintenance of zero emissions vehicle charging infrastructure;
and
WHEREAS, Brevard agrees to comply with the NCDEQ Zero Emission Vehicle
Charging Infrastructure Program requirements upon receiving such grant rebates
including continued maintenance of equipment and submission of an annual Charging
Station Utilization Report, on January 30th of each consecutive year for a five-year period.

WHEREAS, the rebate applications acceptance date for Phase One of the North
Carolina Volkswagen Mitigation Settlement Program for Zero Emission Vehicle Charging
Infrastructure is January 25, 2021, and vouchers are awarded on a first come first serve
basis; and
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA THAT:

SECTION 1. The City Planning Department is hereby authorized to apply for a 2021
North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality grant, up to twenty-five
thousand dollars, for Phase One of the North Carolina Volkswagen Mitigation
Settlement Program for Light Duty Zero Emissions Vehicle Infrastructure Projects.

SECTION 2. The City Manager is hereby authorized to commit financial resources
necessary for the continued maintenance and operation of electric vehicle charging
station equipment to ensure the reporting requirements are met for the five-year
duration of the program.

SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption and approval.

Adopted and approved upon first reading this the 19th day of January, 2021.
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ATTEST:

Jimmy Harris
Mayor

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk
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Proposed
EV Parking

Attachment B
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Attachment C

North Carolina Volkswagen Settlement Program
Phase 1
Zero Emission Vehicle Infrastructure Program
Level 2 Charging Stations
Request for Proposals
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I.

Request for Proposals (RFP) Timeline
•

Release of RFP:

November 17, 2020

•

RFP webinar for applicants

December 11, 2020

•

Q&A webinar for applicants

January 13, 2021

•

Application open in Grants Management System:

January 25, 2021

•

Rebate recipients announced

As awarded in 2021

Timeline changes: The NCDEQ reserves the right to adjust the dates listed above. Any changes or
additional information regarding the RFP schedule, including responses to questions, will be posted on
NC VW Settlement RFP website at: https://deq.nc.gov/VWsettlement-Level2-RFP.

II.

Overview

Summary
The North Carolina Division of Air Quality (NCDAQ) in the North Carolina Department of
Environmental Quality (NCDEQ) is soliciting proposals for participation in Phase 1 of the NC
Volkswagen Mitigation Settlement Program. NCDEQ is allocating the full 15% allowed in the VW State
Trust Agreement for light-duty zero emission vehicle (ZEV) infrastructure projects outlined in the NC
mitigation plan. NCDEQ will allocate 75% ($3,451,712) of the Phase 1 ZEV infrastructure allocation to
DC Fast charging infrastructure projects and 25% ($1,150,570) to Level 2 charging infrastructure
projects. The primary goal is to increase use of ZEV’s in place of gas-powered cars to mitigate nitrogen
oxides, particulate matter, and greenhouse gas emissions in the state. To achieve that goal, the program
will emphasize adding new ZEV charging infrastructure in underserved areas, extend the existing lightduty ZEV infrastructure across the state, encourage intrastate and interstate ZEV vehicle usage at North
Carolina’s diverse geographic, historic and tourist attractions and highlight the environmental benefits of
ZEVs.
This Request for Proposals (RFP) for the Level 2 ZEV Charging Infrastructure Program will assist
interested parties in applying for funds using a first-come, first-served rebate process to install light-duty
ZEV Level 2 charging infrastructure, as described in the North Carolina VW Mitigation Plan
(deq.nc.gov/VWsettlement). This document includes information on who may apply for funding, the
funding levels for this program, project eligibility, match requirements, activities eligible for funding, and
other information that will help applicants plan their projects and submit complete proposals. Rebate
applications will be accepted until the funds are exhausted. The Level 2 ZEV Charging Infrastructure
Program rebate application is available on the NC VW Settlement webpage,
https://deq.nc.gov/VWsettlement-Level2-RFP.
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Eligible Applicants
Organizations that own or operate an eligible location may apply for a Level 2 ZEV Charging Rebate.
Eligible applicants include:
a. Incorporated Nonprofit – an organization as described in section 501(c)(3) of the Federal Internal
Revenue Code of 1954, as amended. The organization must be incorporated under NC law or
registered with the NC Department of the Secretary of State.
b. Public School Districts.
c. Municipal Governments and Municipal Authorities.
d. NC State Government Agencies – government-owned EV charging projects (state agencies,
departments, institutions, universities, and community colleges) are subject to using contractors
approved on mandatory Statewide Term Contract 691A – Electric Vehicle Charging Station
Equipment, Accessories Installation & Infrastructure. 1 Additionally, non-mandatory entities,
including schools and local government, that are allowed by general statute may use this contract.
e. Tribal Government Agencies.
f. Metropolitan or Rural Planning Organizations, as defined by the U.S. Department of
Transportation at 49 U.S.C. § 5303(b), located in North Carolina.
g. Businesses – corporations, partnerships, sole proprietorships, limited liability companies,
business trusts or other legal business entities incorporated in or registered with the NC
Department of the Secretary of State.
h. Air Quality or Transportation Organizations – Local or regional air quality or transportation
organization that:
1. owns or operates a fleet located or operating predominately in North Carolina, or
2. has partnered with or is acting as a project manager for another eligible entity listed in
this section.
i. Multi-Unit Dwellings (MUD) – must serve site with ten or more dwelling units. A homeowner’s
association, condominium association or residential real estate management association may
apply on behalf of a multi-unit dwelling.
j. Workplaces – must serve sites with at least five or more year-round and full-time employees.
Workplaces located at a single-family residence is not eligible for funding. Any business being
operated from a home, apartment, or other dwelling where people live on the premises is
considered a residential address.
1. If not publicly accessible, the site must not be reserved for any specific employees.
2. If publicly accessible, the site must be convenient for users of the charging station
and have nearby amenities or some likelihood of use by members of the public.
k. Federal Government Agencies – Federal agencies that have custody, control, or management of
land within or contiguous to the territorial boundaries of North Carolina.

Ineligible Applicants
Organizations that are ineligible for Level 2 ZEV Charging Infrastructure Program Rebates include:
a. Applicants that are currently debarred by the State of North Carolina 2 and/or federal government 3
are ineligible applicants.

1
2
3

https://files.nc.gov/ncdoa/pandc/Documents/StateTermContracts/STC691A/691A.pdf
North Carolina Electric Vendor Portal, https://vendor.ncgov.com/vendor/public-vendor-search?execution=e1s5
United States Department of Labor, https://www.dol.gov/ofccp/regs/compliance/preaward/debarlst.htm
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b. Business not incorporated in or registered with the NC Department of the Secretary of State to do
business in North Carolina.
c. Individuals applying as individuals, not on behalf of an eligible applicant.
d. NCDEQ may also deem an applicant ineligible because of, but not limited to environmental
compliance issues, labor standards issues, tax status or other such issues.

Eligible Locations
Locations eligible for Level 2 ZEV Charging Infrastructure Program Rebates include:
a. Government-owned property
b. Non-government owned property
c. Workplace property must be accessible to all employees with EVs. Workplaces must have at least
five or more year-round and full-time employees. Workplaces located at a single-family residence
is not eligible for funding. Any business being operated from a home, apartment, or other
dwelling where people live on the premises is considered a residential address.
d. Multi-unit dwelling, where MUD refers to ten or more individual residential housing units within
a single building or complex. This includes, but is not limited to, apartment buildings and
condominiums, and excludes individually-owned townhouses, row houses and mobile homes. EV
charging sites at MUDs must be accessible to all residents with EVs.

III.

Funding

This RFP is for Phase 1 (2020 – 2021) only, with available funding of approximately $1.1 million for the
ZEV Level 2 Charging Infrastructure Program.
NCDEQ may fund projects for Phase 1 up to maximum allowable amounts per port in Table 1 for the cost
to purchase and install zero emission vehicle infrastructure for government or non-government owned
projects. Applications may be partially funded based on available fund balances when rebate
applications are approved. Additionally, NCDEQ reserves the right to approve additional rebates under
this announcement if approved rebate vouchers expire. Government is defined in Appendix D-2 of the
VW State Trust Agreement and Appendix B of this document.

Funding Type
NCDEQ anticipates awarding a total of approximately $1.1 million towards light-duty Level 2 charging
infrastructure projects in Phase 1. Rebate applications will be prioritized by the urban-suburban/rural split
described in the NC VW Mitigation Plan using the NC Rural Center 4 classification for counties,
allocating a maximum of 68% (~$782,388) of the funds for urban and suburban counties and a minimum
of 32% (~$368,182) for rural counties in Phase 1.
This is a first-come first-served rebate program and will be open until all funds are exhausted. An
application must be submitted to NCDEQ and approved for a rebate voucher prior to purchase and
installation of the Level 2 charging equipment to qualify. Rebate voucher recipients must provide their
own funding to cover expenses as they are incurred and submit proof that the project invoices have been
paid, proof of project work completion, and other additional required documentation to NCDEQ. Rebate
redemption requests for unpaid invoices will not be approved. Projects selected for rebates will then be
4

https://www.nccommerce.com/blog/2015/07/09/rural-center-expands-its-classification-north-carolina-counties
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reimbursed up to the rebate voucher amount authorized for that project after the awardee submits
acceptable documentation to show that eligible expenses have already been paid by the awardee.

Cost Share Requirements
The NC Level 2 ZEV Charging Infrastructure Program rebates will be available either as a maximum
dollar amount or as a percentage of the total project costs, whichever is less. Table 1 outlines the
percentage and maximum dollars available by project type. Rebates can be applied to project costs
directly associated to equipment acquisition, installation, operation, and maintenance (see Section IV.
How to Apply, for a list of eligible and ineligible project expenditures). The final rebate amount will be
determined by the maximum rebate amount multiplied by the number of charging ports, or percent of
total actual project costs, whichever is less.

Table 1. Rebate Amounts
Project Type

Accessible
to General
Public

Maximum
Rebate per
Charging Port

Or
(whichever
is less)

Maximum %
of Total
Project Costs

Government Owned Property
Government Owned Property
Non-Government Owned Property
Non-Government Owned Property
Workplace or Multi-Unit Dwelling
Workplace or Multi-Unit Dwelling

Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
No

$5,000
$4,000
$4,000
$3,000
$4,000
$3,000

or
or
or
or
or
or

100%
80%
80%
60%
80%
60%

Public access requires a minimum of 12 hours a day of availability (proof must be provided with rebate
application) to the general public without restriction. To be publicly accessible the site must be
convenient for users of the charging station. For workplace and multi-unit dwellings, where access may
be restricted, charging stations may not be dedicated to specific individuals.
NCDEQ will not issue more than $25,000 in Level 2 ZEV Charging Infrastructure Program Rebate
vouchers in total to any one applicant and/or location at any time. An applicant may submit additional
rebate applications after a voucher has been approved. New rebate applications for an applicant and/or
location that has already met the $25,000 voucher maximum will not be accepted until the open voucher
claim has been approved for reimbursement by NCDEQ.
This program may be combined with other rebates or subsidies to receive multiple benefits for the same
project. However, other rebates or subsides received or expected to be received for the project must be
subtracted from the project cost prior to determining the final rebate amount available under this program.
This does not extend to the use of federal tax credits the applicant may receive for the project.

Project Period

ZEV Level 2 Charging Rebate applications must be approved by NCDEQ prior to project equipment
purchase and installation. Following NCDEQ approval, the rebate applicant will be issued a rebate
voucher that secures the approved rebate amount for 180 days from the date the agreement is signed by
the awardee and NCDEQ. The voucher recipient must complete the project and provide all required
documentation prior to expiration date for the rebate payment to be processed.
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Projects initiated prior to a rebate application approval are not eligible for funding. Project
initiation activities that may disqualify a rebate application include ordering equipment, hiring a
contractor or vendor to complete the project. Submittal of a rebate application is not a guarantee of
approval.

IV. Program Requirements
Project Requirements
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

•
•
•

Level 2 light-duty Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment
Minimum of 2 ports per project
One application per unique charging location (address)
Projects must be installed by a qualified licensed professional according to all federal, state, and
local rules, including applicable permitting and inspection requirements.
Chargers must be maintained and operated for a minimum of five years from the date of project
completion.
Project installation costs incurred prior to the date of the application are not eligible (with
exclusions for applicants that re-apply for projects previously approved).
The installed Level 2 charging stations must connect to a network by wired Ethernet, Wi-Fi, or
cellular connection. Networking allows for centralized management, administration,
communication, diagnostics, and data collection.
Rebate recipients will be required to submit annual charger utilization data for five years after
project completion. See Reporting Requirements for more detail on reporting requirements.
Level 2 ZEV infrastructure must be operational in North Carolina for a minimum of five years.
Rebate recipients for public access projects will be required to register the location with the
Alternative Fuels Data Center at:
https://afdc.energy.gov/fuels/electricity_locations.html#/station/new.

Site Requirements
•
•

•
•
•

•

Charging sites must be located within the state of North Carolina to be eligible for a rebate.
If the property/site is not owned by the applicant, the rebate applicant must provide a signed letter
from the landowner indicating approval of the project.
Projects must include at least one designated and clearly marked EV parking space per port.
Public access sites must be clearly identified with signage that directs users to the site and
appropriate parking spaces.
Signage: Complies with all applicable local, state and /or federal laws, ordinances, regulations,
and standards.
o On-site signage for publicly accessible projects identifies to the approaching driver from
any ingress, that the Host site has EV charging station(s), and the location(s) of the EV
charging station(s). “Electric vehicle parking only” signs are required on each side of
each charging station along with “electric vehicle parking only” stenciled graphics on
each striped parking pad.
o All projects must have on-site signage with the following language, “This project made
possible with a partnership with the State of North Carolina”.
Public access sites must be easily accessible and adequately lit.
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•
•

Public access sites must be available for use by the public for at least 12 hours per day without
access restrictions.
American with Disabilities Act (ADA) Compliance: Charging stations must make every effort to
be ADA compliant and follow all applicable laws, ordinances, regulations, and standards.
(www.afdc.energy.gov/uploads/publication/WPCC_complyingwithADArequirements_1114.pdf).

Eligible ZEV Project Types

Light-duty Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment (EVSE): Level 2 charging equipment (or analogous
successor technologies) located in a public place, workplace, or multi-unit residential dwelling (i.e., not
located at a private residential dwelling that is not a multi-unit dwelling) and is commercial grade electric
vehicle supply equipment.

Eligible Expenditures
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Level 2 charging station infrastructure
Conduit, cable/wiring, electrical service box disconnect addition
Concrete or asphalt replacement
Paint striping and stenciling of the station parking spaces
Signage
Bollards
Permit costs
Labor for installation (electrical and trenching)
Shipping of equipment
Networking charges (maximum of five years, if paid in advance prior to voucher redemption)
EVSE maintenance contracts (maximum of five years, if paid in advance prior to voucher
redemption)

Ineligible Expenditures
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Purchase, lease or renting of real-estate for project
Used, refurbished, remanufactured, or leased equipment
Capital costs such as construction of buildings, parking facilities, etc.
Any expenses incurred before the rebate is approved including applicant’s expense for preparing
the eligibility and cost proposals
Any expenses incurred during post-award workplan development
Bad debts, late payments, finance charges or contingency funds, interest, and investment
Attorney fees
Administrative costs
Lobbying, lobbyists, and political contributions
Mark-up on purchases and/or subcontracts
Taxes, except sales tax on eligible equipment and expenses
Activities addressing enforcement actions that involve a financial penalty
DC Fast and Level 1 charging station infrastructure and equipment
Hydrogen fuel cell vehicle supply infrastructure and equipment
Maintenance costs not covered under EVSE warranty or service contract
Electric service costs
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Equipment Requirements
Level 2 charging stations must offer either one Society of Automotive Engineer (SAE) J-1772 connectors
to charge one EV at a time or two SAE J-1772 connectors to charge two EVs at once. Powered by 240volt alternating current, the stations must provide a minimum charge of 6.6 kW of power to provide up to
100 miles of travel in 3 to 4 hours. The stations must be networked via communications protocol with
smart charging controls.
All charging station equipment must come with a minimum of a five-year warranty and meet the
following minimum requirements for safety testing by a Nationally Recognized Testing Laboratory
(NRTL) recognized by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). The equipment must
be listed and labeled as required by North Carolina General Statutes Chapter 66, Article 4 – Electrical
Materials, Devices, Appliances and Equipment, the National Electrical Code (NEC) Section 625.5 and be
Federal Communication Commission (FCC) complaint.
Level 2 (240-volt alternating current) charging stations must be equipped with SAE J-1772 standard
connector(s) that provide a minimum of 6.6 kW of charging power and shall be certified to one of the
following options:
a. Underwriters Laboratories (UL) UL 2594 (Standard for EV Supply Equipment),
b. IEC (International Electrotechnical Commission) 61851-23, IEC 62196, and IEC 61000 Electric
Motor Cars (EMC) standards. These charging stations must be certified (listed and labeled) with
Electrical Testing Laboratories (ETL), or
c. an equivalent NRTL certification. Supporting documentation must be provided.
The EVSE enclosure must be constructed:
a. for use outdoors in accordance with UL 50E Standard for Safety for Enclosures for Electrical
Equipment, Environmental Considerations, Type 3R exterior enclosure or equivalent,
b. be capable of operating without any decrease in performance over an ambient temperature range
of minus 22 to 122 degrees Fahrenheit with a relative humidity of up to 95%, and
c. must incorporate a cord management system or method to eliminate potential for cable
entanglement, user injury, or connector damage.
Payment Options:
a. The Level 2 charging stations have the option either to require payment or not require payment
from users. Payment options are at the discretion of the awardee who will operate and maintain
the stations. Should payment be required to access and use the charging stations, it must be
Payment Card Industry compliant to allow use of a credit or debit card. Stations may also offer
additional payment methods including subscription methods, smart cards, or smart phone
applications. Real-time pricing and fee information shall be displayed on the unit, payment screen
or associated phone application.

V.

How to Apply

NCDEQ will only accept rebate applications submitted through the NCDAQ Grant Management System
(GMS) website, at: https://www.ebs.nc.gov/irj/portal. Prior to using the GMS, applicants must obtain an
NCID and complete and return the NCDEQ-AQ-GMS-ACCESS-AUTHORIZATION-FORM and
the State of North Carolina Substitute W-9 Form to get registered in the system. Applicants not
currently registered in the GMS should request access well before the January 25, 2021, application
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acceptance date. The GMS contains tutorials on how to use the system, submitting applications and
submitting claims. The application will not be viewable in the Grants Management System until January
25, 2021.
All applications will require the following information, at minimum, to be submitted via GMS.
1. Organization name, address, Organization Tax ID number, contact information
2. Project location
a. Address
b. County
c. GPS coordinates (decimal format)
3. Project Type
a. Government
b. Non-Government
4. Project Access Type
a. Public accessible
b. Not-public accessible
c. Workspace
d. Multi-unit dwelling
5. Number of ports and spaces
6. Itemized project quotes
7. Charging unit information
a. Manufacturer
b. Model
c. Charging capacity in kW
d. Warranty period
8. Identification of any additional rebates, grants, or other financial incentives applied for or
received for project.
9. For MUD applications, proof of Association rules, regulations, or by-laws allowing use of the EV
charging station by all residents.
10. Completed NCDEQ-EV-Level-2-Rebate-Funding-Calculation-Form spreadsheet.
Rebate applications, any required attachments and supporting documentation must be submitted
electronically using our online NCDAQ Grant Management System (GMS) website, at:
https://www.ebs.nc.gov/irj/portal to be considered for funding. Incomplete rebate applications will not
be considered. This rebate application and any supplemental information provided will serve as the
primary means by which all rebate applications are evaluated and approved for rebate vouchers.
Applicants will be awarded rebate vouchers on a first-come first-served basis until funds are exhausted by
county classification. Rebate applications will be reviewed to ensure eligibility requirements are met prior
to rebate voucher approval.
If you have any questions about this rebate application, please contact NCDEQ at
daq.NC_VWGrants@ncdenr.gov with subject title: ZEV Level 2 RFP prior to submitting your rebate
application.

Public data
All rebate applications and associated documentation are public record per North Carolina General
Statutes §132-1, except for “confidential” or “trade secret” data as defined and classified in North
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Carolina General Statutes §66-152(3) and must be indicated as such by the applicant at the time of the
initial rebate application submittal.

VI. Reimbursement Process
Rebates will be disbursed as reimbursements after the work is completed, verified, and approved.
Verification will occur via site visits by NCDEQ staff to document the completed installation. Site visits
by NCDEQ staff is not required within the 180 day voucher period and may occur afterwards. Evidence
of a minimum five-year warranty for the station equipment and service contract will be required prior to
payment disbursements. Requests for reimbursement can occur after each individual station is installed or
after all stations are installed for multi-station projects. After NCDEQ approval of the final
documentation, NCDEQ will process the rebate application for payment. Required documentation:
• A signed payment request, on letterhead, for the amount to be reimbursed (a template will be
provided on the website, https://deq.nc.gov/vw-settlement/forms).
• Copies of detailed invoices of all eligible project costs.
• Proofs of payment of all eligible project costs associated with the project.
• Photos of each installed EVSE unit (one photo of each EVSE unit and one photo of each EVSE
unit’s serial number).
• Certification that the station infrastructure is fully operational
• Proof of charging station equipment warranty and a maintenance plan and
• Payee contact information for payment (form provided).
Rebate applications must be approved by NCDEQ prior to installation of EVSE equipment. Following
NCDEQ approval, the applicant will be issued a rebate voucher that secures the approved rebate amount
for 180 days. Claim requests must be completed (including all required documentation) and submitted by
the awardee in the DAQ Grants Management System within the 180 day rebate voucher time period.
Rebate vouchers expire 180 days from the date the agreement with the awardee and NCDEQ is signed.
Reimbursement requests must be submitted prior to the voucher expiration date. Voucher extensions
will not be granted. Expired unused vouchers will be made available to unfunded eligible rebate
applications in the order the applications are received.
NCDEQ may contact you or your organization for clarification and/or supplemental information to
process a rebate reimbursement request. Please ensure the contact information you provide is accurate.
Applicants will have 10 business days to respond to any such requests.

VII. Reporting Requirements
Final Report Requirements
Voucher recipients are required to submit a final project report to NCDEQ with their claim
reimbursement request. A template for the final project report will be made available on the website,
https://deq.nc.gov/vw-settlement/forms.

Annual Charging Station Utilization Reporting Requirements
All rebate voucher recipients are required to submit EVSE usage data to NCDEQ for the previous 12
months on January 30th of each consecutive year for a five-year period after installation of the charging
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station(s). Annual reports will be submitted to NCDEQ by January 30th each year for five years. Failure to
submit annual reports will result in suspension of rebate reimbursements of open vouchers. Additionally,
acceptance of new applications from the recipient will be suspended if reporting requirements are not met.
Once the rebate voucher recipient corrects the failure to submit reports the suspensions will be lifted.
The usage data submitted to NCDEQ will identify the previous 12 months of EVSE utilization data.
The annual reports must include but is not limited to the following information for each EVSE:
o Location information: site name, EVSE ID number, address, city, zip, county,
o Number of charging events,
o Energy Consumed (average per session and annual total),
o Percent time with EV connected and
o Percent downtime (time when station is unavailable due to routine maintenance or
repair).
The EV Utilization Annual Report template is available on the NC VW Settlement webpage,
https://deq.nc.gov/VWsettlement-Level2-RFP. The report submittal shall be in either CSV or XLS
format. These reports must be uploaded as an attachment in the DAQ Grants Management System for
your application. NCDEQ will notify voucher recipients of changes to the annual report template
submittal process 90 days prior to the required submittal.

VIII. Program Contact Information
Inquiries related to the project requirements, rebate application, rebate application requirements, and other
aspects of this RFP should be directed to: Daq.NC_VWGrants@ncdenr.gov.
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Appendix A: Acronyms and Abbreviations
ADA

Americans with Disabilities Act

GIS

Geographic Information System

EVSE

Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment

FCC

Federal Communications Commission

EMC

Electric Motor Cars

ETL

Electrical Testing Laboratories

EV

Electric Vehicle

IEC

International Electrotechnical Commission

kW

Kilowatt

MUD

Multi-Unit Dwelling

NCDAQ

North Carolina Division of Air Quality

NCDEQ

North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality

NEC

National Electrical Code

NRTL

Nationally Recognized Testing Laboratory

NOx

Oxides of Nitrogen

OSHA

Occupational Safety and Health Administration

RFP

Request for Proposals

SAE

Society of Automotive Engineer

UL

Underwriters Laboratories

USEPA

United States Environmental Protection Agency

VW

Volkswagen

ZEV

Zero-Emissions Vehicle
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Appendix B: Definitions
DC Fast Charging
Direct current charging for electric vehicles allows for higher charging speeds, as DC
current can be supplied directly to the electric vehicle’s battery at power levels normally higher
than AC charging. The higher the DC power supplied, the faster the electric vehicle can be
charged, provided the vehicle is designed to handle such power.
CCS (Combined Charging System)
CCS is a DC fast charging protocol that is SAE certified and featured on vehicles produced
by GM, BMW, Volkswagen Group, Ford, and several other automakers headquartered in
Europe and the United States. The “combined” term designates the CCS capability to
incorporate the Level 2 (J1772 standard) plug and DC fast charging connector into the same
larger plug.
Government
Government shall mean a state, local or federal government agency owning fleets purchased with
government funds (including a school district, municipality, city, county, special district, transit
district, joint powers authority, or port authority), and a tribal government or native village. The
term ‘State’ means the several States, the District of Columbia, and the Commonwealth of Puerto
Rico.
Government may include any of the following entities:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Public school districts,
Municipal governments and municipal authorities,
Other NC state agencies,
Tribal government agencies,
Local, regional, or multi-state air quality or transportation organizations,
Metropolitan or rural planning organizations, as defined by the U.S. Department of
Transportation at 49 U.S.C. §5303(b), located in North Carolina, and

Level 2 Charging
Level 2 charging is a form of AC charging that provides 240V like (an electric dryer or oven
uses). It goes through a box and a cord that improves safety by waiting to send power to the
plug until it is plugged into an EV. Level 2 allows for a wide range of charging speeds, up to
19.2 kW or about 70 miles of range per hour of charging.
MUD

Port

Multi-Unit Dwelling (MUD) is a classification of housing where multiple separate housing
units for residential inhabitants are contained within one building or several buildings within one
complex. This includes, but is not limited to, apartment buildings and condominiums, and
excludes individually owned townhouses, row houses and mobile homes.
The connector at the terminal end of a station’s charging cord.
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Rebate
Funds awarded based on proof of purchase of a specific product or service.
Zero Emission Vehicle (ZEV)
Under Appendix C of the Volkswagen Settlement Consent Decree, the following three
vehicle types are considered Zero Emission Vehicles:
1. An on-road passenger car or light-duty vehicle, light-duty truck, medium-duty
vehicle, or heavy-duty vehicle that produces zero exhaust emissions of all of the
following pollutants: non-methane organic gases, carbon monoxide, particulate
matter, carbon dioxide, methane, formaldehyde, oxides of nitrogen, or nitrous oxide,
including, but not limited to, battery electric vehicles (“BEV”) and fuel cell vehicles
(“FCEV”);
1. An on-road plug-in hybrid electric vehicle (“PHEV”) that is similar to a hybrid but is
equipped with a larger, more advanced battery that allows the vehicle to be plugged in and
recharged in addition to refueling with gasoline. This larger battery allows the car to be
driven on a combination of electric and gasoline fuels or
2. An on-road heavy-duty vehicle with an electric powered takeoff.
ZEVs do not include: zero emission off-road equipment and vehicles; zero emission light rail;
additions to transit bus fleets utilizing existing catenary electric power; or any vehicle not
capable of being licensed for use on public roads.
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MINUTES
COUNCIL DOWNTOWN MASTER PLAN COMMITTEE
Thursday, November 19, 2020 – 4:00 PM
City Hall Council Chambers

Members Present:

Maureen Copelof, Chair, Council Member
Jim Fatland, City Manager (Left at 4:30 PM)
Paul Ray, Planning Director
Nicole Bentley, Heart of Brevard
Melanie Spreen, Heart of Brevard Representative
Dee Dee Perkins, Citizen Member
Susan Threlkel, Council Appointed At-Large Member

Members Absent:

Gary Daniel, Vice Chair, Council Member

Staff Present:

Denise Hodsdon, Executive Assistant
Leigh Huffman, Planner
Aaron Bland, Planner

Guests:

Mark Burrows, Blue Zones Project

A. Welcome & Call to Order
Committee Chair Maureen Copelof welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order
at 4:03 PM.
B. Certification of Quorum
Quorum was certified by Executive Assistant Denise Hodsdon.
C. Approval of Agenda
Motion by Ms. Perkins, seconded by Ms. Spreen to approve the agenda as presented.
The motion carried unanimously.
D. Approval of Minutes of November 5, 2020 Meeting
Motion by Ms. Perkins, seconded by Ms. Bentley to approve the minutes of the
November 5, 2020 meeting as presented. The motion carried unanimously.
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E. Alleyway Plan Update - Guidelines
The second draft of the Public Art Policy was distributed for committee member review
prior to the meeting. Ms. Bentley reported that she and Ms. Perkins have received some
feedback from Leigh Huffman and Ms. Spreen and there is still some work to do on the
policy. She said it would be beneficial if committee members could review and provide
feedback via email rather than trying to gather those comments here.
Leigh Huffman explained that the Planning Department will need to take the sign text
amendment to the Planning Board for recommendation and then it would need to go to
City Council. She said the plan is to take a whole packet including the Public Art Policy,
changing the bylaws to allow this specific type of recommendation, and the sign text
amendment to City Council. The Planning Board will meet on December 15th and the
Planning Department would like to have a finished policy to show them so they
understand why the amendment is being done.
Ms. Copelof asked if we would want to get any input from our local artists. There was
consensus that Ms. Perkins will send the draft policy to Ann DerGara and ask for her
input.
Ms. Spreen asked the committee to give some thought to adding language relating to
historic buildings. Following discussion, it was decided to add that a building on the
National Historic Register would not qualify for a mural. Ms. Perkins and Ms. Bentley
will add that to the draft and they requested any feedback from the committee by
November 25th.
F. Jordan Street Crosswalk Painting Update
Ms. Bentley said Billy Smith feels that his current interpretation is the best method to
make that a creative crosswalk and to utilize the street as is. The question is whether
we can pull this off in cold weather and we may have to push it off until spring. She said
we could do a hot pour and fill in some cracks, but his design actually plays around and
enhances those cracks. Mr. Ray thought we may want to consider filling the cracks if
the design is going to stay there for five years. Following discussion, there was
consensus to do a hot pour on the cracks to get the site as ready as possible for when
Billy is ready to paint. Ms. Bentley will continue to explore with Billy as to how and
when he can do the painting.
G. Downtown Master Plan Budget Update
Mr. Fatland provided the attached updated Downtown Master Plan budget. He noted
that all revenue is now in since City Council did all the transfers, and expenditures to
date total $74,072. Mr. Ray informed the committee that the Clemson Plaza project is
currently out to bid.
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H. Request re Downtown Valet Parking Service
Aaron Bland informed the committee that he has had conversations with someone who
is going start operating a paid parking lot out of the American Legion lot. He also asked
about the possibility of starting a valet parking service downtown on Main Street. He
would need to have access to three contiguous parallel parking spaces on Main Street.
He would be willing to pay a lease fee for those spots during the busiest hours. Mr.
Bland said if the committee is interested in this proposal, the gentleman would like to
come to a meeting to discuss details as to how it would actually function. Following
discussion, it was decided that Ms. Bentley would contact him for more information
about his proposal and decide if it should go further and be added to a future agenda.
I. Brevard Downtown Master Plan and Streetscape Proposal from Domokur
Architects
Motion by Mr. Fatland, seconded by Ms. Bentley to add an item to the agenda regarding
Brevard Downtown Master Plan and Streetscape proposal from Domokur Architects.
The motion carried unanimously. Mr. Fatland noted that when Julie Metz put last year’s
BUILD grant proposal together, she advised that one weakness was that the streetscape
plan that was done several years ago didn’t seem ready for design-build. Following the
decision to hire a consultant to help with updating the Downtown Master Plan, Paul Ray
reached out to Domokur Architects and they have submitted a proposal.
Melanie Spreen explained that the proposal is to look at the Downtown Master Plan
holistically and come up with a more comprehensive plan that encompasses the blocks
of downtown. She said the proposal includes a three-step master planning process:
1) Conceptual Planning; 2) Preliminary Master Planning; and 3) Final Master Plan. She
said they have teamed with a landscape architecture and civil engineering firm that has
done a lot of streetscape designs in Traveler’s Rest and Greenville, SC. They have
focused on projects like this where it is not such a huge plan that you can’t accomplish
without a BUILD Grant. They have developed these in smaller segments and smaller
price-points, and they have the technical expertise to help us make sure we are putting
together a plan that could go to a design-build contractor if we got a grant for all of it, or
it could be that we tackle it in chunks and we work with the City, based on available
funding, to come up with phasing and strategies to incrementally implement that.
Mr. Ray reiterated that even if we did not get the BUILD Grant, we would be able to
tackle some of the things we have talked about like street trees, alleyways, etc. by using
this plan. He said the plan is take a budget to hire Domokur Architects to City Council
on December 7th. Following discussion, Ms. Threlkel moved and Ms. Bentley seconded
to make recommendation to City Council to approve the proposal from Domokur
Architects. The motion carried unanimously.
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MINUTES
COUNCIL FINANCE & HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE
Monday November 30, 2020 – 9:00 AM
City Hall Administrative Conference Room
Members Present: Geraldine Dinkins, Chair, Council Member
Mac Morrow, Vice Chair, Council Member
Jim Fatland, City Manager
Kelley Craig, Human Resources Director
Staff Present:

Tom Whitlock, Deputy Finance Director & Tax Collector
Denise Hodsdon, Executive Assistant

A. Welcome & Call to Order
Committee Chair Geraldine Dinkins called the meeting to order at 9:01 AM.
B. Certification of Quorum
Quorum was certified by Executive Assistant Denise Hodsdon.
C. Approval of Minutes of July 24, 2020 Meeting
Motion by Mr. Morrow, seconded by Mr. Fatland to approve the minutes of the July 24,
2020 meeting as presented. The motion carried unanimously.
D. Audit Report for Year-Ended 6/30/2020
This item was postponed until the next meeting on December 14, 2020.
E. Update City Employee Personnel Manual
Kelley Craig reviewed the proposed amendments to the City’s Personnel Policy and
noted that it has been several years since this was updated. She explained that she had
reached out to the NC League of Municipalities and they don’t have best practices or
sample policies but they did refer her to some that they thought would be good
examples. She has reviewed policies from Transylvania County, City of Gastonia, Town
of Wake Forest and several others to pull together some language that addresses the
changes that we needed. She highlighted some of the more significant changes,
including the following:
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1. Language change from Permanent Employee to Regular Employee;
2. Full-time definition changed to 30 hours based on ACA requirements;
3. Pay Plan relative to reclassification or promotion changed to 5% increase
per pay grade up to a maximum of 15%;
4. Exempt employees:
a. Will receive one week flex time at the beginning of the year and must use
that time before other types of leave, except for sick time;
b. Allowance for overtime or comp time under certain circumstances;
5. Changed Recruitment section to add language under the EEO policy to match
new federal requirements;
6. Probationary period may be shortened for fire and sworn law enforcement
personnel with significant experience and qualifications;
7. Employment of relatives – added language to include “close personal
relationship”;
8. Added a section on inclement weather and emergency closings;
9. Added a Social Media Policy;
10. Updated the Harassment Policy to be more expansive;
11. Updated Workplace Violence section;
12. Employee Benefits:
a. Holiday schedule – updated Christmas holiday schedule to match State
and Transylvania County schedules and gives the manager discretion to
allow the Department Heads to modify the schedule in instances where
that creates an operations issue;
b. Annual Leave Policy – added language to give credit for prior service
with the NC Local Government Employee Retirement System, which will
help with recruitment of individuals from other cities and counties;
c. Updated Leave of Absence Without Pay section to clarify that employees
must use all leave appropriately before they go into a leave without pay
status;
d. Added clarification language to the Shared Leave Policy;
13. Administrative Leave section – added clarification language regarding
disciplinary action;
14. Grievance Policy:
a. Fixed inconsistencies in the number of days for each step and timeline
for all steps is now working days;
b. Limited the grievances that can go to the Personnel Board to involuntary
demotions, suspensions without pay or dismissal. If an employee had a
grievance of another nature, it would stop at the City Manager’s level.
c. Modified the Personnel Board section to mirror what they will hear and
narrowed their scope to strictly be a grievance hearing board. Ms.
Dinkins questioned whether we should narrow the scope of the Board
She feels that the Personnel Board serves as an independent advisory
board and adds credence to the process. Following discussion, there was
consensus to remove the amendments relative to the scope of the
Personnel Board and leave the policy as is.
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MINUTES
COUNCIL DOWNTOWN MASTER PLAN COMMITTEE
Thursday, December 3, 2020 – 9:00 AM
City Hall Council Chambers

Members Present:

Maureen Copelof, Chair, Council Member
Gary Daniel, Vice Chair, Council Member
Jim Fatland, City Manager
Paul Ray, Planning Director
Nicole Bentley, Heart of Brevard (via Zoom)
Melanie Spreen, Heart of Brevard Representative
Susan Threlkel, Council Appointed At-Large Member

Members Absent:

Dee Dee Perkins, Citizen Member

Staff Present:

Denise Hodsdon, Executive Assistant

Guests:

Mark Burrows, Blue Zones Project

A. Welcome & Call to Order
Committee Chair Maureen Copelof welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order
at 9:07 AM.
B. Certification of Quorum
Quorum was certified by Executive Assistant Denise Hodsdon.
C. Approval of Agenda
Motion by Mr. Daniel, seconded by Ms. Spreen to approve the agenda as presented. The
motion carried unanimously.
D. Approval of Minutes of November 19, 2020 Meeting
Motion by Ms. Threlkel, seconded by Mr. Daniel to approve the minutes of the
November 19, 2020 meeting as presented. The motion carried unanimously.
E. Preliminary Wayfinding Discussion
Ms. Threlkel has mapped out a general plan but said she needs to partner with the
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Planning Department to get a more detailed plan. The first thing we need to do is
identify what we need and define what it cost for different sizes, then we bring back the
details and figure out what that budget is. Mr. Fatland said if you could get a plan and
budget together, we could submit an application for a grant from the Tourism Board,
but if we see an immediate need for any signs to go up now, we should identify those
and make it happen. Ms. Copelof asked if we could start making a list of signs that we
need now, like the Depot, Dog Park, and Silversteen Playground. She stressed that we
do want to get it into to Tourism because they have money this year. Ms. Threlkel
suggested breaking it into two phases and add those things that are closer to finished in
the first phase. Ms. Copelof said we ought to have a target to get something into
Tourism by the beginning of February for anything we think we would need in the near
future.
Ms. Copelof reported that Ms. Perkins has talked with Clark Lovelace about submitting
some of our other projects for tourism funding. Mr. Lovelace suggested that the one we
should get in as soon as possible and ask for full funding for is our planter project. He
said they were looking to fund projects that would actually get implemented in the
spring so our planter project would be a perfect candidate. She said Mr. Lovelace also
mentioned submitting our Jordan Street fish crosswalk mural project for funding. Ms.
Bentley will follow up with Mr. Lovelace about that request coming from the Heart of
Brevard.
F. Review Draft Public Art and Mural Policy
Ms. Bentley reported that she and Ms. Perkins have an updated draft but were unable to
get it to the committee in advance. She said they have incorporated most of Planning’s
suggestions, some things from Ms. Spreen, and an additional section that would help
folks who are interested in doing murals by pointing them in the direction of some
funding or grant opportunities. They are still working on the application and what that
process will look like. She will send out what they have now in the next day or so for
comments before the next meeting.
Ms. Copelof informed the committee that there was a Blue Zone Built Environment
meeting yesterday and one of the things Mark Burrows mentioned was that a lot of the
restaurants are asking him about bike racks. She said Frank Porter brought up the fact
that Rockville had made their bike racks like pieces of art and she thought that sounded
like an interesting and fun concept that would fit in with our trying to promote more
public art. If Blue Zone was going to be doing this and funding it, we could incorporate
this in some of our public art for downtown. Mr. Ray asked if something like a bike rack
that is created by an artist would require the permitting process that goes to City
Council? He said one of the questions he has about the Mural/Public Arts Policy is that
it started out as a way of regulating murals on buildings and it has morphed into all of
public art, which is not tightly defined and it is hard to quantify what should go to City
Council. Ms. Threlkel said it needs to be broken down because this policy should hold
the policy for the sculpture as a separate thing, as they have their own set of rules. It
would be its own separate section and has to adhere to the general rules, but just have
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MINUTES
COUNCIL DOWNTOWN MASTER PLAN COMMITTEE
Thursday, December 17, 2020 – 4:00 PM
City Hall Council Chambers

Members Present:

Maureen Copelof, Chair, Council Member
Gary Daniel, Vice Chair, Council Member
Jim Fatland, City Manager
Paul Ray, Planning Director
Melanie Spreen, Heart of Brevard Representative
Dee Dee Perkins, Citizen Member
Susan Threlkel, Council Appointed At-Large Member (via Zoom)

Members Absent:

Nicole Bentley, Heart of Brevard

Staff Present:

Leigh Huffman, Planner
Denise Hodsdon, Executive Assistant

Guests:

Billy Parrish, President, Heart of Brevard

A. Welcome & Call to Order
Committee Chair Maureen Copelof welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order
at 4:02 PM.
B. Certification of Quorum
Quorum was certified by Executive Assistant Denise Hodsdon.
C. Approval of Agenda
Ms. Spreen asked to add an item regarding an update on the Jordan Street dumpster
project and Ms. Copelof asked to add an item regarding prioritizing a list of
maintenance requirements for downtown. Motion by Ms. Perkins, seconded by Mr. Ray
to approve the agenda as amended. The motion carried unanimously.
D. Approval of Minutes of December 3, 2020 Meeting
Motion by Ms. Spreen, seconded by Mr. Daniel to approve the minutes of the December
3, 2020 meeting as presented. The motion carried unanimously.
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E. Review Draft Public Art and Mural Policy
Ms. Copelof noted that the City Council 2003 resolution that created the Public Art
Policy is still in affect although it is out of date and we no longer have a Community
Appearance Commission. She feels that we are getting close to where we need to be
with the draft policy, but we are trying to do two different things. She said we have
done well with creating a policy for murals, but we also started incorporating all other
types of public art, which is already in the 2003 policy. She feels that they need to be
combined so that we have one public art policy that covers murals, statues and all types
of public art. She volunteered to draft a version that combines the 2003 policy into our
draft policy to encompass all public art. She will then give that to Planning to review
and edit before bringing it back to this committee for final review, with the ultimate
goal of sending it to the Planning Board in January.
F. Christmas Decorations
Ms. Copelof reminded everyone that we had talked about Christmas decorations at the
beginning of the year but we were interrupted by Covid and have had so many other
priorities. Although we put $5,000 toward the emergency purchase of new Christmas
lights, we never really addressed the bigger question of a plan for overall Christmas
decorations for downtown. She thought it was time to revitalize this effort and asked
for volunteers to form a Christmas decoration task force. Mr. Fatland, Ms. Bentley and
Ms. Perkins volunteered and Mr. Fatland suggested that Ann Hollingsworth would be an
excellent addition if she would agree. Mr. Fatland suggested that the task force get
together and come up with a budget to bring back to this committee.
G. Jordan Street Dumpsters
Mr. Fatland said that when the committee started talking about in-ground dumpsters,
staff obtained cost estimates to purchase and service the dumpsters. After analyzing
the impact, he felt it should not be an expense of this committee so it will be part of our
general fund sanitation/recycling program. He said we don’t have money in the budget
this year to pull it off. He shared this item with the Finance Committee last week and he
is recommending that we form a sanitation enterprise fund for next year’s budget so we
get the true amount of what it cost to pick up trash and recycle. The Public Works
Committee will be meeting after the first of the year and will be discussing the impact of
this cost as well. Mr. Fatland has met with the Public Works Department and our trucks
can’t pick up in-ground dumpsters so we would have to contract out with Republic. He
added that it would strictly be paying the bills and running the cost through the
sanitation fund so more than likely there would be a rate increase next year, but we
have not raised sanitation rates in the ten years I have been here. It will be a high
priority for the Public Works Department to look at it and bring it to Council for a
budget appropriation for next year. He is recommending that we finance the equipment
cost over a 5-year loan rather than have a huge hit for the general fund.
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Ms. Spreen noted that that puts it at summer at the earliest. Mr. Fatland said if Council
approves the budget in June, since we already have the cost numbers together, we could
hit the ground running on July 1st to make it happen. Mr. Fatland said he knows that it
is a priority for Jordan Street and asked Ms. Perkins if she saw any problem from the
merchants on Jordan Street and around the corner in taking their trash to the Jordan
Street parking lot. Ms. Perkins said she could only speak for herself and it would be
worth having conversations with the other merchants, but she can’t imagine it would be
an issue. She pointed out that Jordan Street Café and Square Root already have a
dumpster over there and the retail merchants would have much smaller amounts of
trash. She doesn’t think they are going to mind walking across the street and putting it
in an area that is meant for garbage when they know it is going to make the street more
aesthetically pleasing.
Mr. Fatland asked what if we were to put regular dumpsters in now as a temporary
solution and get people used to using it? He anticipates that is one of the questions that
may surface from the Public Works Committee…are these merchants going to follow
through and carry their stuff over there? There was considerable discussion about
various options for a temporary solution, ranging from the City taking over the private
dumpster that Jordan Street Café and Square Root are using now, to having all the
merchants take their blue bins and put them in one designated place in the parking lot.
Mr. Ray pointed out if the City were to have a dumpster where the private dumpster is
now, it would get everyone used to throwing their trash into that dumpster and we
would get an idea of the volume and how often it needs to be emptied. Mr. Fatland
added that the cost analysis included two pickups per week by Republic and if it turns
out that we need more than that, he would rather know that information sooner than
later. It was decided that Mr. Fatland will meet with Public Works’ Sanitation
Department for their input and the committee will resume discussion at the second
meeting in January.
H. Maintenance Priority List
Ms. Copelof noted that we had talked about the Heart of Brevard and the City going out
and doing a walk-around downtown and she thinks this would be a good time to do
that. She said this week Ms. Perkins sent her a picture of how she pressure washed the
sidewalk in front of her places which begs the question of the fact that the rest of the
sidewalks need to be pressure washed, which we’ve talked about. In an effort to aid
Public Works in their planning and scheduling their manpower, she feels it would be
helpful for this committee to give Public Works a prioritized list of maintenance items.
She likes the idea we had talked about where we go out as a team and take a look at the
things that need to be done and prioritize these things. Some things like the pressure
washing would be on a regular schedule and we then determine the regular schedule
for that. Other things are maybe one-time repairs or things that we just think need to
be done, such as completion of bricking over the tree wells.
Mr. Parrish said the Heart of Brevard was actually going to bring that to this committee
but he was nervous about asking people to take this on during the holiday season and
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Transylvania County Building Department
City 12/01/2020 thru 12/31/2020
Permits
Issued

Construction
Value

Permit
Fees

Misc. Sales
Fees

Credit Card
Fees

Total of
All Fees

Residential
New House

4

643,000

1,533.00

0.00

500.00

2,033.00

Additions/Alterations

5

156,000

550.00

0.00

625.00

1,175.00

Elec/Plumb/Mech

19

150.00

0.00

1,275.00

1,425.00

3,245.00

0.00

500.00

3,745.00

Mobile Home

Commercial
New Commercial
Additions/Alterations

6

441,500

Elec/Plumb/Mech

7

0.00

0.00

525.00

525.00

1

0.00

0.00

75.00

75.00

HRF/County

0.00

4.00

1.00

5.00

HRF/State

0.00

36.00

9.00

45.00

300.00

0.00

775.00

1,075.00

5,778.00

40.00

4,285.00

10,103.00

Miscellaneous
Signs

Other

Totals:

42

1,240,500

Less HRF Refundable to State:

(45.00)

Less Cancelled Permits:

0.00

Total Fees Collected:

10,058.00

Mike Owen - Building Director

Page 243 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 19, 2021

Transylvania County Building Department
County 12/01/2020 thru 12/31/2020
Permits
Issued

Construction
Value

Permit
Fees

Misc. Sales
Fees

Credit Card
Fees

Total of
All Fees

Residential
New House

12

3,378,624

5,067.00

0.00

3,965.00

9,032.00

Additions/Alterations

31

2,251,865

4,723.00

0.00

4,265.00

8,988.00

Elec/Plumb/Mech

81

150.00

0.00

6,075.00

6,225.00

Mobile Home

4

230,500

475.00

0.00

175.00

650.00

New Commercial

2

200,000

0.00

0.00

1,500.00

1,500.00

Additions/Alterations

4

65,750

300.00

0.00

750.00

1,050.00

Elec/Plumb/Mech

2

125.00

0.00

75.00

200.00

1

75.00

0.00

0.00

75.00

HRF/County

0.00

14.00

15.00

29.00

HRF/State

0.00

126.00

135.00

261.00

1,318.00

0.00

2,004.50

3,322.50

12,233.00

140.00

18,959.50

31,332.50

Commercial

Miscellaneous
Signs

Other

Totals:

137

6,126,739

Less HRF Refundable to State:

(261.00)

Less Cancelled Permits:

0.00

Total Fees Collected:

31,071.50

Mike Owen - Building Director
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Commercial Additions and Alterations
1/1/2016 - 12/31/2020

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2016

4

9

9

7

1

2

4

4

4

6

6

2

2017

5

6

6

7

9

5

2

3

2

2

6

5

2018

5

4

7

5

3

3

2

4

8

3

10

1

2019

5

10

11

3

3

4

6

3

4

4

5

2

2020

3

4

7

4

6

6

3

8

4

3

5

10

Jan $

$369,000

Apr $

$603,900

Jul $ $142,000

Oct $

$190,000

Feb $

$1,088,000

May $

$671,500

Aug $ $981,500

Nov $

$593,881

2016

$22,440,963

Mar $

$185,000

Jun $

$1,864,856

Sep $ $137,000

Dec $

$507,250

2017

$6,026,593

2018

$5,917,874

2019

$9,763,577

2020

$7,333,887
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Commercial Additions and Alterations (Cumulative)
1/1/2016 - 12/31/2020

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2016

4

13

22

29

30

32

36

40

44

50

56

58

2017

5

11

17

24

33

38

40

43

45

47

53

58

2018

5

9

16

21

24

27

29

33

41

44

54

55

2019

5

15

26

29

32

36

42

45

49

53

58

60

2020

3

7

14

18

24

30

33

41

45

48

53

63
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New Commercial Permits
1/1/2016 - 12/31/2020

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2016

0

0

0

0

1

3

1

2

1

5

1

1

2017

2

1

3

1

1

2

0

0

1

4

1

3

2018

0

0

2

0

1

0

0

2

2

1

1

0

2019

1

1

2

1

3

0

3

3

1

2

2

0

2020

2

3

0

2

0

0

1

0

2

2

1

2

Jan $

$280,000

Apr $

$1,524,000

Feb $

$728,050

May $

$0

Mar $

$0

Jun $

$0
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Jul $ $1,153,156

Oct $

$575,000

Aug $ $0

Nov $

$201,464

2016

$11,316,412

Sep $ $5,958,633

Dec $

$200,000

2017

$15,140,266

2018

$13,528,000

2019

$17,850,933

2020

$10,620,303
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New Commercial Permits (Cumulative)
1/1/2016 - 12/31/2020

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2016

0

0

0

0

1

4

5

7

8

13

14

15

2017

2

3

6

7

8

10

10

10

11

15

16

19

2018

0

0

2

2

3

3

3

5

7

8

9

9

2019

1

2

4

5

8

8

11

14

15

17

19

19

2020

2

5

5

7

7

7

8

8

10

12

13

15
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Residential Additions and Alterations
1/1/2016 - 12/31/2020

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2016

18

25

32

26

24

29

22

18

32

24

27

12

2017

25

26

39

27

28

29

23

34

25

33

43

30

2018

29

32

37

37

20

37

28

42

29

44

36

22

2019

46

32

33

25

35

29

32

32

39

42

25

20

2020

32

33

29

26

37

23

36

37

45

50

45

36

Jan $

$2,259,350

Apr $

$2,039,953

Jul $ $4,658,379

Oct $

$3,265,358

Feb $

$1,599,795

May $

$1,803,799

Aug $ $1,835,170

Nov $

$2,881,187

2016

$19,291,660

Mar $

$3,498,992

Jun $

$854,993

Sep $ $4,617,826

Dec $

$2,407,865

2017

$19,560,553

2018

$26,548,888

2019

$21,875,250

2020

$31,722,667
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Residential Additions and Alterations (Cumulative)
1/1/2016 - 12/31/2020

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2016

18

43

75

101

125

154

176

194

226

250

277

289

2017

25

51

90

117

145

174

197

231

256

289

332

362

2018

29

61

98

135

155

192

220

262

291

335

371

393

2019

46

78

111

136

171

200

232

264

303

345

370

390

2020

32

65

94

120

157

180

216

253

298

348

393

429
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Single Family Residential Permits
1/1/2016 - 12/31/2020

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2016

1

9

10

14

7

11

9

10

8

6

10

9

2017

2

13

13

9

6

14

15

8

8

8

7

9

2018

8

18

9

10

12

12

8

10

10

10

7

6

2019

10

5

10

13

15

13

10

8

7

11

10

6

2020

10

6

11

8

9

9

10

8

14

9

7

16

Jan $

$3,631,746

Apr $

$2,859,701

Jul $ $3,617,162

Oct $

$4,465,900

Feb $

$3,983,067

May $

$2,209,043

Aug $ $3,086,297

Nov $

$4,585,375

2016

$39,648,514

Mar $

$3,754,298

Jun $

$4,099,316

Sep $ $5,501,325

Dec $

$4,021,624

2017

$39,911,798

2018

$48,962,587

2019

$55,246,587

2020

$45,814,854
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Single Family Residential Permits (Cumulative)
1/1/2016 - 12/31/2020

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2016

1

10

20

34

41

52

61

71

79

85

95

104

2017

2

15

28

37

43

57

72

80

88

96

103

112

2018

8

26

35

45

57

69

77

87

97

107

114

120

2019

10

15

25

38

53

66

76

84

91

102

112

118

2020

10

16

27

35

44

53

63

71

85

94

101

117
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Single Trade Permits
1/1/2016 - 12/31/2020

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2016

70

69

65

77

88

108

121

96

82

96

65

69

2017

82

62

74

66

78

109

89

98

222

215

102

83

2018

83

65

85

100

114

110

134

111

113

186

127

75

2019

113

102

114

119

137

139

135

123

107

133

96

84

2020

84

89

93

92

80

144

141

131

134

121

88

109

Page 253 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 19, 2021

Page 254 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 19, 2021

Page 255 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 19, 2021

Page 256 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 19, 2021

Page 257 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 19, 2021

STAFF REPORT
January 19, 2021

TITLE: Notice of Hearing to Consider Public Sale of Real Estate for Economic Development
DATE: January 19, 2021
TO:

Mayor and City Council Members

PREPARED BY: Jim Fatland, CPFO, NCCLGFO, City Manager
PRESENTERS: Michael Pratt, City Attorney
Jim Fatland, City Manager
Paul Ray, Planning Director
BACKGROUND: The City Council approved the purchase of the North Broad Street Property
on June 29, 2020. The 3-acre parcel is bounded by East Probart, North Broad and East
Appletree Streets. The purchase price was $1,877,500. The City obtained a $1.3 million loan
from United Community Bank for fifteen (15) years at an excellent interest rate of 1.86%.
Repayment of the loan is from the newly established Parking Fund to account for paid parking
revenue and expenditures.
The City Council approved the purchase of the North Broad Street Property due to its strategic
location in Downtown Brevard. No specific purpose had been identified. However, the City
Council identified the site as a potential courthouse and/or parking deck. Transylvania County
Board of Commissioners have not made a final decision on courthouse location and a decision
is not expected anytime soon.
DISCUSSION:
The City of Brevard has received an offer to purchase the North Broad Street Property. The
City was offered $1,877,500. The City Attorney and City Manager were directed to present
counter offer. Buyer accepted counter offer of $2,450,000.
It was mutually agreed that prior to the conveyance of land the buyer would enter into a
Development Agreement with the seller under the provisions codified in North Carolina
General Statutes. Additionally, a Conditional Zoning District must be created to provide an
effective means for the City to manage the impacts of this type of development, and to ensure
quality urban design and compatibility with the surrounding land uses and neighborhood
character. Lastly, annexation into the Heart of Brevard Municipal Service District was
mutually agreed, but this may occur after closing as a condition of the development
agreement.
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The Downtown Master Plan Committee met on January 7, 2021 and unanimously approved
recommendation to the City Council to sell the North Broad Street Property for the
development of an 80 plus room boutique hotel.
The Courthouse Citizen Committee, a group formed to keep the Courthouse functions in
Downtown Brevard, held a zoom call on January 14, 2021. The group agreed to provide a
letter to the City Council in support of the hotel project. In addition they agreed to stay
committed to support keeping the courthouse functions downtown when the Transylvania
County Board of Commissioners are ready to discuss.
RECOMMENDATION:
1) Close public hearing within 24 hours of January 19, 2021 City Council Meeting for
public comment
2) Continue City Council Meeting to Monday January 25, 2021 at 5:30PM to consider
purchase and sale agreement of North Broad Street Property
3) Authorize staff to develop off street paid parking plan for Downtown Brevard
FISCAL IMPACT:
Sources of Funds
Sale of Property
Total Sources of Funds

$2,450,000
$2,450,000

Uses of Funds
Estimated Payoff UCB loan
Repayment to General Fund (Down Payment)
Proceeds to Parking Fund
Total Uses of Funds
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ORDINANCE NO. 2021-XX
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE SCHEDULE OF TAXES, FEES, AND CHARGES, AND
THE CODE OF ORDINANCES CHAPTERS 42 AND 46
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard Planning Board and Planning Department Staff have
recommended that the Brevard Schedule of Taxes, Fees, and Charges and the City Code of
Ordinances, Chapters 42 and 46, be amended to regulate the usage of sidewalks for
sidewalk dining areas, display of merchandise, and placement of permanent and
semipermanent obstructions.; and,
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard finds that the proposed
amendment is generally consistent with the City of Brevard Comprehensive Plan; and,
WHEREAS, a legislative public hearing was conducted on Tuesday, January 19, 2021,
by Brevard City Council, and, after hearing all persons wishing to comment, and upon
review and consideration of the proposed amendments, it is the desire of the City Council
of the City of Brevard that Brevard City Code of Ordinances be amended as outlined below.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA THAT:
SECTION 01. Brevard City Code of Ordinances, Chapters 42 and 46 are hereby
amended as depicted in Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by
reference.
SECTION 02. Brevard Schedule of Taxes, Fees, and Charges is hereby amended as
depicted in Exhibit B, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.
SECTION 03. As to any conflict between this Ordinance and any parts of existing
ordinances, the provisions of this Ordinance shall control.
SECTION 04. If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or
portion of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of
competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed severable and such holding shall not
affect the validity of the remaining portions hereof.
SECTION 05. This Ordinance shall be in full force and in effect from and after the
date of its adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved upon second reading this the 19th day of January, 2021.

ATTEST:

Jimmy Harris
Mayor

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk
APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Michael K. Pratt
City Attorney
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ORDINANCE NO. 2021-XX
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE
CHAPTER 4 – GENERAL LOT AND STRUCTURE PROVISIONS TO ALLOW PRIVATE
STREETS TO SATISFY ROAD FRONTAGE REQUIREMENTS IN THE GENERAL
RESIDENTIAL 4 ZONING DISTRICT
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard Planning Board has recommended that Brevard City
Code, Unified Development Ordinance, Chapter 4 – General Lot and Structure Provisions be
amended; and,
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard finds that the proposed
amendment is consistent with the following elements of the City of Brevard Comprehensive
Plan:
OBJECTIVE 4.1: Increased efficiency of land uses to help stabilize and grow the City’s
tax base.
POLICY 4.1.A: Evaluate and amend development ordinances to facilitate infill
development on vacant and under-developed parcels, as well as revitalization
of developed parcels.
and,
WHEREAS, a public hearing was conducted on Tuesday, January 19, 2021, by the
Brevard City Council, and, after hearing all persons wishing to comment, and upon review
and consideration of the proposed amendments, it is the desire of the City Council of the
City of Brevard that Brevard City Code, Unified Development Ordinance be amended as
outlined below.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA THAT:
SECTION 01. Brevard City Code, Unified Development Ordinance Chapter 4 is
hereby amended as depicted in Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein
by reference.
SECTION 02. As to any conflict between this Ordinance and any parts of existing
ordinances, the provisions of this Ordinance shall control.
SECTION 03. If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or
portion of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of
competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed severable and such holding shall not
affect the validity of the remaining portions hereof.
SECTION 04. This Ordinance shall be in full force and in effect from and after the
date of its adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved upon first reading this the 19th day of January, 2021.

ATTEST:

Jimmy Harris
Mayor

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk
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APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Michael K. Pratt
City Attorney

Page 262 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 19, 2021

M-4. Ordinance-Proposed Amendments to City of Brevard Code of
Ordinances & UDO, Mainly UDO Chapter 16-Administration.

This item has been cancelled but since we had already advertised, we didn’t take it off of the agenda. It
will be removed at the Council meeting. They are not quite ready to complete this yet.

Page 263 of 269

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 19, 2021

City of Brevard

STAFF REPORT
City Council, January 19, 2021
North Carolina Governor’s Crime Commission Grant Request
The Brevard Police Department seeks safety equipment to provide officers who respond to civil
disorder situations. This equipment includes personal protection gear such as helmets and gas
masks.
Speaker: Chief Phil Harris
From: Brevard Police Department
Prepared By: Chief Phil Harris
Approved By: City Manager Jim Fatland
Background:
Civil unrest has increased over the most recent decade across our nation. Assemblies and civil
unrest require responses from law enforcement, as this is a basic function for all police
departments. Officers must be able to respond to these situations properly equipped for
personal protection in order to sustain a response and protect our citizens and their property.
In a joint effort by the North Carolina Sheriff’s Association and the North Carolina Association of
Chiefs of Police, the state of North Carolina is assembling law enforcement response teams in
all 100 counties to address assemblies that become unlawful. The Brevard Police Department
will use this requested safety equipment to protect our officers in such situations where there
is a potential for violence. As part of a regional team, officers will train with other agencies for
a more uniform and systematic response with an emphasis on de-escalation. The equipment
includes helmets with face shields, gas masks, batons and body shields. The grant will be for
$24,375 with no required cost or matching funds from the City.
Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends accepting this grant.
Fiscal Impact:
There is no fiscal impact, as this is not a matching grant. Clerical and audit responsibilities will
be managed by current police and City staffing.
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-XX
RESOLUTION ACCEPTING GRANTS FROM THE NORTH CAROLINA
GOVERNOR’S CRIME COMMISSIOIN
WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City of Brevard to support the existing Patrol Division
in providing top quality equipment that will improve the safety and response to public safety
needs; and
WHEREAS, the Brevard Police Department wishes to submit a grant application to the
North Carolina Governor’s Crime Commission for funding to purchase the following
equipment:
Description
a. Helmets w/Face Shields
b. Gas Masks
c. Baton 36”
d. Body Shield

Qty

Unit Cost

Total Cash Match

Federal Share

25
25
25
5

$180.00
$720.00
$ 43.00
$160.00

$ 4500
$18,000
$ 1,075
$ 800

$ 4500
$18,000
$ 1,075
$ 800

$0
$0
$0
$0

WHEREAS, the Brevard Police Department would like to obtain this grant from the
North Carolina Governor’s Crime Commission in the amount of $24,375.00; and
WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Brevard City Council to accept the grant from the North
Carolina Governor’s Commission.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA THAT:
Section 1. The City Manager and/or his designee(s) are hereby authorized to officially
accept the grant from the North Carolina Governor’s Crime Commission. There are no
additional costs to the City.
Section 2. The City Manager and/or his designee(s) are hereby authorized to requisition
funds in the course of implementing this grant, if it is so awarded. In accordance with the
regulations of the grant program, two signatures shall be required for any requisition.
Section 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved this 19th day of January, 2021.

Jimmy Harris
Mayor
ATTEST:

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk
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STAFF REPORT
January 19, 2021 Council Meeting

Date:

January 13, 2021

Title:

Board Appointments
Council will consider making reappointments to the Housing Trust Fund Selection
Committee

Prepared By:

Jill Murray, City Clerk

Approved By:

Jim Fatland, Finance Director/City Manager

Background/Discussion:
Housing Trust Fund Selection Committee – Both Gary Daniel and Tommy Kilgore are up for
reappointment to this committee. They both wish to continue to serve. If reappointed, their terms will
expire in January, 2023.
Also, for informational purposes, since Chris Strassner is the now the Chair of the Planning Board, he will
be replacing Jimmy Perkins. Council does not need to vote on this.

Fiscal Impact: None
Policy Impact: None
Staff Recommendation: Council consider the reappointment of Gary Daniel and Tommy Kilgore
to the Housing Trust Fund Selection Committee.
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North Carolina General Statute 143-318.11 Closed Sessions.
(a) Permitted Purposes. – It is the Policy of the State that closed sessions shall be held
only when required to permit a public body to act in the public interest as permitted in
this section. A public body may hold a closed session and exclude the public only when
a closed session is required.
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